# THE ROLE OF CHEMOKINE RECEPTORS CCR6 AND CCR7 IN THE INITIATION AND PROGRESSION OF BREAST CANCER

A thesis submitted by

# Sarah Theresa Boyle, B.Sc. (Hons)

for the fulfilment of the

## **Degree of Doctor of Philosophy**

at the University of Adelaide, South Australia



#### DECLARATION

I, Sarah Theresa Boyle, certify that this work contains no material which has been accepted for the award of any other degree or diploma in my name, in any university or other tertiary institution and, to the best of my knowledge and belief, contains no material previously published or written by another person, except where due reference has been made in the text. In addition, I certify that no part of this work will, in the future, be used in a submission in my name, for any other degree or diploma in any university or other tertiary institution without the prior approval of the University of Adelaide and where applicable, any partner institution responsible for the joint-award of this degree.

I give consent to this copy of my thesis, when deposited in the University Library, being made available for loan and photocopying, subject to the provision of the Copyright Act 1968.

The author acknowledges that copyright of published works contained within this thesis resides with the copyright holders of those works.

I also give permission for the digital version of my thesis to be made available on the web, via the University's digital research repository, the Library Search and also through web search engines, unless permission has been granted by the University to restrict access for a period of time.

Sarah Theresa Boyle, B.Sc. (Hons)

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I read this quote about two years into my Ph.D.: "If at first you don't succeed, try two more times so that your failure is statistically significant." This has certainly rung true more than a few times throughout the last few years. However, every failure has meant that the successes have been even more appreciated and celebrated, and have made me realise that working in research is hard, but when it goes right it's wonderful. There have been a handful of people around me that have made this Ph.D. a great experience, and for that I have to express my utmost gratitude.

First and foremost I have to give a big hug and kiss to Marina. I was doubtful when you tried to convince me that doing a Doctorate was easy; it definitely hasn't been that! But you've helped me through at every hurdle, reassured me when it wasn't going to plan, joined in with me complaining about reviewers, celebrated with me when we got good news or results, and have always championed me to your peers. There's no way I'd be where I am without you.

Secondly, to Shaun, for all your support. Thanks for all your continued reassurances and for offering me a place in your laboratory in the first place. You've been a great "boss" and your door was always open for everything and anything.

Next I would like to say a huge thanks to "mah gurls", Valentina and Jessica. The last few years would not have been the same without you. From dancing in the lab, to churros and cocktails, to FACS puns and biology-themed Christmas carols, you two have kept me sane. Valya, I miss you like crazy (some days more than others), and I hope our paths cross again one day soon. Jess, I don't know how I'm going to cope without you there beside me to always turn to. You are the greatest friend I could ask for in life.

To the other members of the Chemokine Laboratory: Michelle, Carly, Kevin, Ervin, Cameron, Duncan, Zichen, Kerrie, Iain, Adriana, Yuka, Jasmine, Jade and all the others who have come and gone... I am indebted to all of you for making this experience what it was. For all your help,

suggestions, chats, for all the coffees and cakes, and for making me laugh, you will never know how truly grateful I am.

This brings me to my beautiful family. To Aunty Andrea, Uncle Nic, Jemima, Maddy and Grandma, thanks for always showing an interest in my work, for bragging about me, and for just being there. To Lilah, I know you are looking down on me with your beautiful smile. To Lacey, I love you very much, and I'm glad to see you take after your awesome Aunt. To Clare and Matthew, you are both the most amazing people and I am so lucky to be able to call you my sister and brother. No matter what, you can always make me laugh and bring, not just a smile, but a massive grin to my face. Finally, to Mumsie, you are the most incredible woman. I wouldn't be where I am today without you. Thank you, all of you, from the bottom of my heart, for your unwavering and never-ending support.

Last, but definitely not least, Daniel. Not everyone would risk moving in with someone committing to another three-to-four years of being a student! Thank you, thank you, thank you. For believing in me, for supporting me (in more ways than one), for listening to me even when you had no idea what I was talking about, and for encouraging me to follow my dreams. I love you, and I hope I've made you proud of me.

For whatever life holds for me from now on, I am forever grateful for all the love and support given to me throughout this journey. It will never be forgotten.

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

DECLARA	ГІОNii
ACKNOWL	EDGEMENTSiii
LIST OF FI	GURES AND TABLES
ABBREVIA	TIONS AND DEFINITIONSxi
PUBLICAT	IONS ARISING FROM THIS THESIS xiii
CONFEREN	NCE PROCEEDINGS ARISING FROM THIS THESIS xiv
ABSTRACT	۲xv
CHAPTER	1: Introduction1
1.1. Bre	ast cancer
1.1.1. cancer	Normal mammary homeostasis and how it may contribute to the development of breast
1.1.2.	A brief overview of breast cancer development and progression
1.1.3.	New concepts in research
1.2. Ad	ult stem cells and cancer stem cells in the breast8
1.2.1.	Properties of adult stem cells
1.2.2.	The cancer cell-of-origin
1.2.3.	Characterisation and identification of cancer stem cells10
1.2.4.	Clinical implications of cancer stem cells
1.3. The	e immune system and breast cancer14
1.3.1.	The adaptive immune system in breast cancer14
1.3.2.	Tumour-associated macrophages15
1.3.3.	Immune selection and tolerance of breast cancer stem cells16
1.3.4.	Chemokine receptors in cancer
1.3.5.	Chemokine receptors and cancer stem cells
1.4. The	e research project
1.4.1.	Project rationale
1.4.2.	Hypothesis and Aims
1.4.2.1.	Hypothesis
1.4.2.2.	Aims24
1.4.3.	Summary of findings25
CHAPTER	2: Materials and Methods35
2.1. Mo	dels and materials
2.1.1.	Mice
2.1.2.	Human mammary tissue

2.1.3.	Basic solutions	36
2.1.4.	Carmine alum	37
2.1.5.	Formaldehyde	37
2.1.6.	Mouse mammary tissue digestion medium	37
2.1.7.	Human mammary tissue digestion medium	37
2.1.8.	Mouse red cell removal buffer (MRCRB)	38
2.1.9.	Complete sphere medium	38
2.2. <i>Ex</i>	<i>vivo</i> methods	38
2.2.1.	Extraction of mammary cells	38
2.2.2.	Haematopoietic lineage depletion by magnetic separation	39
2.2.3.	Flow cytometry and fluorescence-activated cell sorting (FACS)	39
2.2.4.	Mammosphere assay	40
2.2.5.	Histology	40
2.2.6.	Immunofluorescent staining	41
2.2.7.	Immunohistochemical staining	41
2.2.8.	Mammary gland whole mounting, image-stitching and quantification	42
2.2.9.	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA)	42
2.2.10.	Calcium signalling analysis	43
2.2.11.	XTT proliferation assay	43
2.3. In v	vivo methods	44
2.3.1.	Tumourigenesis studies	44
2.3.2.	Tissue transplants	44
2.3.3.	Limiting dilution assay	44
2.3.4.	Macrophage reconstitution assay	45
2.3.5.	Antagonist studies	45
2.4. Sta	tistics and graphing	45
CHAPTER	3: The Chemokine Receptor CCR7 Promotes Mammary Tumourigenesis Through	
Amplificatio	on of Stem-Like Cells	53
3.1. Intr	roduction	54
3.2. Res	sults	55
3.2.1. C	CR7 deletion arrests mammary tumourigenesis in the PyMT transgenic breast cancer mou	ise
model .		55
3.2.2. C	CR / promotes tumourigenesis by amplifying breast cancer stem-like cells	57
3.2.3. C	CK / is required for the propagation of mammary tumours	60
3.2.4. P mammary	nysical antagonism of CCK / in vivo depletes the stem-like cell population and inhibits / tumourigenesis	60

3.3. Summary
CHAPTER 4: The Chemokine Receptor CCR6 Facilitates the Onset of Mammary Neoplasia in the
MMTV-PyMT Mouse Model via Recruitment of Tumour-Promoting Macrophages95
4.1. Introduction
4.2. Results
4.2.1. CCR6 expression increases throughout cancer development and results in a higher number of mammary tumours
4.2.2. CCR6 deletion significantly delays tumour initiation <i>in vivo</i> 99
4.2.3. CCR6 promotes mammary gland neoplasia independently of cancer epithelial cells or stem- like cells
4.2.4. CCR6 mediates the recruitment of pro-tumourigenic macrophages to the mammary tumour microenvironment
4.2.5. CCR6-mediated pro-tumourigenic macrophages promote breast cancer in vivo103
4.3. Summary105
CHAPTER 5: Discussion
5.1. Introduction
5.2. The role of CCR7 in breast cancer progression
5.3. The role of CCR6 in breast cancer progression
5.4. Implications of this study
5.5. Clinical predictions and future work
5.6. Conclusion
APPENDICES A
REFERENCES A

### LIST OF FIGURES AND TABLES

- Figure 1.1 New concepts in breast cancer research and avenues of possible therapeutic targeting.
- Figure 1.2 The Cancer Stem Cell Model, mammary cell hierarchy and proposed breast tumour cellsof-origin.
- Figure 1.3 Maintenance of breast cancer stem cells by immune cells and immune modulators within the immuniche.
- Table 1.1Chemokine receptors in cancer.
- Table 1.2Chemokine receptors in stem cell biology.
- Figure 2.1 Murine breeding strategy for this study.
- Figure 2.2 Tissue transplant procedure.
- Figure 2.3 Procedure of the limiting dilution assay.
- Figure 2.4 Procedure of the macrophage reconstitution assay.
- Figure 2.5 Strategy used for antagonist studies.
- Table 2Antibodies used in this study.
- Figure 3.1 Tumour progression in the MMTV-PyMT breast cancer mouse model.
- Figure 3.2 CCR7 ablation delays tumour onset and reduces tumour burden in the MMTV-PyMTdriven mouse model of breast cancer.
- Figure 3.3 CCR7-null MMTV-PyMT mice develop less lung metastasis.
- Figure 3.4 CCR7 is expressed throughout mammary gland development and cancer.
- Figure 3.5 The expression of ligands CCL19 and CCL21 is not affected by CCR7 deletion.
- Figure 3.6 CCR7 is active in MMTV-PyMT tumour cells.
- Figure 3.7 Ablation of CCR7 has no effect on early mammary hyperplasia in MMTV-PyMT mice.
- Figure 3.8 CCR7 deletion has an inhibitory effect on growth of pubertal mammary glands.
- Figure 3.9 CCR7 is robustly expressed in normal mammary epithelium.
- Figure 3.10 The effect of CCR7 on normal mammary development is not present in the adult mammary gland.
- Figure 3.11 CCR7 expression in mammary cell lineages as defined by CD24 and CD29.
- Figure 3.12 CCR7 expression in normal and cancerous human breast cells as defined by CD44 and CD24.
- Figure 3.13 CCR7 deletion decreases the mammary stem cell-enriched pool as defined by CD24<sup>+</sup>CD29<sup>hi</sup> expression.
- Figure 3.14 CCR7 expression in the CD49f<sup>+</sup>DLL1<sup>+</sup>DNER<sup>+</sup> cancer stem cell-enriched population.
- Figure 3.15 CCR7 deletion decreases the mammary stem cell-enriched pool as defined by CD49f<sup>+</sup>DLL1<sup>+</sup>DNER<sup>+</sup>.
- Figure 3.16 Self-renewal in normal and PyMT-expressing mouse mammary cells is regulated by CCR7.

- Figure 3.17 The effect of CCR7 in culture is specific to non-adherent conditions.
- Figure 3.18 The potentiation of mammosphere formation is mediated by CCR7.
- Figure 3.19 The effect on mammosphere formation by stimulation with various chemokines.
- Figure 3.20 Self-renewal in human breast cancer cells is regulated by CCR7.
- Figure 3.21 The loss of CCR7 reduces the size of secondary lesions upon transplantation, regardless of cell concentration.
- Figure 3.22 Representative H&E-stained sections from mice of transplant donor age.
- Figure 3.23 CCR7 is required for the propagation of mammary tumours.
- Figure 3.24 Addition of a CCR7 antagonist inhibits CCR7-mediated mammosphere formation.
- Figure 3.25 Administration of a CCR7 antagonist reduces tumourigenesis in the MMTV-PyMT mouse model.
- Figure 3.26 Administration of a CCR7 antagonist to PyMT-expressing mammary glands decreases the proportions and activity of stem-like cells.
- Figure 3.27 Blocking CCR7 function in PyMT-expressing mammary glands with a peptide antagonist does not affect expression of the receptor.
- Figure 3.28 The results of CCR7 antagonism in a mammary tumour transplant model.
- Figure 3.29 Administration of a CCR7 antagonist decreases the mammary stem cell-enriched pool and self-renewal in a transplant model.
- Table 3The presence of CCR7 in MMTV-PyMT mammosphere cells maintains the frequency of<br/>tumour-initiating cells.
- Figure 4.1 CCR6 expression increases throughout progression of mammary cancer.
- Figure 4.2 The ligand for CCR6, CCL20, is expressed in both normal and cancerous mammary glands.
- Figure 4.3 CCR6 deletion reduces mammary tumourigenesis.
- Figure 4.4 CCR6 deletion significantly delays tumour initiation *in vivo*.
- Figure 4.5 The role of CCR6 in normal mammary development.
- Figure 4.6 Stimulation of CCR6 does not affect proliferation of epithelial tumour cells.
- Figure 4.7 CCR6 deletion does not affect proliferation in the mammary gland as assessed by Ki67 staining.
- Figure 4.8 CCR6 deletion does not impact upon the mammary cell hierarchy.
- Figure 4.9 The CCR6 receptor does not influence self-renewal of cancer stem-like cells.
- Figure 4.10 CCR6 in donor epithelium does not promote mammary tumour propagation.
- Figure 4.11 Analysis of tumour-associated macrophage phenotype in MMTV-PyMT mammary tumours.
- Figure 4.12 CCR6 expression in macrophage populations in MMTV-PyMT tumours.
- Figure 4.13 CCR6 deletion reduces the numbers and proportions of tumour-associated macrophages in mouse mammary cancer.

- Figure 4.14 CCR6 mediates the recruitment of pro-tumourigenic macrophages to the mammary tumour microenvironment.
- Figure 4.15 CCR6 expression and effect of CCR6 deletion on tumour-infiltrating dendritic cells.
- Figure 4.16 CCR6 expression and effect of CCR6 deletion on tumour-infiltrating B cells.
- Figure 4.17 CCR6 expression and effect of CCR6 deletion on tumour-infiltrating T cells.
- Figure 4.18 CCR6 expression and effect of CCR6 deletion on tumour-infiltrating helper T cells.
- Figure 4.19 CCR6 expression and effect of CCR6 deletion on tumour-infiltrating cytotoxic T cells.
- Figure 4.20 CCR6 expression and effect of CCR6 deletion on tumour-infiltrating regulatory T cells.
- Figure 4.21 Experimental setup of the macrophage reconstitution assay.
- Figure 4.22 CCR6-mediated pro-tumourigenic macrophages promote mammary cancer progression.
- Figure 4.23 CCR6-mediated pro-tumourigenic macrophages promote mammary cancer growth.
- Figure 4.24 Assessment of tumour-associated macrophages in macrophage reconstitution recipients.

### **ABBREVIATIONS AND DEFINITIONS**

BSA	Bovine serum albumin
CCL	CC-motif chemokine ligand
CCR	CC-motif chemokine receptor
CD	Cluster of Differentiation
CD206	Mannose receptor
CD45	Leukocyte common antigen
CSC	Cancer stem cell
CXCL	CXC-motif chemokine ligand
CXCR	CXC-motif chemokine receptor
DLL1	Delta-like ligand 1
DMEM	Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium
DNER	Delta and Notch-like epidermal growth factor-related receptor
EGF	Epidermal growth factor
EpCAM	Epithelial cell adhesion marker
FACS	Fluorescence-activated cell sorting
FCS	Foetal calf serum
FFPE	Formalin-fixed paraffin-embedded
FGF	Fibroblast growth factor
FMO	Fluorescence-minus-one
GPCR	G-protein coupled receptor
H&E	Haematoxylin and eosin
HBSS	Hank's balanced salt solution
IF	Immunofluorescence/immunofluorescent
IHC	Immunohistochemistry/immunohistochemical
IL-4R	Interleukin-4 receptor
Lin⁻	Lineage-negative
LN	Lymph node
M1	Classically-activated macrophage
M2	Alternatively-activated macrophage
MFE	Mammosphere-forming efficiency
MMTV	Mouse mammary tumour virus
NS	Not significant
OCT	Optimal cutting temperature (embedding medium)

PBS	Phosphate buffered saline
PyMT	Polyoma Middle T antigen
SEM	Standard error of the mean
SMA	Smooth muscle actin
TAM	Tumour-associated macrophage
Tc	Cytotoxic T cell
Th	Helper T cell
TIC	Tumour-initiating cell
Treg	Regulatory T cell
WT	Wild-type

#### PUBLICATIONS ARISING FROM THIS THESIS

Sarah T. Boyle and Marina Kochetkova. "Breast cancer stem cells and the immune system: Promotion, evasion and therapy" *Journal of Mammary Gland Biology and Neoplasia*, Vol. 19:2, pp 203-211, 06 July 2014 (**Appendix A**)

Sarah T. Boyle, Wendy V. Ingman, Valentina Poltavets, Jessica W. Faulkner, Robert J. Whitfield, Shaun R. McColl, Marina Kochetkova. "The chemokine receptor CCR7 promotes mammary tumourigenesis through amplification of stem-like cells" *Oncogene*, advance online publication, 16 March 2015 (**Appendix B**)

Sarah T. Boyle, Jessica W. Faulkner, Shaun R. McColl, Marina Kochetkova. "The chemokine receptor CCR6 facilitates the onset of mammary neoplasia in the MMTV-PyMT mouse model via recruitment of tumour-promoting macrophages" *Molecular Cancer*, Vol. 14:115, 06 June 2015 (**Appendix C**)

#### **Please Note:**

- Results Chapters 3 and 4, and the relevant discussion sections in Chapter 5, are taken from the articles in **Appendices B** and **C**.
- Please refer to **Appendices B** and **C** for the Materials and Methods, Figure layouts and article citations specific to each published manuscript.

#### **CONFERENCE PROCEEDINGS ARISING FROM THIS THESIS**

Oral and poster presentation at the Mammary Gland Biology Gordon Research Seminar *Branching Toward New Horizons in Development and Disease*: Lucca, Italy, 2014

Poster presentation at the Mammary Gland Biology Gordon Research Conference *Molecular and Cellular Basis of Breast Development and Cancer Progression*: Lucca, Italy, 2014

Invited seminar speaker at Institut d'Investigació Biomèdica de Bellvitge (IDIBELL): Barcelona, Spain, 2014

Poster presentation at the International Association for Breast Cancer Research (IABCR) Conference *Understanding and Exploiting Tumour Heterogeneity*: Sydney, Australia, 2014

Poster presentation at the Abcam Conference *Stem Cells and Cancer*: Melbourne, Australia, 2013

Oral presentations at the University of Adelaide School of Biological Sciences Post-Graduate Symposium: Adelaide, Australia, 2013 and 2014

Poster presentation at the University of Adelaide School of Biological Sciences Research Symposium: Adelaide, Australia, 2013

Oral presentation at the South Australian Breast Cancer Research Group (SABCRG) Research Showcase: Adelaide, Australia, 2012

Oral presentation at the Australian Society for Medical Research (ASMR) Annual Scientific Meeting: Adelaide, Australia, 2012

#### ABSTRACT

Breast cancer is one of the most common causes of cancer-related death in women world-wide. Despite many advances in medical research, incidence and mortality rates still remain high. In the last decade, evidence has emerged that links components of the immune system, including various signalling mediators and cell subsets, with regulation and promotion of breast cancer. Among others, the chemokine superfamily has been heavily implicated in the pathobiology of breast cancer due to their ability to induce cellular migration, proliferation and recruitment of supporting cells to the tumour microenvironment upon binding of cognate chemokine receptors. However, the underlying mechanisms and specific details governing the function of chemokines and their receptors in regulating breast cancer development and progression are largely unknown. This study systematically examined the roles of two chemokine receptors, CCR7 and CCR6, in breast cancer initiation and progression. These receptors had previously been shown to induce cellular proliferation and migration of breast cancer cell lines upon stimulation with chemokine ligands and had been implicated in regulation of other malignancies, but *in vivo* evidence for their roles had not been shown to date.

Using the MMTV-PyMT transgenic mouse model for breast cancer, it was found that deletion of CCR7 significantly delayed mammary tumour onset and reduced both the number of primary tumours and extent of distal metastasis to the lungs. It was further found that CCR7 exerted its tumour-promoting function by maintaining populations of stem-like cancer cells. Stimulation of CCR7 in stem cell-enriched cultures induced self-renewal and the loss of this receptor resulted in a significant decrease in tumour-propagating ability of the cells. Furthermore, pharmacological blockade of CCR7 reduced proportions and activity of stem cell-like pools, indicating that this receptor can potentially be targeted therapeutically to eliminate quiescent cancer stem cells.

Deletion of CCR6 in the MMTV-PyMT model also significantly delayed tumour onset, reduced the extent of epithelial hyperplasia, and resulted in a decreased incidence of mammary tumours. However, no evidence was found of a role for CCR6 in mammary epithelium, or in maintenance of the cell lineage hierarchy. Upon further investigation, it was discovered that CCR6 was involved in the recruitment of tumour-promoting macrophages to the mammary tumour microenvironment. CCR6 was highly expressed on tumour-associated macrophages, and the loss of CCR6 significantly reduced the numbers of macrophages present in PyMT-driven mammary tumours.

Taken together, cumulative data generated throughout the course of this project conclusively demonstrate that CCR7 and CCR6 both have important roles in the development and progression of breast cancer and may therefore have therapeutic utility in targeting both the transformed mammary epithelium and the supporting tumour microenvironment.

# **CHAPTER 1: Introduction**

#### **1.1. Breast cancer**

Breast cancer is the most diagnosed cancer in women world-wide. Of cancer cases in women, it is also the biggest killer [1]. Overwhelmingly, the primary lesion is not responsible for death due to cancer, rather it is the progression to metastasis that is fatal. Once the cancer has spread to surrounding tissues, such as the lymph nodes, the lungs, the brain and the bone, there is no reliable or effective form of treatment [2]. Despite significant advances in medical research, the morbidity related to breast cancer is still high, and new therapeutical targets are needed to inhibit the progression of breast cancer in the early stages, before multiple mutations have occurred and the disease becomes invasive.

#### 1.1.1. Normal mammary homeostasis and how it may contribute to the

#### development of breast cancer

As with any neoplasm, it is necessary to understand the normal homeostatic processes in order to comprehend how cancer develops. Rudimentary mammary epithelium is formed embryonically in both mice and humans, and foetal mammary stem cells have been shown to possess a similar genetic signature to specific breast cancers, including the aggressive basal-like and Her2-enriched subtypes (discussed in more detail below) [3]. Furthermore, in a recent study, tumour cells from breast cancer patients that had been treated with various chemotherapy regimens were compared with normal and foetal mammary stem cells, and it was found that gene expression signatures of normal mammary stem cells could predict the response of tumour cells to chemotherapy [4]. As such, there is value in examining breast cancer from the perspective of developmental biology.

The mammary gland is an unusual organ – the majority of its development occurs post-natally. During puberty, hormonal changes trigger the rapid expansion of breast epithelial cells and subsequent branching morphogenesis. An epithelial "tree" then grows out from the nipple to form the adult ductal structure [5]. This process is largely driven by fibroblast growth factor

(FGF), epidermal growth factor (EGF), transforming growth factor (TGF)- $\beta$ , and Jak-Stat signalling pathways, among others [6-9].

The ends of each duct are termed terminal ductal lobular units (human), or terminal end buds (mouse). These structures split as the epithelium grows, to form a dense network of ducts [10]. The ducts are lined internally by luminal cells, and externally by basal cells, the two major cell lineages within the mammary gland [11]. A complex stroma surrounds the ductal network, which is comprised mostly of adipose and connective tissue but also includes tissue-resident immune cells and fibroblasts [12]. The extracellular matrix and surrounding stroma, which is vital to proper development of the mammary gland, can also promote breast cancer due to intrinsic and extrinsic factors [13].

The first menstrual cycle in humans, known as menarche, typically occurs at around 8.5 to 13 years old, and with each cycle the mammary epithelial cell population expands and contracts. During pregnancy, the mammary gland is significantly remodelled, with the expansion of alveolar lobules capable of lactation. When lactation stops, the mammary gland undergoes involution over the course of three months, with apoptosis of alveolar cells and atrophy of lobules. This is the general homeostatic process until the event of menopause, the cessation of menstrual cycling, at the approximate age of 51 [5, 14-16]. Whilst the risk of contracting breast cancer increases significantly based on family history, consumption of alcohol, radiation exposure, use of hormone therapy or oral contraceptives, and a sedentary lifestyle, each of these normal stages in a woman's lifetime – menstruation, pregnancy, and menopause – can alone contain risk factors for breast cancer including early menarche age, late first birth age, and late menopause age [17].

As such, normal mammary development and the development of breast cancer are closely linked. Many signalling pathways involved in normal tissue homeostasis and maintenance within the breast are also involved in tumour formation [18], and signalling components that control other

normal processes – in particular those that limit growth and regulate cell death – can be damaged through mutations, which eventually can lead to onset of cancer [19, 20].

#### 1.1.2. A brief overview of breast cancer development and progression

Malignancies in the breast often begin from uncontrolled proliferation due to mutations in key signalling and regulatory pathways, including (but not limited to) Wnt [21], hedgehog [22], Notch [23], phosphoinositide3-kinase (PI3K) [24], Jak/Stat [25] and NF-κB together with RANK and RANKL pathways [26]. If the lesion is detected early, the patient's chance of survival is relatively high. However, if left untreated, the small lesion may rapidly proliferate to form a primary tumour mass. As the primary tumour progresses, it hijacks the body's homeostatic functions. It forms its own blood vessels and corrupts the normal processes of cellular proliferation and DNA repair. Furthermore, cancer cells are capable of evading the host's immune defences, and even using them to their advantage [27].

There are five main subtypes of breast cancer, clearly defined by a distinct genetic and morphological profile: luminal A, luminal B, basal, human EGF receptor 2 (Her2)-enriched, and claudin-low. Luminal cancers (luminal A and B) are the most heterogenous, and express high levels of luminal-associated genes such as *Esr1*, *Gata3*, *Foxa1*, *Xbp1* and *Myb*. These cancers are typically oestrogen receptor (ER)-positive and Her2-negative, and present with mutations in the MAP-kinase and PI3K pathways. Luminal A tumours, due to the low proliferation rate, generally have the best prognosis for breast cancer patients [19].

The basal-like subtype is the most aggressive subtype and is predominantly negative for ER, progesterone receptor (PR), and Her2, collectively known as triple-negative breast cancer. These cancers are characterised by a high mutation rate in the TP53 and PI3K pathways, and a loss of *Rb1* and *Brca1/2* [19].

Her2 amplification in breast cancer results in a shorter overall survival and time to relapse in patients compared to those without Her2 overexpression. Upon receptor activation, the EGF-4

mediated signalling cascade results in expression of genes that promote tumour growth and cell survival. Treatment of patients with trastuzumab (also known as Herceptin) specifically targets the Her2 receptor, and this therapeutic has been used relatively successfully as an adjuvant for Her2-positive cancers over the last couple of decades [28].

Claudin-low tumours have been classified as the most "stem-like" of breast cancers. They typically express high levels of markers associated with an epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition (EMT) and have low expression of proliferation genes and markers. As such, cells of these tumours are slow-cycling, a characteristic of stemness, and the low expression of adherence genes (claudins) suggests that these cancer cells are better adapted to non-adherent survival. Furthermore, the expression of stem cell-related surface markers (discussed in more detail below) and genes is higher in these tumour cells compared to cells from other tumour subtypes. A claudin-low diagnosis has a worse prognosis than luminal A, but has similar survival prognoses to luminal B, Her2-enriched and basal-like cancers. [29].

Even from an early stage, some cells that are capable of metastasis are believed to exist within the tumour [30]. Cells that have metastatic characteristics are able to extravasate into the surrounding vascular network and circulate throughout the body until they home to a suitable secondary site. Primary breast cancer cells typically metastasise to sites such as the lymph nodes, lungs, bone marrow, brain and liver [31], and the metastases formed are molecularly distinct from the primary tumours, possessing a genetic "metastatic signature" [32]. Very few drugs to target breast cancer metastatic disease exist [33], and it is a difficult area to research due to the lack of suitable *in vivo* models that accurately mimic human disease [34]. Thus, treating breast cancer at the early stages is preferable and has a greater chance of a positive clinical outcome.

#### **1.1.3.** New concepts in research

Recently, the focus of research in the field of breast cancer has somewhat shifted. As the bulk tumour mass can often be resected quite successfully, more attention has been given to

discovering other factors that are involved in tumour promotion and are necessary for cancer recurrence and spread. Based on these new concepts in research, there are now a variety of new possible therapeutic targets that have been proposed to treat breast cancer at various stages in its progression (outlined in *Figure 1.1*), although no clinical results are available as yet [33].

The tumour is not a lone entity; whether it is the primary site or a secondary metastasis, it requires a number of other supporting untransformed cells and signalling factors if it is to survive. This includes resident cells such as fibroblasts, and certain immune cells that are recruited to the tumour microenvironment.

Cancer-associated fibroblasts (CAFs) (including myofibroblasts, mesenchymal stem cells, tissue fibroblasts and adipocytes) can be involved in many aspects of tumour progression including proliferation, angiogenesis, metastasis, and resistance to cell death. CAFs can secrete a range of factors, including growth factors, cytokines and chemokines that can drive cellular growth and induction of EMT, pro-inflammatory mediators that can activate and recruit various immune cells, and angiogenic factors. Mesenchymal stem cells are able to differentiate into myofibroblasts or adipocytes, aiding tumour growth. Most importantly, CAF numbers within the tumour correlate with poor prognosis for multiple malignancies, including breast cancer [35]. Interestingly, some findings suggest that CAFs in the tumour microenvironment may also be important for maintenance of breast cancer stem cells (discussed in detail below). Breast cancer cells co-cultured with CAFs that secrete chemokines CXCL12 and/or CCL2 had greater stem-like characteristics and higher proportions of putative cancer stem cells [36, 37]. Through remodelling of the extracellular matrix, CAFs can also enhance cancer cell survival and their ability to invade [38] through a collective invasion mechanism [39], generating circulating tumour cells.

New techniques have allowed the study of these disseminated circulating tumour cells (CTCs), which have recently been equated to cancer stem cells [40]. High numbers of CTCs in patient

blood samples correlate with increased metastasis, aggressive disease, and shorter relapse-free survival times. It has been proposed therefore that CTC levels should be used as an additional biomarker to standard biopsy procedures, due to the non-invasive nature of blood tests. However, CTCs are rare, and due to their propensity to circulate in clusters they are often trapped within small capillaries. Hence, their detection at present remains difficult, despite the clear clinical benefits of early intervention to impede metastasis [33, 41].

As with the primary site, the pre-metastatic niche is prepared for seeding of circulating tumour cells by a number of factors. Tumour-secreted factors from the primary site - including various growth factors, chemokines, tumour necrosis factor- $\alpha$ , hypoxia-inducible factors and granulocyte colony-stimulating factor - recruit bone marrow-derived cells and immunosuppressive cells to secondary organs, and remodel the site to promote cancer cell adhesion and invasion, hence creating microenvironments suitable for colonisation by metastatic tumour cells. Whilst it is possible that the formation of pre-metastatic niches is not essential for metastatic colonisation, it is thought to greatly enhance the chance of secondary disease occurring [42, 43]. Therefore, disruption of the metastatic niche is a potential therapeutic avenue. So-called cancer stem cells, discussed below, are the likely candidates for the preparation of the metastatic site, due to their increased expression of surface receptors involved in migration and their ability to propagate tumours in secondary sites [44].

The concept of a "cancer stem cell" (CSC) was first proposed by John Dick and colleagues, who found that in acute myeloid leukaemia there was a small subset of stem-like cells that possessed the capacity to differentiate and proliferate, and had the potential for self-renewal that was expected of a leukaemic stem cell [45]. This theory has been investigated in great detail in the last decade, in many different types of cancers. It states that a small subpopulation of cells exist within the tumour that is responsible for its maintenance and growth, termed "stem cells" for their stem-like characteristics [46]. The tumour microenvironment is believed to be responsible

for maintenance of not only the bulk tumour mass but also the CSCs [47], and so specifically targeting both the stem cells and the supporting niche simultaneously is a potentially new therapeutic approach to prevent breast cancer relapse. Despite this, the underlying biochemical pathways and cellular interactions within this biological system are currently largely unknown.

#### 1.2. Adult stem cells and cancer stem cells in the breast

#### **1.2.1.** Properties of adult stem cells

Somatic adult stem cells reside in all tissues, and are formed from embryonic precursors during foetal development. However, unlike pluripotent embryonic stem cells that are capable of forming any cell in the body, adult tissue stem cells are generally only multipotent – they are only able to form any cell in that specific tissue. This stem cell property of differentiation is usually only employed in cases of tissue damage and repair, and stem cells are mostly quiescent in solid tissues [48]. Tissue-resident stem cells are capable of asymmetric division, similar to embryonic stem cells. Whilst terminally differentiated cells can produce two identical daughter cells, stem cells can give rise to one transit-amplifying cell (as required) and can also self-renew to form another stem cell, to maintain the pool within the tissue [49].

These stem-like properties – self-renewal, quiescence and the ability to differentiate into multiple lineages – are also the hallmarks of so-called cancer stem cells, hence the name.

#### **1.2.2.** The cancer cell-of-origin

As mentioned above, cancer stem cells are believed to be responsible for initiation, growth, maintenance and metastasis of the tumour [46, 50]. Currently however, it is unknown whether CSCs are a separate, fixed population of cells, or whether this pool of cells is in fact plastic, and any cell within a tumour can acquire stem-like characteristics depending on the circumstances [51]. Stem cells that are identified in various assays may not include those with latent regenerative capacity [52]. This is important to keep in mind when designing therapeutics that target CSCs, if new cells can easily take the place of destroyed CSCs. It is also important to note 8

that not all cancers may follow the stem cell model, and in breast cancer, various mutations may give rise to tumours that vary in the extent to which they follow this model [53].

Kordon and Smith first proposed a stem cell model in the mammary gland in 1998, following a series of transplantation experiments [54]. It is now understood that normal adult stem cells or bipotent progenitors that reside within epithelial ducts [55] differentiate into two cell lineages, the luminal population and the basal/myoepithelial cell population [11]. Within this hierarchy, it is still not clear from where cancer stem-like cells arise. The current consensus is that CSCs may result from mutations in normal adult stem cells and/or that more differentiated cells may be able to acquire stem-like characteristics upon mutation, and upon transplantation only these certain cells are able to form secondary tumours [46] (*Figure 1.2*).

Therefore, the "cell-of-origin" within a cancer may not be an adult stem cell, but a more committed progenitor or potentially even a terminally differentiated cell, depending on where mutations arise if the mutations are able to confer a stem-like phenotype [56]. The cell-of-origin has been putatively identified in a small number of cancers, including acute myeloid leukaemia, which originates in common myeloid progenitors [57], and prostate cancer, which originates in basal cells [58].

In breast cancer, the cell-of-origin for various subtypes of breast neoplasms (outlined above) potentially arises from different cells within the hierarchy (*Figure 1.2*), where basal-like tumours with Brca1 mutations originate from luminal progenitors [59], claudin-low are the most stem cell-like in terms of gene signatures, and luminal A and B subtypes present gene signatures overlapping with differentiated luminal cells. Her2-enriched tumours have no putative cell-of-origin defined as yet, but may arise from the luminal lineage also, as these cancers contain a high proportion of luminal progenitor cells [60]. Identification of cells-of-origin is difficult, as it is not currently possible to purify CSCs from solid tumours to near homogeneity, unlike the more defined populations in haematopoietic cancers [61].

#### **1.2.3.** Characterisation and identification of cancer stem cells

Despite being unable to completely purify CSCs, a number of methods allow for the identification and enrichment of putative CSCs within heterogeneous bulk cell populations [62]. *In vitro* and *ex vivo*, this includes flow cytometry and specific cell culture techniques. Different tumour types have different putative surface markers for CSCs, the combination of which selects for a population that has the stem-like properties of self-renewal and differentiation. Notably, positive expression of the markers CD133 and/or CD44 has been shown to enrich for the putative stem cell population in a number of solid tumours [63].

Just over a decade ago, Al Hajj *et al.* proposed a CD44<sup>+</sup>CD24<sup>-/lo</sup> surface marker profile to detect human breast CSCs, as sorted cells with this profile had an enhanced ability to form tumours upon xenotransplantation compared to alternative phenotypes. They also noted that this population does not express a number of markers that are associated with leukocytes, endothelial cells, mesothelial cells and fibroblasts, and so the stem-like population can be further elucidated based on "lineage-negative" (Lin<sup>-</sup>) gating or sorting [64].

Shortly after, Shackleton *et al.* characterised the mouse breast stem cell population and found it to be enriched in the CD24<sup>+</sup>CD29<sup>hi</sup> subset [65]. Other groups such as Stingl and colleagues report that sorting cells based on CD49f and EpCAM expression can enrich for the stem cell population [66]. Generally these marker profiles are thought to overlap, and a certain amount of personal preference exists in terms of ability to separate out populations during flow cytometry or fluorescence-activated cell sorting (FACS). As illustrated in *Figure 1.2*, these marker profiles select the basal subset of cells, which is believed to contain the CSCs, putative myoepithelial progenitors, and terminally differentiated basal cells [60]. Within this basal population, most cells are myoepithelial non-dividing cells, which have repopulating capacity and the ability to clonally expand. Progeny of these cells function as long-lived lineage-restricted stem cells in normal mammary glands and during pregnancy [67]. Mouse mammary epithelial cells can be

further sorted into the luminal subset based on  $CD24^+CD29^{10}$  [68], which can be delineated further into luminal progenitor cells ( $CD61^+$  [69, 70]) and terminally differentiated ( $Sca-1^+$ ) cells [60] (*Figure 1.2*).

In 2010, Di Fiore's group proposed a new set of markers to elucidate human mammary stem cells, in which Notch ligands delta-like ligand 1 (DLL1) and delta and Notch-like EGF receptor (DNER) were used in conjunction with CD49f (CD49f<sup>+</sup>DLL1<sup>+</sup>DNER<sup>+</sup>) to enrich 530-fold for the stem-like population compared with an 85-fold enrichment when gating on CD24<sup>+</sup>CD49f<sup>+</sup> [71]. However, since publication of this article no further evidence has been reported for the use of this marker profile in stem cell isolation, and it has not been tested in the mouse mammary gland. Putative breast CSCs may also be identified by the "side population" technique, which involves isolating a cell subset capable of Hoechst dye exclusion [72], or the ALDEFLUOR assay, based on enzymatic activity of aldehyde dehydrogenase 1 (ALDH1) [73].

Specific cell culture techniques can also be used to enrich for stem-like cells. One of the most widely used approaches is the "sphere assay", a non-adherent culture system designed to select for cells with clonogenic and self-renewing potential, in which cells that are unable to survive without attachment undergo apoptosis [74]. This assay is based on another proposed property of stem cells – resistance to anoikis [75]. First developed to study stemness in nerve cells, the neurosphere assay [76] has been adapted for many solid malignancies, including brain, colon, prostate, lung and breast cancer [46].

Dontu *et al.* first characterised the potential of mammospheres to enrich for mammary stem cells and found colonies generated by this type of culture were clonogenic (i.e. not the product of aggregation) and capable of passage [75]. Since then, this assay has been used extensively to study normal mammary and breast cancer stem cells *in vitro* and *ex vivo*. Whilst the primary heterogeneous mammosphere culture is thought to contain a greater proportion of luminal cells and select only for cells with clonogenic potential, passage of sphere cultures selects for *bona* 

*fide* self-renewing cells by enriching for the stem cell-containing basal population [46, 77]. Other cell cultures have also been used to study CSCs, including the colony-forming assay pioneered by Stingl's group [78], and the Matrigel assay, which also allows for identification of differentiation capacity in a semi-solid media [79].

Approaches to study mammary stem cells *in vivo* are continuously evolving. The limiting dilution assay, first developed to study breast CSCs by Clarke and colleagues, involves injection of decreasing numbers of mammary epithelial cells into the mammary fat pad, designed to determine the repopulating capacity of cells from a given population, genotype and/or treatment [64]. This assay was the foundation for two landmark papers in 2006 by Visvader's and Eave's groups, which were able to generate entirely new functional mammary glands in mice from a single cell [65, 80].

Recently, study of the cell hierarchy within the mammary gland and other tissues has significantly expanded, with the advent of cell fate-mapping by label-retention and lineage-tracing techniques [81]. However, limitations still exist in the mouse models used, and thus the conclusions drawn are not without controversy. Blanpain and colleagues, based on lineage-tracing experiments, have proposed that both basal and luminal lineages are maintained in adult life from unipotent lineage-restricted precursors. They postulated that a multipotent stem cell does not exist in normal physiological conditions and may only appear during stress conditions such as transplantation [82]. Visvader's group then counteracted these findings shortly after, as their own cell fate-mapping study suggested a bipotent precursor did indeed exist at the top of the hierarchy giving rise to both luminal and basal cell types [83]. The issue is still awaiting resolution.

Although this is the closest the field has come to identifying stem cells at the single cell level, the final picture of the mammary gland hierarchy has yet to be definitively established. This may be achieved by a combination of cell fate-mapping and prospective isolation of refined populations

of stem and progenitor cells. Despite this, the question of plasticity in the stem cell population still remains contentious as demonstrated by Van Rheenen and colleagues, using elegant intravital imaging combined with lineage-tracing experiments to show that even when a CSC disappears following asymmetric division, the loss is compensated for by clonal expansion of a neighbouring stem-like cell [84].

#### **1.2.4.** Clinical implications of cancer stem cells

As with normal adult stem cells, CSCs are believed to be mostly quiescent. This means that conventional therapeutics designed to kill rapidly-dividing bulk tumour cells may be somewhat ineffective at targeting this slow-growing and potentially plastic population, leading to relapse [52]. Furthermore, CSCs potentially up-regulate expression of ATP-binding cassette (ABC) drug transporters, and so any drugs that may happen to enter the cell are quickly eliminated [85]. Drugs designed to target cancer-specific cell surface molecules may also be useless against CSCs, which could have completely different surface marker expression. These drugs, including immunotherapies (discussed in more detail below), may also select for a more aggressive CSC, as those that do not express the target are able to survive and multiply, differentiating into bulk tumour cells that the drug is unable to recognise [86]. Furthermore, finding a drug that selectively targets cancer stem cells over normal stem cells is a significant challenge [46], although large screening experiments may make this approach viable [87, 88].

As outlined in *Figure 1.1*, finding unique, functional CSC markers is one potential way to specifically target this small subpopulation of cells in conjunction with standard chemo- and radio-therapy. Candidate therapeutic targets may include receptors and their oncogenic forms, adhesion molecules, signalling pathway members and metabolic components [52]. Another option is to force CSCs to differentiate [53], into cells that can be readily eradicated by conventional methods. An additional avenue to explore to eliminate CSCs is to disrupt the

supporting niche, so that CSCs do not receive the survival maintenance they receive from stromal cells and the immune system [46].

#### 1.3. The immune system and breast cancer

The immune system plays a key role in breast cancer progression. Infiltrating immune cells, which are recruited and present in many solid tumours [89], and are able to be readily identified [90], may influence many aspects of cancer, including proliferation, evasion of growth suppressors and apoptosis, avoidance of immune destruction, and induction of invasion, angiogenesis, and metastasis [38, 91]. However, the information available to date lacks consistency, and the roles of various cell subsets appear to vary depending on the tumour type and circumstance.

#### **1.3.1.** The adaptive immune system in breast cancer

Numerous reports have demonstrated that infiltration of cytotoxic T cells (Tc), helper T cells (Th), regulatory T cells (Treg) and the dendritic cells that prime them results in increased antitumour immunity, and infiltration of these cells into primary breast tumours has been associated with good survival prognosis in breast cancer patients [92-96]. Importantly, harnessing the actions of these immune cell subsets to create breast cancer vaccines is of particular clinical interest [97].

It is important to note however, that the role of these immune subsets in breast cancer is somewhat contradictory. For example, it has been reported that Th cells can promote early mammary tumour development via cytokine secretion [98], Tc cell infiltration has been associated with progression to metastasis [99], and dendritic cells can also have an immunosuppressive effect in breast cancer [100]. In addition, the actions of cancer-associated fibroblasts, macrophages and mast cells can block anti-tumour responses of Tc cells [38]. Treg cells in particular have been shown to play a tumour-promoting role in breast cancer, in which

the down-regulation of immune responses by Treg cells leads to evasion of the immune system by cancer cells and an increase in cancer cell invasiveness [101].

Similarly, B cells have been shown to have an anti-tumour role and can even form ectopic germinal centres within the primary tumour to activate T cell-mediated anti-cancer immunity [102, 103] but, conversely, their infiltration has also been associated with a higher tumour grade [104] and they have been found to play a pro-metastatic role through conversion of resting T cells into Treg cells [105]. To summarise, there is currently no definitive answer as to the role of active immune cell subsets in the promotion or inhibition of breast cancer, and their level of infiltration and involvement is likely to be determined by cancer subtype, stage of disease, tumour microenvironment and specific subset interplay.

#### **1.3.2.** Tumour-associated macrophages

Although thought to have a role in anti-cancer immunity under certain conditions [106], tumourassociated macrophages (TAMs) are prolific in human breast cancer [107] and in MMTV-PyMT mouse mammary tumours [90] and are consistently found to play a significant part in tumour promotion and poor patient survival [35]. Tissue-resident macrophages exist in all tissues to aid in immunity against site-specific pathogens, removal of apoptotic cells, and secretion of certain growth factors [108]. In the mammary gland they are also involved in development of the mammary epithelium and in tissue remodelling during pregnancy, lactation and involution [109-111]. These macrophages are defined as classically-activated, or of an "M1" phenotype.

However, during cancer progression, both newly recruited and resident macrophages within the cancerous tissue can be alternatively activated and switch to an "M2" phenotype [112]. This switch, induced by particular microenvironment cues, results in a decrease in pro-inflammatory chemokine and cytokine production, a decrease in antigen presentation, suppression of the T cell anti-tumour immune response, and promotion of angiogenesis, cell proliferation and tissue remodelling [113]. Furthermore, TAMs promote cancer cell survival and resistance to

chemotherapy, and together with mast cells can remodel ECM components to allow for cellular invasion [38].

M1 macrophages are induced *in vitro* by interferon- $\gamma$ , sometimes in combination with microbialderived stimuli (such as lipopolysaccharide) or cytokines. M2 macrophages can be generated by interleukin (IL)-4 and IL-13 [113]. The M1 and M2 phenotypes are identified using a number of methods. *In vitro*, different conditions can induce a change in the inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) to arginase 1 (Arg1) ratio within macrophages. iNOS is involved in pro-immunogenic functions, whereas Arg1 expression has immuno-suppressive effects, which can exacerbate tumour growth. Hence, M1 macrophages can be identified based on high iNOS and low Arg1, and M2 macrophages have low expression of iNOS and elevated levels of Arg1 [113, 114]. M2 macrophages can also be identified based on positive expression of IL-4 receptor (IL-4R), mannose receptor (CD206), and IL-10 [113].

#### **1.3.3.** Immune selection and tolerance of breast cancer stem cells

#### The following contains excerpts from Appendix A.

In addition to their role in breast cancer progression, there is some recent evidence that points to a role for various immune cells in the regulation of breast CSCs (*Appendix A* [115]). As recently proposed [115] and outlined in *Figure 1.3*, the "immuniche" (the components of the immune system within the tumour niche that support cancer stem cells) may be a determining factor in stem cell survival, maintenance, and subsequent tumour growth. A high infiltration of CD4- and CD8-positive immune cells has been previously correlated with increased breast cancer stem cell phenotype [116], and the presence of macrophages in mammary tumours was also found to maintain the breast CSC niche through secretion of specific cytokines, such as IL-6 and CXCL8 (also know as IL-8), enhancing the stem cell-like state and activity [117]. Cells within the immuniche may not only directly support CSCs (as in the case of TAMs and secreted factors by other stromal cells such as CAFs and mesenchymal stem cells [47]) but may potentially select

for more aggressive or evasive CSCs through the processes of immune selection (*Figure 1.3*), which could also play a part in resistance to immune-mediated therapy by cancer stem cells.

Bulk cancer cells can develop resistance to conventional cytotoxic drugs due to up-regulation of drug transporters [27], and it is thought that CSCs may have more robust mechanisms of drug efflux. The same may be true for immunotherapies, where CSCs avoid killing by cytotoxic cells. For example, it was found that treatment with trastuzumab depleted Her2-expressing breast cancer cells through a natural killer cell-mediated mechanism. However, cells that survived this natural killer cell immune selection had increased stem-like CD44<sup>hi</sup>CD24<sup>lo</sup> surface marker expression and were able to grow more robustly as mammospheres compared with naïve cells. After six cycles of treatment, the CD44<sup>hi</sup>CD24<sup>lo</sup> cell content was significantly increased, indicating that proportions of breast CSCs increased over time through immune selection [118].

Tumour cells are also able to avoid recognition by primed immune cells through immunoediting, a process in which tumour cells lose or modify tumour antigens. Findings by Knutson *et al.* showed that immuno-editing may occur through the process of EMT, a route that may also result in the acquisition of a breast CSC phenotype. The authors have suggested that immunoediting is not an incremental loss of tumour antigens but rather an active process in which cells use EMT to de-differentiate into cells of a stem-like state [119].

Immune selection and immuno-editing may result in tumour cells that would otherwise be attacked by the immune system being recognised as self, thus leading to tolerance and immune evasion. Exact mechanisms underlying these phenomena are not yet known, however glycoprotein CD200 has been previously reported to have a role in breast CSC immune evasion [120]. CD200 is commonly expressed in myeloid cell populations and has been studied as a therapeutic target due to its role in immunoregulation and immune tolerance, as deletion of CD200 in animal models can lead to development of autoimmune disorders [121]. In

tumourigenic and invasive breast cancer cells, it was found that a high percentage of CD200<sup>+</sup> cells were of a CD44<sup>+</sup>CD24<sup>-</sup> phenotype [120].

It is plausible that the infiltration of immune cells into mammary tumours may stimulate more mature breast cancer cells to de-differentiate into stem-like cells through EMT, coinciding with the activation of molecules that promote tolerance of CSCs by the immune system. This in turn may enhance CSC immune evasion and the development of more aggressive tumours.

#### 1.3.4. Chemokine receptors in cancer

The recruitment of immune cells to the tumour site is mediated by the actions of chemokines and their cognate ligands, which have also been widely linked to cancer progression and metastasis.

Chemokine receptors are G-protein coupled receptors (GPCRs), consisting of seven transmembrane which molecular-weight domains, bind low chemotactic-cytokines (chemokines). Upon binding of chemokine ligands, the receptor undergoes a conformational change leading to activation of intracellular G-proteins. This results in a signalling cascade that, depending on the context, can stimulate cellular growth, migration, pseudopodia formation, adhesion, and angiogenesis, as well as angiostasis [122]. When expressed on immune cells, the action of chemokine receptors leads to homing of an immune cell to a specific site via a chemotactic gradient. Because of the involvement of chemokine receptors in migration of cells, they have been widely implicated in metastasis of cancer cells throughout the body [123]. Table 1.1 summarises the involvement of chemokine receptors in cancer pathogenesis. In breast cancer, the chemokine receptors CXCR4, CCR7, CCR6 and CXCR3 and the ligand CCL2 have been associated with metastasis [124-127].

The receptor CXCR4 is the most studied of all chemokine receptors in cancer, and its many documented roles in breast cancer encompass cell survival, proliferation, motility, invasion, angiogenesis, recruitment and activation of a number of different cell types, and metastasis [128]. CCR7 is often up-regulated together with CXCR4 in cancer [125, 129] and previously the 18

McColl group reported that CXCR4 together with CCR7 regulates breast cancer cell metastasis through inhibition of anoikis [130]. In addition, these two receptors form a heterodimer on metastatic breast cancer cells, which activates alternative signalling pathways and promotes a metastatic phenotype (Kochetkova; unpublished). However, CCR7 has not been as well characterised as CXCR4 in the literature.

Chemokine receptors are further involved in regulation of cancer progression through recruitment of immune cell subsets. For example, macrophages can be recruited to the tumour microenvironment through the CX<sub>3</sub>CR1/CX<sub>3</sub>CL1 and CCR2/CCL2 axes [131], the expression of CCR5 has both anti-tumour activity when expressed on infiltrating Tc cells and pro-tumour activity when expressed on Treg cells [132], dendritic cells can migrate to the tumour microenvironment via CXCR4, CCR6 and CCR7, and CXCL9 and CXCL10 are strong chemoattractants for CXCR3-expressing T lymphocytes [133].

Importantly, there is a paucity of information from *in vivo* experimental systems regarding the specific function of individual chemokine receptors in cancer progression, and very little data exists regarding their role in primary tumour formation.

#### **1.3.5.** Chemokine receptors and cancer stem cells

#### The following contains excerpts from Appendix A.

Recently, a small body of evidence has also implicated chemokine receptors in maintenance of stem cells, as summarised in *Table 1.2*. Whilst most of the available data refers to mesenchymal stem cells, some chemokines and their receptors have been suggested to play a role in maintenance of cancer stem cells [134].

Seminal work on the involvement of chemokine receptors in breast CSCs has come from Max Wicha's group, which have studied the role of CXCR1. CXCR1 is closely related to CXCR2, with which it shares multiple ligands including CXCL8. Both receptors have been heavily

implicated in the elimination of pathogens but also shown to contribute significantly to diseaseassociated processes, including tissue injury, fibrosis, angiogenesis and tumourigenesis [135]. It was found that CXCR1-positive cells were present in the CD44<sup>+</sup>CD24<sup>-</sup> population in breast cancer cell lines, and were also almost exclusively contained in the ALDEFLUOR-positive population. Stimulation of CXCR1 with CXCL8 increased primary and secondary mammosphere-forming efficiency (MFE). In addition, CXCR1<sup>+</sup>ALDEFLUOR<sup>+</sup> cells were able to form heterogenous tumours upon transplantation [136, 137], providing functional support for the role of CXCR1 in breast CSC regulation.

Treatment of breast cancer cell lines with a CXCR1 inhibitor or an anti-CXCR1 antibody resulted in a five-fold reduction in ALDEFLUOR<sup>+</sup> cell numbers and inhibition of the CXCR1 interaction with its ligands in sphere culture caused a massive decrease in primary and secondary MFE. Interestingly, when normal human mammary epithelial cells were cultured as mammospheres, addition of CXCL8 again increased the primary and secondary MFE, further implicating CXCR1 as a regulator of stemness in both cancer and normal breast development [137].

The CXCR2 chemokine receptor was previously shown to mediate breast cancer chemoresistance [138], an implied property of breast CSCs. Co-expression of CXCR1 and CXCR2 by cancer cells is reported to promote cancer growth [139], and as mentioned above, both are receptors for CXCL8 which is expressed by breast CSCs [140]. As well as CXCL8, CXCR2 interacts with chemokines CXCL3, CXCL5, and CXCL7. Wicha and colleagues also examined the result of neutralising CXCR2 but did not observe a difference in the breast CSC population [137].

Contrary to this, other reports showed that siRNA targeting of CXCR2 and CXCL3 decreased the viability of CD44<sup>+</sup>CD24<sup>-</sup> basal-like breast cancer cell lines through a decrease in Stat3 activity [141], and sequestering CXCL7 blocked expression of other immune modulators from
putative breast CSCs [142]. In addition, CXCL5 stimulation of breast cancer cell lines increased the ALDEFLUOR<sup>+</sup> cell population [142]. As CXCR2 antagonists are already in the clinic for other conditions such as pulmonary disease [143], inhibiting this receptor may prove a promising breast CSC-targeting therapy, however the role of CXCR2 in breast CSCs still remains to be validated in cancer models *in vivo*.

Recently, CXCR4 was reported to contribute to the maintenance of the breast CSC population through transactivation of the aryl hydrocarbon receptor [144] and was also expressed in CD44<sup>+</sup>CD24<sup>-</sup> breast cancer cell lines, which correlated with their invasiveness [145]. Furthermore, CXCR4 was detected on the surface of mammosphere cells, and CXCR4 antagonists decreased MFE and the proportion of CD44<sup>+</sup>CD24<sup>-</sup> breast cancer stem-like cells [36]. Interestingly, CXCR4 expression has been putatively linked to the functionality of the CD24 surface marker (a breast CSC marker) in metastatic spread, but this finding requires further validation *in vivo* [146].

The CXCR4 antagonist plerixafor (AMD3100) has shown some promise in preclinical trials [147, 148] and could also provide an option for targeting stem cells. For example, in tamoxifenresistant breast cancer cells, Dubrovska *et al.* showed that AMD3100 inhibited the breast CSCenriched side population [144]. This study highlights the potential use of chemokine receptor pathway antagonists as adjuvants to conventional cytotoxic drugs, which alone cannot eradicate the quiescent cancer stem cell populations.

It has also been shown that anoikis-resistant cells (which have enhanced stem-like phenotype) up-regulate CXCR4 preferentially in breast cancer over normal mammary epithelium [149]. As the McColl group previously found that activation of CXCR4 and CCR7 inhibits anoikis [130], this suggests that both receptors have a role in promoting the breast CSC phenotype.

In a study reported in 2011, Asiedu *et al.* comprehensively characterised the chemokine and chemokine receptor profiles in breast cancer cell lines with high CD44<sup>+</sup>CD24<sup>-</sup> cell content, with

21

the view to identifying potential breast CSC regulators among this class of immune modulators. They reported increased expression of CCR7, but unexpectedly down-regulation of CXCR4. In addition, CD44<sup>+</sup>CD24<sup>-</sup> breast cancer cells had increased expression of CXCR7, CCL13, CCL11, CCL12, CCL2, CCL5, CCL6, CCL7 and CCL8, and down-regulated CCR3, CXCL1 and CCL20 [150]. Notably, CXCR7 also binds the ligand for CXCR4, CXCL12, and scavenges CXCL12 to promote cancer cell metastasis [151]. Increased expression of CXCR7 in the CSC population and its impact upon CXCR4 activity remains to be functionally assessed. Of the chemokines up-regulated, only CCL2 and CCL5 have been conclusively shown to have a role in breast cancer [152, 153].

Whilst CCL5 has not been examined in the context of breast cancer stem cells, CCL2 has been proposed to affect properties of stemness in breast cancer cells. In addition to secretion from mammary CSCs, treating mammosphere culture with exogenous CCL2 increased stem cell function via induction of Notch-1 signalling and resulted in more spheres with a higher number of slow-cycling stem cells, as was measured by retention of PKH67 dye [37]. Whilst there are clear indications of a potential function for CCL2, more specific *in vivo* evidence is needed to confirm its role in breast CSC regulation. Of note, CCL2 is also involved in recruitment of monocytes, memory T cells, regulatory T cells and dendritic cells to inflammatory sites [154], and to breast tumours [155] through its major receptor CCR2, which may aid breast CSCs in controlling the immune system.

The involvement of chemokine receptors appears to encompass a diverse range of roles in terms of primary cancer growth, immune infiltration, regulation of the microenvironment, metastasis, and maintenance of stem cells. However, the underlying molecular mechanisms are largely unknown, and may explain the shortage of chemokine receptor-targeting drugs in breast cancer clinical trials.

#### **1.4.** The research project

#### **1.4.1.** Project rationale

CCR7 is one of the major factors in regulation of T cell migration to secondary lymphoid organs [156], induction of tolerance through interactions with dendritic cells [157], and control of immune responses via Treg cells [158]. Cell migration mediated by CCR7 follows the gradients of its two chemokine ligands, CCL19 (EBV-induced molecule 1 ligand, ELC) and CCL21 (secondary lymphoid tissue ligand, SLC) [159]. In addition to its well-documented homeostatic role in immunity, CCR7 has also been shown to be involved in various malignancies (see *Table 1.1*).

However, whilst the chemokine receptor CXCR4 has been widely investigated for its oncogenic properties, CCR7, which is up-regulated together with CXCR4 in breast cancer [125, 160], has not been as well-characterised. It was shown in archived human breast cancer tissue that high levels of CCR7 correlated with decreased patient survival and metastasis to the lungs and lymph nodes [125, 161]. Using *in vitro* cell line culture, CCR7 was found to promote breast cancer cell motility and invasiveness [161, 162], and intratumoural CCL21 can contribute to suppression of anti-tumour immunity [38]. Whilst these data circumstantially implicate CCR7 in breast cancer development and progression, there has been no definitive *in vivo* evidence for the role of CCR7 in the primary tumour reported so far.

CCR6 has been previously associated with higher grades of breast cancer and reported as a possible prognostic marker together with CCR7 [124, 163]. As with the CCR7 receptor, CCR6 is expressed on a variety of immune cells, and induction of CCR6-mediated pathways is stimulated upon binding to its ligand CCL20 (macrophage inflammatory protein (MIP)-3 $\alpha$ ) [164]. In particular, CCR6 is involved in dendritic cell localisation and homeostasis [165], and Treg cell migration [166]. However, a function for CCR6 in malignancies has not been previously shown,

despite being expressed in a number of cancers (see *Table 1.1*), with no direct causal link between the expression of CCR6 and cancer progression reported to date.

It was previously found that higher CCR6 expression levels were linked with breast tumour stage and grade [163], and breast cancer metastasis to the pleura [124]. Expression of ligand CCL20 is also reported to be up-regulated in human triple-negative breast cancer cell lines [167], and stimulation of *ex vivo* peritumoural mammary cells with CCL20 increased cell proliferation, migration and invasiveness [168]. However, CCR6 has not been investigated in primary breast cancer *in vivo* and hence no functional role for CCR6 in breast cancer has been documented.

Thus, potential roles for the receptors CCR7 and CCR6 in breast cancer development and progression are implied, however the underlying mechanisms and functional relevance of their expression have not yet been established.

#### 1.4.2. Hypothesis and Aims

#### 1.4.2.1. Hypothesis

The hypothesis for this project was as follows:

The chemokine receptors CCR7 and CCR6 are important regulators of breast cancer development and progression.

#### 1.4.2.2. Aims

Aim 1: To investigate the role of CCR7 in mammary tumourigenesis.

Aim 2: To investigate the role of CCR6 in mammary tumourigenesis.

#### 1.4.3. Summary of findings

As CCR7 and CCR6 have been associated with breast cancer metastasis from analysis of archived tissue, and their stimulation induces proliferation of cancer cells *in vitro*, it was hypothesised that these receptors played a significant role in breast cancer development and progression *in vivo* via distinct molecular and cellular mechanisms.

Using a well-characterised mouse model for breast cancer, in which the polyoma middle-T transgene is activated under control of the mouse mammary tumour virus promoter (MMTV-PyMT) [169, 170], the contributions of CCR7 and CCR6 to primary breast cancer were examined *in vivo* and *ex vivo*.

When it was found that both CCR7 and CCR6 were highly expressed within the breast cancer cell population, the MMTV-PyMT transgenic mouse was crossed with both CCR7- and CCR6null mice. Deletion of either receptor in these bigenic mouse models resulted in a decrease in mammary tumourigenesis, indicating that both receptors play a role in breast oncogenesis.

However, it was then discovered that the function of each receptor in the promotion of breast cancer pathogenesis is unique. CCR7 promoted breast cancer via amplification of cancer stemlike cells, as was found by analysing cell surface marker expression and self-renewal in sphere culture, and performing multiple transplantation approaches. Furthermore, the use of a CCR7 antagonist *in vivo* significantly depleted stem-like cell pools, making CCR7 a plausible candidate for CSC-targeting therapies (*Appendix B* [171]).

CCR6, however, did not play any role in the epithelial compartment of the mammary gland, as its deletion did not impact upon cell proliferation, maintenance of the cellular hierarchy, or tumour propagation upon transplantation. Upon further examination, it was found that the role of CCR6 in the promotion of breast cancer is via recruitment and maintenance of pro-tumourigenic macrophages in the tumour microenvironment. The deletion of CCR6 resulted in significantly reduced pools of both total TAMs and of M2 macrophages. The negative effect of CCR6

deletion on tumourigenesis could be restored by supplementation of tumour-associated macrophages (*Appendix C* [172]).

Results from this study imply that simultaneous assault of both the CSC pool and the tumour microenvironment by targeting specific chemokine receptors is a viable option for breast cancer therapeutic application.



# Figure 1.1: New concepts in breast cancer research and avenues of possible therapeutic targeting.

The field of breast cancer research has expanded significantly in the last decade, with investigation into a number of new concepts, including study of the tumour microenvironment, disseminated and circulating tumour cells, formation of metastatic niches, and cancer stem cells. Along with the study of these areas of breast cancer pathobiology comes new possible avenues for therapeutic application.



Figure 1.2: The Cancer Stem Cell Model, mammary cell hierarchy and proposed breast tumour cells-of-origin.

Mammary cells are believed to exist within a hierarchy, with a self-renewing stem cell giving rise to lineage progenitors and terminally differentiated cells of the luminal and basal lineages, which can be putatively identified based on the expression of various surface markers as indicated. Within this hierarchy, it is not clear from where cancer stem cells arise, however the cell with the most stem-like characteristics is capable of propagating secondary tumours upon serial transplantation (right). It is thought that different subtypes of breast cancer may have different cells-of-origin within this hierarchy (left), when those cells acquire stem-like characteristics.

Image adapted from [60] and [173].



Figure 1.3: Maintenance of breast cancer stem cells by immune cells and immune modulators within the "immuniche".

Breast cancer stem cells express a variety of immune modulatory receptors on their surface. Chemokine and cytokine receptors are activated by immune modulators secreted by mesenchymal stem cells and cancer-associated fibroblasts, promoting properties of stemness. Tumour-associated macrophages promote breast cancer stem cell survival both indirectly and directly, and infiltrating T cell subsets in the immuniche provide a catalyst for immune selection.

Adapted from [115].

Receptor	Cancer	Implication, role, mechanism	Reference
CC Chemokine Rect	ptors		
CCR1	Colon	CCL9 and CCL15 recruit immature myeloid cells expressing CCR1 to promote metastasis to the liver	Kitamura 2010
	Liver	Promotes tumour growth together with ligand CCL3	Yang 2005, Wu 2007
CCR	Breast	Ligand CCL2 facilitates metastasis, recruits inflammatory monocytes	Qian 2011, Yoshimura 2013
	Prostate	Expression positively correlates with tumour grade, expression of ligand CCL2 correlates with metastatic disease	Yu 2007, Yu 2009
CCD3	Kidney	Overexpression compared to normal, ligand CCL11 induces cellular proliferation	Johrer 2005
	Stomach	Expression correlates with poor survival	Sugasawa 2008
	Breast	Ligand CCL22 recruit inflammatory monocytes	Jafarzadeh 2015
LCBA	Colon	Ligand CCL17 stimulates cellular migration	Al-Haidari 2013
	Gastric	Overexpression in cancer compared to normal, promotes invasiveness	Yang 2015
	Lymphoma	Gain-of-function mutation in cancer tissues, promotes cell migration	Nakagawa 2014
	Breast	Overexpression compared to normal, activation by CCL5 promotes tunour growth via p53 signalling and metastasis	Manes 2003, Zhang 2009, Velasco-Velazquez 2012
	Colorectal	Promotes prolification of cancer cells	Pervaiz, 2015
CCBS	Oral	Ligand CCL5 promotes cellular migration through increase of MMP-9	Chuang 2009
	Ovarian	Ligand CCL5 promotes EMT to generate stem-like cells	Long 2015
	Prostate	Promotes tumour growth and metastasis together with ligand CCL5	Vaday 2005, Sicoli 2014
	Stomach	Expression correlates with poor survival	Sugasawa 2008
	Breast	Associated with pleural metastasis	Andre 2006
	Colorectal	Receptor and ligand CCL20 both upregulated in liver metastases	Rubie 2006
CCR6	Liver	Expression correlates with metastatic disease, ligand CCL20 promotes cellular migration	Uchida 2006
	Lung	Overexpression in adrenal metastases compared to primary tumours	Raynaud 2010
	Pancreatic	Receptor and ligand CCL20 both expressed in cancer cells and promote invasion	Kimsey 2004
	Prostate	Expression correlates with metastatic disease	Ghadjar 2007
	Breast	Overexpression compared to normal, correlates with and promotes metastasis and hymphangiogenesis, prevents anoldis Ligand CCL21 expressed in secondary sites, CCL21 induces actin polymenisation and mirration	Muller 2001, Cabiogh 2005, Kochetkova 2009, Cunningham 2010, Huang 2015, Tutunga-Fatan 2015
	Cervical	Expression correlates with poor survival and metastasis	Kodama 2006
	Colorectal	Expression correlates with poor survival and metastasis	Gunther 2005
	Gastric	Expression correlates with poor survival and metastasis, induces EMT	Mashino 2002, Zhang 2015
CCR7	Head and Neck	Expression correlates with metastatic disease	Wang 2003
	Lung	Expression correlates with metastatic disease	Takanami 2003
	Lymphoma	Expression correlates with metastatic disease, promotes cellular migration and invasion	Yang 2011
	Melanoma	Overexpression compared to normal	Muller 2001
	Oesophageal	Expression correlates with poor survival and metastasis, CCL21 induces cell migration and pseudopodia formation	Ding 2003
	Prostate	Overexpression compared to normal, expression correlates with tumour growth and metastasis	Chen 2015
CCR8		Has not been reported	
	Breast	Overexpression compared to normal, activation by ligand CCL25 promotes migration, invasion and cell survival	Johnson-Holiday 2011 (IJO and WJSO)
- AND	Lung	Overexpression compared to normal, activation by ligand CCL25 promotes cell survival and tumourigenesis	Li 2015
CCR9	Melanoma	Expression correlates with metastatic disease, promotes cellular migration	Letsch 2004, Amersi 2007
	Ovarian	Overexpression compared to normal, activation by ligand CCL25 promotes migration and invasion	Johnson 2010
	Prostate	Activation by ligand CCL25 promotes migration and invasion, and inhibits apoptosis	Singh 2004, Sharma 2010
CCR10	Melanoma	Overexpression compared to normal, expression correlates with metastatic disease	Muller 2001, Simonetti 2006

# Table 1.1: Chemokine receptors in cancer.

Receptor	Cancer	Implication, role, mechanism	Reference	
CXC Chemokine Ret	ceptors			
	Breast	Maintains stem cell population	Ginestier 2010, Singh 2012	
	Colon	Promotes metastasis	Vamey 2011	
CVCD1	Lung	Expressed on cancer cells, stimulation by ligand IL-8 induces cell proliferation	Zhu 2004, Luppi 2007	
CAUNT -	Melanoma	Expressed on cancer cells, promotes proliferation, survival and angiogenesis, stimulation by IL-8 induces cellular migratic	a Ramjeesingh 2003, Singh 2009	
	Ovarian	Expressed on cancer cells, stimulation by ligand IL-8 induces actin polymerisation	Venkatakrishnan 1999	
	Prostate	Overexpression of receptor and CXCL1 ligand compared to normal, associated with higher grade cancer, promotes cell	Murphy 2004, Maxwell 2007, Miyake 2014	
	Breast	Expression correlates with cancer risk and tumour progression, involved in chemoresistance, maintains stem cell populati	o Snoussi 2010, Acharyya 2012, Singh 2012	
	Colon	Promotes metastasis	Vamey 2011, Desumont 2015	
	Gastric	Ligand CXCL1 correlates with poor prognosis and tumour stage	Wei 2015	
CALL	Lung	Expressed on cancer cells, promotes tumour growth and angiogenesis, stimulation by ligand IL-8 induces cell proliferatio	n Keane 2004, Zhu 2004, Luppi 2007	
-vov	Melanoma	Expressed on cancer cells, promotes proliferation, survival and angiogenesis	Singh 2009	
1	Ovarian	Promotes tumour growth via angiogenesis and reduction in apoptosis, stimulation by IL-8 induces actin polymerisation	Venkatakrishnan 1999, Yang 2010	
	Pancreatic	Promotes angiogenesis	Wente 2006	
	Prostate	Overexpression compared to normal, promotes cell survival	Murphy 2004, Maxwell 2007	
	Bone	Promotes migration, prolificration, cellular survival and metastasis	Pradelli 2009, Guan 2015	
CACB3	Breast	Expressed on cancer cells, associated with poor survival, promotes metastasis	Walser 2006 and Ma 2009	
	Colon	Expression correlates with poor survival and metastasis, promotes metastasis	Kawada 2007	
	Melanoma	Promotes metastasis, cell migration and tumourigenicity	Kawada 2004, Jenkins 2015	
	Bladder	Expression correlates with metastatic potential	Wang 2011	
	Breast	Overexpression and increased activity compared to normal, correlates with and promotes metastasis, prevents anoikis,	Muller 2001, Liang 2004, Cabiogh 2006,	
	Cervical	Benu CACLIF expressed in common secondary sites, CACLIF induces acmi polyinensation and imgration Frenewish correlates with none runningl and metactasis	Kodama 2000, Nochetkova 2005	
	Coloractal	E viviaceion conceletas cubh none can vira accenticate	Creation 2000	
	COLORCIAL	Expression contrates with poor survival	speedeus 2009	
CXCR4	Gastric	Overexpression compared to normal, correlates with metastasis Ligand CXCL12 overexpressed in metastatic lymph nodes compared to normal, CXCL12 induces migration	Zhao 2011, Ying 2012	
	Lung	Overexpression compared to normal, expression correlates with metastatic disease and promotes migration and invasion	Su 2005, Panneerselvam 2015, Zhou 2015	
	Melanoma	Overexpression compared to normal, enhances metastatic potential	Muller 2001, Murakami 2002	
	Oesophageal	Expression correlates with poor survival and metastasis	Kaifi 2005	
	Ovarian	Expression correlates with poor survival and metastasis	Kajiama 2007	
	Pancreatic	Expression correlates with poor survival, promotes cellular profiferation and migration	Merchesi 2004, Marechal 2010	
	Prostate	Expression correlates with metastatic disease, induces more aggressive phenotype, enhances migration	Arya 2004, Darah-Yahana 2004	
	<b>B-Cell Leukaemia</b>	Overexpression compared to normal, ligand CXCL13 induces actin polymerisation and migration	Burkle 2007	
CXCR5	Breast	Overexpression of receptor and ligand CCL13 compared to normal	Panse 2008, Mitkin 2015	
	Prostate	Overexpression compared to normal, ligand CCL13 stimulates migration and invasion	Singh 2009	
	Bladder	Overexpression compared to normal	Lee 2013	11
	Breast	Overexpression compared to normal, promotes invasion and metastatic ability	Xiao 2015	
	Kidney	Overexpression of receptor and ligand CXCL16 compared to normal, CXCL16 possibly a marker for better survival	Gutwein 2009	
CXCR6	Liver	Overexpression compared to normal, promotes proliferation and invasion	Xu 2014	
	Melanoma	Labels a rare aggressive cell population	Taghizadeh 2010	
	Ovarian	Overexpression of receptor and ligand CXCL16 compared to normal, associated with metastasis and poor survival	Guo 2011	
	Prostate	Overexpression compared to normal, promotes invasion and growth	Hu 2008, Wang 2008	

# Table 1.1 (Continued): Chemokine receptors in cancer.

Receptor	Cancer	Implication, role, mechanism	Reference
CX3C and XC Chemo.	kine Receptors		
	Brain	Receptor and CN3CL1 expression correlates with tumour grade and poor survival	Erreni 2010
CX3CR1	Breast	Expression associated with brain metastasis	Andre 2006
Fractalkine (CX,CL1)	Gastric	Overexpression compared to normal, expression associated with metastasis, proliferation and cell survival	Wei 2015
receptor	Pancreatic	Expression correlates with earlier tumour recurrence	Marchesi 2008
	Pancreatic	Promotes bone metastasis and cellular survival	Shulby 2004, Jamieson 2008
	Pancreatic	XCL1 has anti-tumour effects and correlates with ER expression	Emtage 2004, Keen 2004
XCR1	Pancreatic	Stimulation by XCL1 causes tumour regression and immune infiltration of neutrophils expressing XCR1	Caims 2001
Lymphotactin (XCL1)	Pancreatic	Receptor and ligand expressed on cancer cells, involved in migration, invasion, and cell proliferation	Khuram 2010
receptor	Pancreatic	Overexpression compared to normal, stimulation leads to proliferation and migration of cancer cells	Kim 2012
Atypical Chemokine Re	ceptors		
	Breast	Suppresses tumour growth and metastasis, low expression correlates with increased metastatic disease and poor survi-	val Ou 2006, Wang 2006
DARC/ACKR1	Lune	Promotes necrosis and suppresses metastasis	Addison 2004
	Prostate	Suppresses tumour growth and metastasis	Bandyopadhyay 2006, Shen 2006
	Breast	Inhibits proliferation, invasion, tumour growth and metastasis	Wu 2008
D6/ACKR2	Colon	Prevents inflation-induced colon cancer	Vetrano 2009
	Skin	Suboresses tumour growth	Nibbs 2007
CXCR7/ACKR3	Breast	Overexpression compared to normal, scavenging of CXCL12 promotes proliferation of CXCR4+ tumour cells	Miao 2007, Luker 2012
	Glioma	Exmession correlates with reduced survival, promotes proliferation, invasion and migration	Liu 2015
NB: Abdity to signal	Lung	Overextression compared to normal, upregulated after chemotherapy, expression associated with metastatic relapse	Miao 2007, Goldmann 2008, Iwakiri 2009
is under contention	Prostate	Overexpression compared to normal, may promote invasion and angiogenesis	Wang 2007
CCR11/ACKR4	Breast	Regulates metastasis via EMT	Harata-Lee 2014
PITPNN/3/ACKR6	Breast	Stimulation by ligand CCI 18 from tumour-associated matrophages promotes metastasis	Chen 2011
	Pancreatic	Expression of ligand CCL18 correlates with metastasis, grade, and poor survival	Meng 2015

 Table 1.1 (Continued): Chemokine receptors in cancer.

tors Developed Decomposition		
Testimoid Description		
ET AUTORIA FLOREINATS	Expressed on surface, involved in proliferation	Su 1997
Mesenchymal SCs	Expressed on surface, involved in migration and protection from apoptosis	Sordi 2005, Von Luttichau 2005, Honczarenko 2009, Huang 2010
Breast Cancer SCs	Stromal fibroblasts secrete ligand CCL2 which stimulates self-renewal of CSCs	Tsuyada 2012
Haematopoietic SCs	Expressed on surface, involved in migration to inflammatory sites	Si 2010
Mesenchymal SCs	Expressed on surface, involved in migration to gliomas	Ringe 2007, Xu 2010
Neural SCs	Expressed on surface of cells and spheres, involved in migration	Widera 2004, Andres 2011
Haematopoietic SCs	mRNA transcripts detected	Wright 2002
Mesenchymal SCs	Expressed on surface	Ponte 2007
Neural SCs	Activation inhibits cell proliferation and sphere formation	Krathwohl 2004
Embryonic SCs	Expressed in small populations of embryonic and annion-derived SCs	Mai 2006
Mesenchymal SCs	Expressed on surface, involved in migration to skin	Von Luttichau 2005, Sasaki 2008
	Stimulation of breast cancer cells by ligand CCL5 increases CSC proportions and invasiveness, may promote cell expansion	Zhang 2009, Jiao 2010
Breast Cancer	CCL5 from adipose-derived tissue SCs increases breast cancer cell migration in co-culture	Pinila 2005
	CCL5 from mesenchymal SCs in breast tumours enhances cancer cell molifity, invasiveness and metastasis	Karnoub 2007
Haematopoietic SCs	Expressed on surface, involved in HIV resistance, transplantation may help treat HIV-infected individuals	Hutter 2011, Allers 2011
Mesenchymal SCs in Skin	Expressed on surface, involved in migration and wound repair	Kroeze 2009
Ovarian SCs	CCL5 induces EMT to generate stem-like cells	Long 2015
Mesenchymal SCs	Expressed on surface, involved in migration	Ruster 2006
Mesenchymal SCs	Extraesced on surface involved in miscration and wound remain	Sordi 2005 Von Luttichan 2005 Honezaranko 2009 Sasaki 2008
Macanchumal SCc	augustatus da sufficia (minukus di minukus) Tervasesad an sufficia (minukus di minusista)	Prints 2007
Microsoft Science Science		TTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTT
Mesenciryilla SCS	подательно и подательно подательно подательно подательно подательно подательно подательно подательно подательно	Fronczarenko 2009, Chen 2010
Mesenchymal SCs	Expressed on surface, involved in migration to skin, salvary glands and small intestine	Von Luttichau 2005
eptors		
Breast SCs	Maintains cancer SC population, stimulation by ligand IL-8 increases normal and cancer sphere formation,	Charafe-Tauffret 2009 Cinective 2010 Sinch 2012
	IL-8 increases cancer SC proportion and humour propagating ability	
Lung Cancer SCs	Expressed on tumour sphere cells	Levina 2008
Mesenchymal SCs	Expressed on surface, involved in migration	Ringe 2007
	CXCR2 expression maintains cancer SC population, CXCL//CXCL5 ligand stimulation increases SC proportions,	
Breast Cancer SCs	CXCR2 and ligand CXCL3 are involved in cell viability of breast cancer stem-like cell lines, CXCL7 is	Liu 2007, Liu 2011, Marotta 2011, Singh 2012
	secreted from cancer cells upon co-culture with mesenchymal SCs	
Haematopoietic SCs	linvolved in migration	Petus 2006
Lung Cancer SCs	Expressed on tumour sphere cells	Levina 2008
Mesenchymal SCs	Expressed on surface, involved in micration	Ringe 2007
	Activation of recentor on mesenchunal SCs promotes breast cancer cell mirration and motific	Slim 2010
Breast Cancer	B isoform promotes marmosphere formation	Li 2014
Mesenchymal SCs	Receptor and ligands all expressed by cells, involved in migration	Ringe 2007, Ren 2009
	Expressed in cancer stem-like lines and correlates with invasiveness,	
breast SCs	maintains CSC population via transactivation AhR, expressed on sphere cells	Shendan 2006, Dubrovska 2012, Huang 2012
Embryonic Stem-like Cells	Expressed and functional in a small population of adult bone marrow cells with embryonic stem cell characteristics	Kucia 2006
Haematopoietic SCs	Expressed on cell surface, involved in migration and development, maintains SC pool	Petit 2002, Tavor 2004, Sugiyama 2006
Liver Progenitors/SCs	Expressed on surface, involved in migration	Kucia 2004
Lung Cancer SCs	Expressed on tumour sphere cells	Levina 2008
Mesenchymal SCs	Receptor and ligand CNCL12 expressed on by cells and important for migration and cell survival	Ji 2004, Wymn 2004, Kortesidis 2005, Sordi 2005, Honczarenko 2009
Muscle Progenitor Cells	Expressed on surface of satellite cells, involved in migration	Marius 2003, Kucia 2004
Myeloid Progenitors	Involved in cell survival and inhibition of apoptosis	Broxmeyer 2003
Neural SCs	Expressed on surface, required for migration, proliferation and invasion	Ehtesham 2004, Imitola 2004, Kucia 2004, Xu 2009
Renal Progenitors	Expressed on surface, required for migration and successful engrafiment of renal stem/progenitor cells	Mazzinghi 2008
Mesenchymal SCs	Expressed on surface, involved in homing to secondary lymphoid organs	Von Luttichati 2005, Honezarenko 2009
Melanoma	Identifies a small population with aggressive and self-renewing phenotype	Taghizadeh, 2010
Mesenchymal SCs	Expressed on surface, involved in migration	Sordi 2005, Brooke 2008, Honczarenko 2009
	Mesenchymal SCs Neural SCs Neural SCs Mesenchymal SCs Mesenchymal SCs Mesenchymal SCs Mesenchymal SCs Mesenchymal SCs in Skin Ovratin SCs Mesenchymal SCs Mesenchymal SCs Mesenchymal SCs Mesenchymal SCs Mesenchymal SCs Mesenchymal SCs Mesenchymal SCs Mesenchymal SCs Breast SCs Breast SCs Lung Cancer SCs Breast SCs Breast SCs Breast SCs Lung Cancer SCs Mesenchymal SCs Mesenchymal SCs Breast SCs Lung Cancer SCs Mesenchymal SCs Mesenchymal SCs Breast SCs Lung Cancer SCs Lung Cancer SCs Mesenchymal SCS	Neurologies         Expersion on antificie, include in angration of planes.           Neuroscies         Sciences of an antificie include in angration.           Neuroscies         Sciences of an antificient of the angle of angle sciences.           Neuroscies         Sciences of an antificient of the angle of angle sciences.           Neuroscies         Sciences of an antificient of the angle of the antion.           Neuroscies         Entervoise of an antificient of the angle of the antion.           Neuroscies         Entervoise of an antificient of the antificient of the antion.           Neuroscies         Entervoise of an antificient of the antificient of the antion.           Neuroscies         Sciences of the angeles of the angeles of the antion.           Neuroscies         Sciences of the angeles of the angeles of the angeles of the antion.           Neuroscies         Sciences of the angeles of the angeles of the angeles of the antion.           Neuroscies         Sciences of the angeles

# Table 1.2: Chemokine receptors in stem cell biology.

Receptor	Implicated in	Role, Mechanism	Reference
CX3C and XC Chemoki	ne Receptors		
CX5CR1	Mesenchymal SCs	Expressed on surface, involved in migration, expression in MSCs has been proposed to have anti-tumour effects	Ji 2004, Sordi 2005, Lee 2006, Xin 2007
Fractalkine receptor	Neural SCs	Expressed on neurospheres in globlastoma, stimulation with ligand CN5CL1 promotes NSC survival	Krathwohl 2004, Erreni 2010
XCR1	Haematapoietic SCs	mRNA transcripts detected	Wright 2002
Lymphotactin receptor	Mesenchymal SCs	Expressed on surface	Hemeda 2010
Atypical Chemokine Rect	eptors		
DARC/ACKR1		Has not been reported	4
D6/ACKR2		Has not been reported	
	Breast Cancer SCs	Expression in breast cancer cell lines with high stem-like cell content	Asiedu 2011
CXCR7/ACKR3	Glioma Stem-like Cells	Expression induced on stem-like cells upon differentiation, stimulation results in activity of receptor and prevention of apoptosis	Hattermann 2010, Liu 2015
NB: Ability to signal	Mesenchymal SCs	Required for cell viability and secretion of paracrine factors during kidney injury	Liu 2012
is under contention	Neural Progenitors	Involved in cell survival	Bakondi 2011
	Renal Progenitors	Expressed on surface, required for migration, adhesion, cell survival, and successful engrafiment of renal stem progenitor cells	Mazzinghi 2008
CCR11/ACKR4	Mesenchymal SCs	mRNA transcripts detected	Brooke 2008
PITPNM3/ACKR6		Has not been reported	

Table 1.2 (Continued): Chemokine receptors in stem cell biology.

**CHAPTER 2: Materials and Methods** 

#### 2.1. Models and materials

#### 2.1.1. Mice

Mice were maintained in pathogen-free conditions in the University of Adelaide's Laboratory Animal Services facility and the University of Adelaide institutional animal ethics committee approved all experimentation.

MMTV-PyMT mice on the FVB strain background were backcrossed for 15 generations to the C57Bl/6 background, and C57Bl/6 background was confirmed by microsatellite analysis. PyMT-carrying males were then crossed with  $Ccr7^{-/-}$  and  $Ccr6^{-/-}$  female mice on the C57Bl/6 strain background, and the offspring were interbred to produce MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr6/7^{WT}$  and MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr6/7^{-/-}$  knockout mice. See *Figure 2.1* for a schematic of the breeding strategy.

For the assessment of chemokine receptor expression, stimulation experiments, and antagonist function, both C57Bl/6 and FVB backgrounds were tested to eliminate any strain bias. For experiments involving knockout mice, only C57Bl/6 mice were tested.

#### 2.1.2. Human mammary tissue

Human breast tumour samples were obtained from the Royal Adelaide Hospital (Adelaide, South Australia) and normal breast tissue samples were obtained from the Queen Elizabeth Hospital (Woodville, South Australia). All patients gave written, informed consent prior to surgery.

#### **2.1.3.** Basic solutions

- MQ H<sub>2</sub>O: Milli-Q water was obtained from the Central Services Unit (CSU) in the School of Biological Sciences.
- PBS: 20x phosphate buffered saline (from CSU) was diluted in MQ H<sub>2</sub>O to 1x.
- HBSS: 10x Hank's balanced salt solution (Gibco) was diluted in MQ H<sub>2</sub>O to 1x.
- PBS/BSA: Bovine serum albumin (Sigma-Aldrich) was added at the desired concentration to 1x PBS then dissolved at 4°C before filter-sterilisation.

Chapter 2: Materials and Methods

#### 2.1.4. Carmine alum

Carmine alum was either obtained commercially (Stem Cell Technologies) or made by boiling 1g carmine and 2.5g aluminium potassium sulphate in 500ml distilled  $H_2O$  for 20 minutes, followed by filtration and addition of thymol. Carmine was stored at 4°C and used undiluted.

#### 2.1.5. Formaldehyde

Formaldehyde at 37% w/v (Sigma-Aldrich) was diluted in PBS to either 3.7% or 1% for fixation of cells. Methanol-free formaldehyde at 16% w/v (Thermo Fisher Scientific) was diluted to 4% in PBS for fixation of tissues before paraffin embedding.

#### 2.1.6. Mouse mammary tissue digestion medium

Digestion medium for mouse tissue consisted of Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM, Gibco) supplemented with collagenase, hyaluronidase, 2% foetal calf serum (FCS), and 1% penicillin-streptomycin.

Enzymes from Stem Cell Technologies: The supplied mix of collagenase (3000U/ml) and hyaluronidase (1000U/ml) in DMEM was used at 10% of the stock concentration in digestion medium.

Enzymes from Worthington: Collagenase type III was reconstituted in in HBSS/Ca<sup>2+</sup>/Mg<sup>2+</sup> and used at a final concentration of 1mg/ml. Hyaluronidase was reconstituted in MQ H<sub>2</sub>O and used at a final concentration of 100U/ml.

#### 2.1.7. Human mammary tissue digestion medium

Digestion medium for human tissue consisted of DMEM supplemented with 20mM HEPES, collagenase and hyaluronidase (see above), 12U/ml deoxyribonuclease (DNase)I (Merck) and 1% penicillin-streptomycin.

#### 2.1.8. Mouse red cell removal buffer (MRCRB)

MRCRB consisted of 90% 155mM NH<sub>4</sub>Cl and 10% 170mM Tris-HCl. The pH was adjusted to 7.2 and the solution was filter-sterilised before use.

#### **2.1.9.** Complete sphere medium

Mammosphere medium consisted of 1:1 volumes of DMEM and Ham's F12 nutrient mix (Gibco) supplemented with 1xB27 (Invitrogen), 10ng/ml epidermal growth factor (EGF, R&D Systems), 20ng/ml basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF, R&D Systems), 4ng/ml heparin (Sigma-Aldrich), 1% penicillin-streptomycin and 0.5% fungazone.

#### 2.2. Ex vivo methods

#### 2.2.1. Extraction of mammary cells

Mouse mammary glands/tumours were dissected, with removal of the lymph node if possible. Tissue was manually dissociated and then digested in mouse mammary tissue digestion medium for 3-4 hours at 37°C with gentle tilting on a HulaMixer (Invitrogen). Resultant organoids were digested for a further 15 minutes with dispase (5mg/ml from Stem Cell Technologies or 6U/ml from Gibco) and DNase I (12U/ml) at 37°C before washing in HBSS with 2% FCS and lysis of red blood cells for 2 minutes at room temperature in MRCRB. Cells were then filtered through a 70 $\mu$ m nylon mesh to then obtain a single cell suspension. All centrifuge washes were performed at 350xg for 3 minutes.

Surgical human specimens were minced and digested in human mammary tissue digestion medium. Organoids were then extensively washed with DMEM and red blood cells were lysed in MRCRB. Single cell suspensions were obtained by digesting organoids with 0.25% trypsin for 10 minutes at room temperature, with subsequent filtration through a 70µm nylon mesh.

#### 2.2.2. Haematopoietic lineage depletion by magnetic separation

When required, freshly isolated mammary cells were pelleted and resuspended in 1ml depletion buffer (PBS/0.1% BSA and 2mM EDTA at pH 7.4) containing a cocktail of biotinylated antimouse antibodies against haematopoietic lineage markers CD3, TER-119, CD11b, Ly-6C/G and CD45R (panel from BioLegend). Cells were incubated for 10 minutes at 4°C with gentle tilting then resuspended in 1ml buffer and transferred to a 1.5ml centrifuge tube, together with 50µl washed biotin binder Dynabeads (Invitrogen). Samples were incubated for 30 minutes at 4°C with gentle tilting, then a further 500µl depletion buffer was added to limit trapping of unbound cells. Tubes were placed in a DynaMag-Spin magnet (Invitrogen) for 3 minutes and the lineagenegative supernatant transferred to a fresh tube for subsequent experiments.

#### 2.2.3. Flow cytometry and fluorescence-activated cell sorting (FACS)

Experiments were performed either in FACS tubes (centrifugation at 350xg for 3 minutes) or 96well round-bottomed trays (centrifugation at 400xg for 1 minute). Cells were pelleted and blocked for non-specific antibody binding by incubating for 15 minutes at room temperature in mouse gamma ( $\gamma$ ) globulin in PBS/0.5% BSA. Cells were then immunostained for 30-45 minutes on ice in PBS/0.5% BSA. If intracellular staining was required, cells were permeabilised following surface antigen staining using the FoxP3 Staining Kit (eBioscience). A complete list of antibodies, manufacturer details and concentrations used is in *Table 2*.

Samples containing biotinylated antibodies were resuspended with conjugated streptavidin in PBS/0.5% BSA for 30 minutes on ice. Fluorescence-minus-one (FMO) samples or conjugated isotypes were used as negative controls. For flow cytometry, cells were fixed in 1% formaldehyde and acquisition carried out using FACS Canto or LSR II equipment (BD Biosciences). For sorting, live cells in PBS/0.5% BSA were sorted using a FACS Aria (BD Biosciences) into DMEM, with the assistance of Mr Cameron Bastow and Ms Carly Gregor of the University of Adelaide.

39

Chapter 2: Materials and Methods

#### 2.2.4. Mammosphere assay

Cells were added at a concentration of  $4 \times 10^4$  cells/ml in complete sphere medium to polyhemacoated ultra-low attachment trays (Corning Inc.). Where indicated, CCL21, CCL19 and CCL19<sub>(8-83)</sub> were added at concentrations of 10ng/ml, 200ng/ml and 100ng/ml respectively. CCL20 (a gift from the late Professor Ian Clark-Lewis) was added at various concentrations as specified in Chapter 4. Spheres were cultured at 37°C and media replenished every second day. After 7-10 days, mammospheres were counted and passaged. Samples were collected, centrifuged at 200xg for 5 minutes and supernatant aspirated. Warm trypsin/EDTA in PBS (from CSU) was added and samples were triturated through a 19G needle to break up colonies. After 2 minutes in trypsin, tubes were topped up with PBS/2% FCS to neutralise trypsin, and centrifuged for 3 minutes at 350xg. Cells were filtered through 70µm filters and washed again in PBS to remove FCS, before reseeding into clean ultra-low attachment plates for secondary culture in complete sphere medium.

#### 2.2.5. Histology

For formalin-fixed paraffin-embedded (FFPE) sections, tissue was extracted and fixed overnight in 4% formaldehyde at room temperature. Tissue was then put into cassettes and stored in 70% ethanol at 4°C, until embedding in paraffin and sectioning at 5µm (Adelaide Histology). To stain, slides were first deparaffinised by immersing in D-Limonene for 10 minutes, then rehydrated through graduated ethanol.

For frozen sections, lungs of mice were perfused and dissected, then cryoembedded in OCT and serially sectioned at 9µm. Sections were fixed in 60/40% acetone/methanol before staining.

For haematoxylin and eosin (H&E) staining, sections were rinsed through 3 changes of 1x PBS for 1 minute each before immersing in Gill's haematoxylin for 1-5 minutes. Slides were rinsed in distilled  $H_2O$  then differentiated for 3 seconds in 1% acid-alcohol (20% distilled  $H_2O$ , 10% concentrated hydrochloric acid, 70% ethanol). Slides were immersed in Scott's tapwater 40

substitute (2g sodium bicarbonate, 20g magnesium sulphate per 1L distilled H<sub>2</sub>O) for 2 minutes before rinsing again in distilled H<sub>2</sub>O. Slides were immersed in eosin for 0.5-2 minutes and rinsed in distilled H<sub>2</sub>O briefly before completely dehydrating through graduated ethanol followed by D-Limonene. Slides were mounted with Depex (Thermo Fisher Scientific) and scanned using the NanoZoomer Digital Pathology (NDP) System (Hamamatsu Photonics). Lung sections were manually quantitated using the NDP Virtual Slide Viewer software for number of metastases and area at the largest point.

#### 2.2.6. Immunofluorescent staining

Antigen retrieval of FFPE mouse mammary sections was performed by boiling slides in 0.1M sodium citrate buffer (pH 6.0). Slides were immuno-stained with rabbit anti-CCR7 (Epitomics) overnight at 4°C, and primary antibody was detected with Alexa Fluor 488-conjugated goat anti-rabbit (Invitrogen) for 30 minutes. All staining was performed in humid chambers. Slides were counterstained with DAPI, mounted, and analysed using the Leica TCS SP5 Confocal Microscope System.

For these experiments, Sarah Boyle extracted and fixed the mammary tissue, and analysed the results. Adelaide Histology embedded and sectioned the tissue as above. Ms Valentina Poltavets (formally) of the University of Adelaide performed the staining.

#### 2.2.7. Immunohistochemical staining

For  $\alpha$ -smooth muscle actin ( $\alpha$ -SMA) staining following antigen retrieval (as for IF staining), slides were immersed in 3% hydrogen peroxide in PBS for 20 minutes with gentle agitation to inhibit endogenous peroxidase activity and blocked for 30 minutes in 10% normal rabbit serum in PBS to prevent non-specific antibody binding. For Ki67 staining, slides were blocked before antigen retrieval.

All slides were then incubated overnight at 4°C with mouse anti-α-SMA (Dako) or mouse anti-Ki67 (Vector Labs). Specific antibody binding was detected using the EnVision Dual Link System (Vector Labs) followed by incubation with diaminobenzidine (DAB) substrate (Dako). All staining was performed in humid chambers. Sections were counterstained with haematoxylin, dehydrated and mounted. Slides were scanned for analysis as specified above in Histology.

For these experiments, Sarah Boyle extracted and fixed the mammary tissue, and analysed the results. Adelaide Histology embedded and sectioned the tissue as above. Ms Natasha Pyne and Doctor Michael Samuel of the Centre for Cancer Biology, University of South Australia, performed the staining.

#### 2.2.8. Mammary gland whole mounting, image-stitching and quantification

Intact mammary glands were extracted and spread onto glass slides before fixing in Carnoy's fixative (60% ethanol, 30% chloroform, 10% glacial acetic acid) for 3-4 hours at room temperature. Slides were then transferred to 70% ethanol for at least 10 minutes before gradually changing to distilled H<sub>2</sub>O. Whole mounts were then immersed in carmine alum overnight, then fully dehydrated through graduated ethanol followed by D-Limonene, and mounted with Permount (Thermo Fisher Scientific). Mounts were photographed using a Nikon SMZ1000 dissecting microscope connected to an Olympus DP70 camera, and the images stitched together using the Mosaic plug-in in Image J. Quantification of epithelial growth and area of hyperplasia was performed using Image J.

#### 2.2.9. Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA)

Wells of a high-binding 96-well tray were coated with CCL19, CCL21, and CCL20 capture antibody (all from R&D Systems) overnight at 4°C. Non-specific binding was then blocked for 1 hour at 37°C with PBS/3% BSA. Mammary fat pad samples were weighed and then homogenised in ceramic bead tubes with 500µl ELISA buffer (10% glycerol, 1x protease inhibitor in PBS), and samples and chemokine standards in ELISA buffer were added at 42

100µl/well. Samples were incubated at 37°C for 90 minutes, then incubated with biotinylated detection antibody (all from R&D Systems) in PBS/1% BSA for 1 hour at 37°C. Streptavidin conjugated to horseradish peroxidase (HRP) in PBS/1% BSA was then added to samples and incubated at room temperature for 30 minutes, followed by development for up to 30 minutes in the dark with 75µl/well tetramethylbenzidine (TMB) substrate. The reaction was stopped by adding 50µl/well 1M orthophosphoric acid, and absorbance read at 490nm on a Biotrak plate reader. Between each incubation wells were washed with PBS/0.05% tween.

#### 2.2.10. Calcium signalling analysis

The intracellular calcium mobilisation assay was performed as described [130] on cells isolated from tumours dissected from C57Bl/6 MMTV-PyMT mice at 20 weeks of age. Ligands added were CCL21 (100ng/ml) and lysophosphatidic acid (LPA) (50ng/ml).

For these experiments, Sarah Boyle extracted the mammary cells and analysed the results. Doctor Marina Kochetkova of the University of Adelaide performed the assay.

#### 2.2.11. XTT proliferation assay

Isolated mouse mammary cells were plated in adherent culture (1:1 mixture of DMEM and Ham's F12 nutrient mix, 10% FCS, 20ng/ml EGF, 5µg/ml insulin, 0.5µg/ml hydrocortisone, 1% penicillin-streptomycin, and 0.25µg/ml fungazone) in 96-well plates and the following day were starved. The cell proliferation assay was carried out 24 hours later using the XTT Cell Proliferation Kit (ATCC) according to manufacturer's instructions, using 100ng/ml CCL19, CCL21 or CCL20. FCS (0.5%) and EGF (20ng/ml) were used as positive controls.

For these experiments, Sarah Boyle extracted the mammary cells and analysed the results. Doctor Marina Kochetkova of the University of Adelaide performed the assay.

#### 2.3. In vivo methods

#### 2.3.1. Tumourigenesis studies

Mice were monitored for onset of mammary tumours by manual palpation. For long-term tumourigenesis, mice were allowed to develop tumours for up to 24 weeks, unless the cumulative burden reached  $2mm^2$  before this point. Upon sacrifice, tumours were counted, extracted, photographed, and weighed.

#### **2.3.2.** Tissue transplants

Procedures were performed on mice under isofluorane anaesthetic. Mammary gland fragments of 1mm<sup>3</sup> size from donor MMTV-PyMT mice were transplanted into the fourth inguinal mammary fat pads of congenic non-PyMT recipient mice. After surgery, wounds were closed using surgical staples and either Temgesic or Rimadyl analgesic was administered subcutaneously. Mice were monitored for adverse reactions to surgery and subsequent tumour growth. Glands were either whole-mounted after a number of weeks or allowed to develop tumours. See *Figure 2.2* for a schematic diagram of the procedure.

#### 2.3.3. Limiting dilution assay

Mammosphere colonies derived from 8 week-old pre-neoplastic MMTV-PyMT mice were dissociated as above and filtration was performed using endotoxin-free PBS (SA Pathology). Cells were injected in 20% Matrigel (BD Biosciences) in DMEM using a Hamilton syringe fitted to a 26G needle into the fourth inguinal mammary glands of anaesthetised recipient mice at decreasing concentrations to determine the limiting dilution as previously described [71]. Mice were sacrificed after 6 weeks and glands whole-mounted. See *Figure 2.3* for a diagram of the procedure.

#### **2.3.4.** Macrophage reconstitution assay

Mammary tumour cell suspensions were prepared from MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr6^{WT}$  at 15 weeks old and injected into the fourth inguinal mammary fat pads of anaesthetised 5 week-old  $Ccr6^{WT}$  and  $Ccr6^{-/-}$  recipients in 20% Matrigel in DMEM, at 100,000 cells/gland.

Two days later, tumour-associated macrophages were sorted from MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr6^{WT}$  excised and dissociated mammary tumours based on CD45<sup>+</sup>F4/80<sup>+</sup> expression. 50,000 TAMs per gland were injected in DMEM orthotopically into the inguinal glands of  $Ccr6^{-/-}$  tumour cell recipients. Control groups of  $Ccr6^{-/-}$  and  $Ccr6^{WT}$  tumour cell recipients were sham-injected with vehicle only. Tumour development was monitored for 6 weeks, then mice were sacrificed and tumours extracted for analysis. See *Figure 2.4* for a diagram of the procedure.

#### 2.3.5. Antagonist studies

CCL19<sub>(8-83)</sub> truncated ligand was used at a concentration of  $1\mu g/50\mu l$  *in vivo*. The antagonist was diluted in saline and mice were injected under anaesthetic into inguinal mammary fat pads using an insulin syringe. Control mice were sham-injected with vehicle alone as previously reported [174, 175]. Glands were then allowed to develop tumours over a number of weeks. See *Figure 2.5* for a diagram of the procedure.

#### 2.4. Statistics and graphing

All quantitation results were graphed using GraphPad Prism. Unless otherwise indicated, data is shown as mean  $\pm$  standard error of the mean (SEM). Tumour-free survival curves for long-term tumourigenesis were graphed using the Kaplan-Meier method and distributions were compared by the log-rank statistic (Mantel-Cox test). Tumour-free survival for the reconstitution assay was compared using 2-way analysis-of-variance (ANOVA) with Tukey's multiple comparison test. Flow cytometry experiments were acquired using FACS Diva software (BD Biosciences) and compensated, gated and analysed using FlowJo (Tree Star Inc.). Data was analysed on Prism for statistically significant differences using the student's t test, ANOVA, or Chi-square ( $\chi^2$ )

45

#### Chapter 2: Materials and Methods

analysis. Results from the limiting dilution assay were analysed for tumour-initiating cell (TIC) frequency and statistically significant differences using L-Calc software (Stem Cell Technologies). P-values were used to denote statistical significance. Levels of significance were  $p \le 0.05$ ,  $p \le 0.01$ , and  $p \le 0.001$ .

#### Chapter 2: Materials and Methods



Figure 2.1: Murine breeding strategy for this study.

CKR = Chemokine receptor.

# Table 2: Antibodies used in this study.

Antibody	Conjugate	Concentration	Source	Application
Chemokines and Chemokine Receptors				
Rat anti-mu CCL19 (capture)		2µg/ml	R&D Systems	ELISA
Goat anti-mu CCL19 (detection)	Biotin	0.3µg/ml	R&D Systems	ELISA
Goat anti-mu CCL20 (capture)	1142	2µg/ml	R&D Systems	ELISA
Goat anti-mu CCL20 (detection)	Biotin	0.05µg/ml	R&D Systems	ELISA
Goat anti-mu CCL21 (capture)		0.5µg/ml	R&D Systems	ELISA
Goat anti-mu CCL21 (detection)	Biotin	0.75µg/ml	R&D Systems	ELISA
Rabbit anti-hu/mu CCR7	1.5	1:50	Abcam	Immunohistochemistry
Rat anti-mu CCR7	Alexa Fluor® 647	4µg/ml	BD Biosciences	Flow Cytometry
Arm. hamster anti-mu CCR6	Alexa Fluor® 647	2.5µg/ml	BioLegend	Flow Cytometry
Rat anti-mu CCR6	PE	1:10	R&D Systems	Flow Cytometry
Stem Cell Markers	1			
Rat anti-mu CD24	PE	2µg/ml	BD Biosciences	Flow Cytometry
Mouse anti-hu CD24	PE	1:20	BD Biosciences	Flow Cytometry
Arm. hamster anti-mu CD29	FITC	2.5µg/ml	BioLegend	Flow Cytometry
Mouse anti-hu CD44	FITC	1:20	BD Biosciences	Flow Cytometry
Rat anti-hu/mu CD49f	FITC or PE/Cy5	1:20	BD Biosciences	Flow Cytometry
Hamster anti-mu DLL1	PE	4µg/ml	BioLegend	Flow Cytometry
Mouse anti-hu DLL1	PE	3:50	BioLegend	Flow Cytometry
Rat anti-mu DNER	Biotin	16µg/ml	R&D Systems	Flow Cytometry
Goat anti-hu DNER	Biotin	lµg/ml	R&D Systems	Flow Cytometry
Leukocyte Markers		1.0		
Rat anti-mu B220/CD45R	BV421	0.67µg/ml	BD Biosciences	Flow Cytometry
Rat anti-mu CD11b	PE/Cv7	0.67µg/ml	BD Biosciences	Flow Cytometry
Arm. hamster anti-mu CD11c	PerCP/Cv5.5	0.83µg/ml	BioLegend	Flow Cytometry
Rat anti-mu CD124/IL4R	PE	0.83µg/ml	BD Biosciences	Flow Cytometry
Rat anti-mu CD206/mannose receptor	PerCP/Cy5.5	2µg/ml	BioLegend	Flow Cytometry
Arm. hamster anti-mu CD3e	PE/Cy7	0.83µg/ml	eBioscience	Flow Cytometry
Rat anti-mu CD4	FITC	1.67µg/ml	BD Biosciences	Flow Cytometry
Rat anti-mu CD45	APC	0.67µg/ml	BD Biosciences	Flow Cytometry, FACS
Mouse anti-mu CD45.2	FITC or Biotin	1.67µg/ml	BD Biosciences	Flow Cytometry
Rat anti-mu CD8a	BV510	0.67µg/ml	BD Biosciences	Flow Cytometry
Rat anti-mu F4/80	Biotin	0.42µg/ml	Life Technologies	Flow Cytometry
Rat anti-mu F4/80	FITC	2.08µg/ml	eBioscience	Flow Cytometry, FACS
Rat anti-mu FoxP3	PerCP/Cy5.5	1.11µg/ml	eBioscience	Flow Cytometry
Rat anti-mu Gr1/Ly6C-G	PE	0.83µg/ml	BD Biosciences	Flow Cytometry
Mouse anti-mu MHCII/I-A[6]	APC	0.83µg/ml	BD Biosciences	Flow Cytometry
Other	1 m	1		
Mouse anti-hu/mu a-smooth muscle actin	1	1:500	Dako	Immunohistochemistry
Mouse anti-hu/mu Ki67	-	1:20	Vector Laboratories	Immunohistochemistry
Secondary Detection Agents				
Streptavidin	PerCP/Cv5.5	0.2µg/ml	BD Biosciences	Flow Cytometry
Streptavidin	BV510	0.1ug/ml	BD Biosciences	Flow Cytometry
Streptavidin	Alexa Fluor® 488	1.8µg/ml	Jackson Immunoresearch	Flow Cytometry
Streptavidin	Alexa Fluor® 647	1.8ug/ml	Jackson Immunoresearch	Flow Cytometry
Streptavidin	HRP	0.1ug/ml	Rockland	ELISA
Goat anti-rabbit IgG	Alexa Fluor® 488	lug/ml	Invitrogen	Immunohistochemistry



Figure 2.2: Tissue transplant procedure.



Figure 2.3: Procedure of the limiting dilution assay.



Figure 2.4: Procedure of the macrophage reconstitution assay.



Figure 2.5: Strategy used for antagonist studies.

# CHAPTER 3: The Chemokine Receptor CCR7 Promotes Mammary Tumourigenesis Through Amplification of Stem-Like Cells

Chapter 3: The Chemokine Receptor CCR7 Promotes Mammary Tumourigenesis Through Amplification of Stem-Like Cells

#### **3.1. Introduction**

Despite concerted efforts and significant advances, breast cancer-related mortality is still a leading cause of death in women world-wide [1]. Clearly novel therapies are urgently needed. The "cancer stem cell" theory specifies that a small subset of cells in a heterogeneous tumour (termed "cancer stem cells" (CSCs)) possess stem cell-like properties of self-renewal and differentiation. CSCs are suggested to sustain and propagate tumours, and are inherently therapy-resistant [173, 176].

CSCs may originate from adult stem cells, but can also arise from more committed lineage progenitor cells if they acquire stem cell-like features due to genetic or epigenetic changes [60]. Multiple intrinsic and extrinsic factors are reported to have a role in CSC maintenance, regulation and support of stem-like characteristics. Most prominent are the Notch [177], Hedgehog [178], Wnt [179] and TGF $\beta$  [180] signalling systems. Several cytokines and chemokines have also been recently suggested as maintaining and promoting the CSC phenotype in a number of solid malignancies, including mammary tumours [181]; however, definitive *in vivo* data has been sparse.

Chemokine receptors and their cognate chemokine ligands have become widely accepted as important mediators of cancer growth and progression in many human neoplasms, being involved in tissue transformation, invasion, angiogenesis, and resistance to chemotherapy [89]. Among these, the chemokine receptor CCR7 has been implicated in metastatic spread of multiple malignancies [161]. In breast carcinogenesis, it has been attributed a number of potential functions, including promotion of cell motility, migration and adhesion, regulation of matrix metalloproteinases leading to basement membrane degradation [182], and cell survival through inhibition of anoikis [130]. Data obtained using cell lines has implicated CCR7 in breast cancer spread to the lymph nodes [162], and in human breast cancer its role was inferred from retrospective studies on archived tumour tissues [124]. High expression levels of CCR7 were

Chapter 3: The Chemokine Receptor CCR7 Promotes Mammary Tumourigenesis Through Amplification of Stem-Like Cells

also correlated with higher grade and occurrence of secondary tumours, and poor prognosis [125, 163].

Whereas all these studies point to a role for CCR7 in malignancy, a direct function for CCR7 in cancer has not yet been established. Furthermore, its role in breast cancer in particular is unclear. In this study a novel bigenic mouse model was developed combining deletion of CCR7 with the polyoma middle-T transgene, which is under control of the mouse mammary tumour virus promoter (MMTV-PyMT), to study tumour development *in vivo*. Using this model it was shown that CCR7 deletion has a striking preventative effect on PyMT-driven mammary tumours, supporting the notion that CCR7 has a major determining role in breast oncogenesis. Moreover, the data reveal that the tumour-promoting effect of CCR7 is mediated through stem-like cells in both primary mouse and human breast tumours. These results provide new insights into the role of CCR7 in breast cancer stem-like cells and have important implications for the development of future therapeutics in breast cancer.

#### **3.2. Results**

# 3.2.1. CCR7 deletion arrests mammary tumourigenesis in the PyMT transgenic breast cancer mouse model

The MMTV-PyMT transgenic breast cancer mouse model has been extensively used in recent years to study various aspects of mammary neoplasia. Expression of the PyMT protein promotes the rapid epithelial transformation of mammary cells, via the corruption of various pathways including those of *Src, ras*, and PI3 kinase. This model also results in spontaneous metastasis and has been found to closely mimic the development of human breast cancer [169, 170, 183]. Representative images are shown in *Figure 3.1*, in which  $\alpha$ -smooth muscle actin is used to stain myoepithelial cells.

Chapter 3: The Chemokine Receptor CCR7 Promotes Mammary Tumourigenesis Through Amplification of Stem-Like Cells

To directly assess the role of CCR7 in the multistage process of mammary tumourigenesis *in vivo*, bigenic MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr7^{/-}$  knockout mice were generated and the development of mammary tumours was traced relative to MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr7^{WT}$  mice.

Deletion of CCR7 significantly delayed PyMT-driven primary mammary tumourigenesis (representative pictures *Figure 3.2a*). Tumour-free survival was significantly extended (*Figure 3.2b*) and total tumour burden was markedly reduced in MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr7^{/-}$  mice (*Figure 3.2c*) when compared with the  $Ccr7^{WT}$  animals. The lungs of MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr7^{WT}$  and  $Ccr7^{/-}$  females were also examined for metastatic lesions at the time of killing. MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr7^{WT}$  mice (*Figure 3.3*), although the number of metastases varied largely between mice of the same genotype.

As these experiments indicated a role for CCR7 in mammary gland function, normal, precancerous and cancer-bearing mouse mammary glands were next examined for CCR7 expression and signalling. CCR7 was shown to be expressed on all mouse mammary epithelial cells tested, regardless of the tumour stage (*Figure 3.4*, see also *Figure 3.1*), and the removal of CCR7 did not affect the expression levels of its ligands CCL19 and CCL21 within the mouse mammary fat pad (*Figure 3.5*). CCR7 was also found to be functional in PyMT-driven mammary tumours, as tumour cells mobilised intracellular calcium, a hallmark of chemokine receptor activity, in response to stimulation with CCL21 (*Figure 3.6*). These data showed that CCR7 was expressed and was functional within normal and transformed mammary epithelium.

Interestingly, despite the large impact of CCR7 on overall mammary tumourigenesis, initial PyMT-driven hyperplastic growth in 8 or 11 week-old MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr7^{WT}$  and  $Ccr7^{-/-}$  mice was not affected (*Figure 3.7a-b*), with similar tissue architecture in glands from both genotypes (*Figure 3.7c*). This indicated that the MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr7^{/-}$  mammary glands underwent the
initial oncogenic transformation leading to epithelial proliferation, but further tumourigenic transition was largely blocked by CCR7 deletion.

### **3.2.2.** CCR7 promotes tumourigenesis by amplifying breast cancer stem-like

#### cells

To investigate the underlying mechanisms responsible for the tumourigenic effects seen, the role of CCR7 in mammary gland development and on stem-like cells was then examined. It was found that in non-PyMT wild-type ( $Ccr7^{WT}$ ) pubertal mice, the epithelial tree was longer with a better developed ductal structure than that in  $Ccr7^{/-}$  mice (*Figure 3.8*), indicating that ablation of CCR7 had a mild inhibitory effect on pubertal growth of the mammary gland epithelium. CCR7 was robustly expressed in normal mammary epithelium (*Figure 3.9*), making this receptor also potentially relevant to normal mammary development. However, development of mammary epithelium in the  $Ccr7^{/-}$  mice caught up with that of the  $Ccr7^{WT}$  mice by the age of 8 weeks, and at 12 weeks mammary glands from the two genotypes were indistinguishable (*Figure 3.10*), demonstrating that CCR7 deletion mainly delays early mammary gland development.

Because normal development and breast cancer are believed to be linked by common regulatory mechanisms, it was hypothesised that the observed promotion of PyMT-driven tumourigenesis and mammary development was due to CCR7 regulating stem/progenitor cell pools in mammary epithelium. Thus, the stem-like cell content in mice was assayed using the lineage-negative (Lin<sup>-</sup>) CD24<sup>+</sup>CD29<sup>hi</sup> cell surface marker profile [60], which was previously functionally characterised in the MMTV-PyMT model [184, 185]. CCR7 was expressed in all cell lineages in both the normal and PyMT-expressing mammary glands regardless of CD24 and CD29 status. Notably, however, higher levels of CCR7 (>90%) were observed in Lin<sup>-</sup>CD24<sup>+</sup>CD29<sup>hi</sup> normal and cancer mouse mammary stem cell-enriched populations (*Figure 3.11*). Importantly, CCR7 was also expressed on human CD44<sup>+</sup>CD24<sup>-</sup> putative mammary stem cells [64] from both normal and breast tumour tissue (*Figure 3.12*).

Further analysis demonstrated a significantly lower content of Lin<sup>-</sup>CD24<sup>+</sup>CD29<sup>hi</sup> cells in non-PyMT  $Ccr7^{/-}$  mice relative to  $Ccr7^{WT}$  (*Figure 3.13a*). In PyMT-expressing mice at the stage of early neoplasia, when no morphological differences were found in MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr7^{WT}$  and  $Ccr7^{/-}$  glands (*Figure 3.7*) and the stem/progenitor cell populations may, therefore, best reflect the tumour-initiating cell content, the difference in the stem cell-enriched population between MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr7^{WT}$  and  $Ccr7^{/-}$  mice was even more pronounced with the deletion of CCR7 leading to a two-fold reduction in stem-like cells (*Figure 3.13b*).

Recently Pece *et al.* have suggested a new and potentially more efficient set of markers, in which the Notch ligands delta-like ligand 1 (DLL1) and delta and notch-like epidermal growth factor-related receptor (DNER) are used in combination with CD49f (Lin<sup>-</sup>CD49f<sup>+</sup>DLL1<sup>+</sup>DNER<sup>+</sup>) to delineate putative stem cells in human mammary tumours [71]. It was found that the stem-like cells from both human and mouse mammary glands defined by this profile also expressed high levels of CCR7 (*Figure 3.14*). Moreover, the Lin<sup>-</sup>CD49f<sup>+</sup>DLL1<sup>+</sup>DNER<sup>+</sup> cell pools were significantly smaller in both normal and PyMT-expressing  $Ccr7^{-/-}$  murine mammary glands (*Figure 3.15*) providing further support for the findings described above.

It is generally accepted that non-adherent passaged mammosphere cultures are enriched in cells with stem-like characteristics, and secondary/tertiary mammosphere-forming efficiency (MFE) is representative of cells' potential to exhibit stem cell traits [75, 149, 186]. Stem-like activity, as measured by MFE, was then analysed in the mammary epithelium in the presence or absence of CCR7. Primary and secondary sphere formation from normal (*Figure 3.16a*) or PyMT-expressing (*Figure 3.16b*) mammary cells was substantially reduced after CCR7 ablation and, importantly, stimulation of non-PyMT  $Ccr7^{WT}$  and MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr7^{WT}$  cells with CCR7 ligands CCL19 and CCL21 significantly potentiated mammosphere growth (*Figure 3.16*).

This CCR7 stimulatory function was seen exclusively on mammosphere growth, as stimulation with CCL19 and CCL21 had no detectable effect on the proliferation of bulk mammary tumour 58

cells in adherent culture, a condition that supports a more differentiated phenotype (*Figure* 3.17). The addition of CCR7 ligands to sphere cultures derived from MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr7^{-/-}$  mammary cells also had no effect on MFE (*Figure 3.18*), demonstrating a CCR7 receptormediated mechanism. The specificity of CCR7 was further shown by testing a panel of ligands for other tumour-associated chemokine receptors CCR6 [163], CXCR3 [126] and CXCR5 [187]. No effects were observed on MFE (*Figure 3.19*).

To extend these findings to human breast cancer, the activity of CCR7 in human primary tumour cells from resected breast cancer tissue was examined. The addition of CCL19 and CCL21 resulted in an increase in primary and secondary MFE of human breast cancer cells by two- to three-fold (*Figure 3.20*), consistent with results obtained in the mouse model.

To specifically link the deletion of CCR7 to depleted tumour-initiating cells, a limiting dilution transplantation approach was used [71] to estimate tumour-initiating cell (TIC) frequency. Secondary mammosphere-derived cells from MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr7^{WT}$  and Ccr7' mice with early neoplasia were used in this assay to address the potential of cells in mammosphere cultures to exhibit stem cell traits of self-renewal and tumour initiation *in vivo*, in the context of CCR7-dependency. Cells were injected into contralateral inguinal fat pads of non-PyMT  $Ccr7^{WT}$  sphere cells produced much more robust growth at all dilutions (*Figure 3.21*). Most importantly, the frequency of stem-like cells capable of tumour initiation within MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr7^{WT}$  sphere culture (1/189) was over three-fold higher than in MMTV-PyMT Ccr7' (1/913) (*Table 3*), providing strong evidence for the critical role of CCR7 in the regulation and maintenance of stem-like cells and tumour-initiating cells in the mammary gland.

#### **3.2.3.** CCR7 is required for the propagation of mammary tumours

To obtain *in vivo* evidence for the role of CCR7 in tumour propagation, the PyMT mouse model was taken advantage of, as it allows tumour formation upon transplantation [183]. Expression of the PyMT oncogene results in multifocal tumours and hence can generate diverse CSC pools owing to various underlying mutations within the same gland at the late stages of tumourigenesis. Therefore, it was reasoned that if taken at the early stage of pre-neoplastic tumour development, the population of CSCs should be more homogeneous. Consequently, small 1mm<sup>3</sup> fragments of pre-neoplastic mammary tissue from 8-week-old PyMT transgenic MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr7^{WT}$  and  $Ccr7^{-/-}$  mice were simultaneously transplanted into contralateral inguinal mammary fat pads of non-PyMT  $Ccr7^{WT}$  recipients. Representative histological sections from both MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr7^{WT}$  and  $Ccr7^{-/-}$  8 week-old mice, corresponding to donor tissue, are shown in *Figure 3.22*, confirming that the glands used for transplantation were at the equivalent stage of tumourigenesis.

Analysis of tumourigenic outgrowth from transplanted tissue showed that the deletion of CCR7 almost completely blocked secondary tumour development. Only one out of six transplants from the MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr7^{-/-}$  donors was able to give rise to a neoplastic lesion, whereas five out of six fragments from the MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr7^{WT}$  donors produced secondary outgrowths in  $Ccr7^{WT}$  recipients (*Figure 3.23*), demonstrating a key role of CCR7 in tumour propagation.

### **3.2.4.** Physical antagonism of CCR7 *in vivo* depletes the stem-like cell

### population and inhibits mammary tumourigenesis

A CCR7 antagonist,  $CCL19_{(8-83)}$  [188], was then used to explore the potential of targeting CCR7 for CSC-directed therapeutic intervention. Initially, the ability of  $CCL19_{(8-83)}$  to block the stimulatory activity of CCR7 ligands on mammosphere-forming capacity was tested *ex vivo* and found to specifically abrogate the effect of CCL21 (*Figure 3.24*) and CCL19 on mammosphere growth, providing a rationale for *in vivo* studies.

The effect of CCR7 blockade by  $CCL19_{(8-83)}$  on tumour initiation was then examined in the context of the PyMT transgenic mouse model.  $CCL19_{(8-83)}$  was injected for 8 consecutive weeks into inguinal mammary glands of animals from the age of 4 weeks old. Glands were then excised and examined for the extent of tumourigenesis and stem-like cell content and function. Macroscopic analysis demonstrated that  $CCL19_{(8-83)}$ -injected glands had smaller lesions than their control counterparts (representative image *Figure 3.25a*). The total weight of fat pads was not statistically different; however, the cellularity (total cell count and cells per mg of tissue) was significantly reduced by the antagonist (*Figure 3.25b-d*).

Treatment with CCL19<sub>(8-83)</sub> also resulted in a significant decrease in the proportion of stem-like cells (Lin<sup>-</sup>CD24<sup>+</sup>CD29<sup>hi</sup> and Lin<sup>-</sup>CD49f<sup>+</sup>DLL1<sup>+</sup>DNER<sup>+</sup>, *Figure 3.26a-b*) and the function of stem and early progenitor cells (*Figure 3.26c*), without affecting the level of CCR7 receptor expression (*Figure 3.27*). PyMT transgenic mice on both FVB and C57Bl/6 backgrounds were tested, with similar results.

To determine whether treatment with CCL19<sub>(8-83)</sub> has an inhibitory effect on established and/or advanced later stage tumours, 1mm<sup>3</sup> size fragments of MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr7^{WT}$  tumours from 16 week-old mice, corresponding to the invasive ductal carcinoma stage of human breast cancer (*Figure 3.1*), were transplanted into inguinal glands of  $Ccr7^{WT}$  recipients followed by 8 weekly injections of CCL19<sub>(8-83)</sub> or vehicle control (*Figure 3.28a*). Although no significant differences were seen between CCL19<sub>(8-83)</sub>- or vehicle-treated tumours in size or cellularity (*Figure 3.28b*) as was observed in primary tumours, the proportions of stem-like cells determined by both conventional (Lin<sup>-</sup>CD24<sup>+</sup>CD29<sup>hi</sup>) or novel (Lin<sup>-</sup>CD49f<sup>+</sup>DLL1<sup>+</sup>DNER<sup>+</sup>) marker sets (*Figure 3.29a-b*), as well as mammosphere growth (*Figure 3.29c*), were significantly reduced in antagonist-treated glands, demonstrating that the CCR7 axis can be blocked *in vivo* to target stem-like cells in mammary tumours.

#### 3.3. Summary

The chemokine receptor CCR7 is widely implicated in breast cancer pathobiology. Although recent reports correlated high CCR7 levels with more advanced tumour grade and poor prognosis, limited *in vivo* data are available regarding its specific function in mammary gland neoplasia and the underlying mechanisms involved.

To address these questions a bigenic mouse model of breast cancer combined with CCR7 deletion was generated, which revealed that CCR7 ablation results in a considerable delay in tumour onset as well as significantly reduced tumour burden. Importantly, CCR7 was found to exert its function by regulating mammary cancer stem-like cells in both murine and human tumours. *In vivo* experiments showed that loss of CCR7 activity either through deletion or pharmacological antagonism significantly decreased functional pools of stem-like cells in mouse primary mammary tumours, providing a mechanistic explanation for the tumour-promoting role of this chemokine receptor.

In conclusion, these data characterise the oncogenic properties of CCR7 in mammary epithelial neoplasia and point to a new route for therapeutic intervention to target evasive cancer stem cells.



Figure 3.1: Tumour progression in the MMTV-PyMT breast cancer mouse model.

Serial sections of mouse mammary tissue from normal mice and at different tumourigenic stages stained with haematoxylin and eosin (H&E) and for  $\alpha$ -smooth muscle actin ( $\alpha$ -SMA) as indicated.



Figure 3.2: CCR7 ablation delays tumour onset and reduces tumour burden in the MMTV-PyMT-driven mouse model of breast cancer.

(A) Representative images of MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr7^{WT}$  and MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr7^{--}$  mice at 22 weeks old, showing grossly visible tumours (demarcated by red arrows and dotted lines). (B) Kaplan-Meier analysis of tumour-free survival for MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr7^{WT}$  (n=18) and MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr7^{--}$  (n=17) mice. (C) Number of tumours in MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr7^{WT}$  and MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr7^{--}$  mice at the time of killing.



Figure 3.3: CCR7-null MMTV-PyMT mice develop less lung metastasis.

(A) Total cumulative area of lung metastatic lesions in MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr7^{WT}$  (n=8) and MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr7^{-/-}$  (n=8) mice. (B) Distribution data of lung metastases in MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr7^{WT}$  and  $Ccr7^{-/-}$  mice. (C) Representative images of H&E-stained lung sections from MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr7^{WT}$  (left) and MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr7^{-/-}$  (right) mice with metastatic lesions (black arrowheads). Red arrowhead indicates inset magnified image.



Figure 3.4: CCR7 is expressed throughout mammary gland development and cancer.

Mammary cells were gated to exclude debris, dead cells and doublets and proportions of CCR7positive cells in mammary epithelial cell preparations were analysed by flow cytometry. Shaded histograms=FMO negative controls. wo=weeks old.



Figure 3.5: The expression of ligands CCL19 and CCL21 is not affected by CCR7 deletion.

Expression of CCR7 ligands (CCL21 and CCL19) in  $Ccr7^{WT}$  and  $Ccr7^{--}$  mammary fat pads with excised inguinal lymph nodes was assessed by ELISA. n=6 glands per genotype.



#### Figure 3.6: CCR7 is active in MMTV-PyMT tumour cells.

Calcium mobilisation analysis of MMTV-PyMT *Ccr7*<sup>WT</sup> mouse mammary cells in response to lysophosphatidic acid (LPA) and the CCR7 ligand, CCL21. Arrowheads indicate a point of stimulus addition.



Figure 3.7: Ablation of CCR7 has no effect on early mammary hyperplasia in MMTV-PyMT mice.

(A) Representative images of inguinal mammary glands of MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr7^{WT}$  (left) and MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr7^{-/-}$  (right) mice harvested at 8 and 11 weeks of age as indicated. Arrowheads indicate areas of epithelial hyperplasia. LN=lymph node. (B) Quantitation of area of hyperplasia in MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr7^{WT}$  and  $Ccr7^{-/-}$  mice at 8 weeks old. n=6 glands per genotype. (C) Serial sections of mouse mammary tissue from MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr7^{WT}$  and  $Ccr7^{-/-}$  mice at 8 weeks old. n=6 glands per genotype. (C) Serial stained with H&E and for  $\alpha$  -smooth muscle actin ( $\alpha$  -SMA) as indicated.

Chapter 3: The Chemokine Receptor CCR7 Promotes Mammary Tumourigenesis Through Amplification of Stem-Like Cells



Figure 3.8: CCR7 deletion has an inhibitory effect on growth of pubertal mammary glands.

Development of the mammary ductal tree was evaluated in  $Ccr7^{WT}$  and  $Ccr7^{-/-}$  C57Bl/6 mice at 6 weeks of age. (A) Representative whole mount images of mammary glands, with apparent reduction in the size of ductal trees in  $Ccr7^{-/-}$  mice (n=6) compared with  $Ccr7^{WT}$  mice (n=7). LN=lymph node. (B-D) Quantitation of the length of main epithelial duct (B), total number of mammary epithelial terminal structures (C), and branching within mammary epithelium as determined by quantifying branch points per mm along three individual ducts (D).



Figure 3.9: CCR7 is robustly expressed in normal mammary epithelium.

Formalin-fixed paraffin-embedded sections of normal pubertal mouse mammary glands were stained for CCR7 expression (magenta). Shown are two individual terminal end buds. Nuclei are counterstained with DAPI (grey).



## Figure 3.10: The effect of CCR7 on normal mammary development is not present in the adult mammary gland.

Representative whole mount images of mammary glands taken from adult  $Ccr7^{WT}$  (n=6) and  $Ccr7^{-/-}$  (n=6) mice at 12 weeks of age with no apparent differences in the size and architecture of the mammary tree. LN=lymph node.



Figure 3.11: CCR7 expression in mammary cell lineages as defined by CD24 and CD29.

All cells were pre-gated to exclude debris, dead cells and doublets. Shown is the proportion of cells positive for CCR7 in lineage-negative (Lin<sup>-</sup>) cell populations in normal mouse mammary epithelium (**A**) and PyMT-expressing glands (**B**), as denoted by CD24 and CD29 surface marker expression. Shaded histograms=FMO negative controls. Results are representative of at least three independent experiments, n=6-10 mice per experiment.



Figure 3.12: CCR7 expression in normal and cancerous human breast cells as defined by CD44 and CD24.

All cells were pre-gated to exclude debris, dead cells and doublets. Shown is the proportion of cells positive for CCR7 in different cell populations in normal human mammary epithelium and breast cancer as indicated, denoted by surface marker expression of CD44 and CD24. Shaded histograms=FMO negative controls. Results are representative of two normal and four independent tumour samples.



Figure 3.13: CCR7 deletion decreases the mammary stem cell-enriched pool as defined by CD24<sup>+</sup>CD29<sup>hi</sup> expression.

Cells from normal mammary glands (**A**) and PyMT-driven mammary tumours (**B**) were analysed by flow cytometry for stem-like cell content based on the Lin<sup>-</sup>CD24<sup>+</sup>CD29<sup>hi</sup> marker profile. Results are representative of at least three independent experiments, n=6-10 mice per group per experiment.



Figure 3.14: CCR7 expression in the CD49f<sup>+</sup>DLL1<sup>+</sup>DNER<sup>+</sup> cancer stem cell-enriched population.

Flow cytometry gating strategy for delineating the mouse (**A**) and human (**B**) stem cell-enriched populations based on alternative  $CD49f^+DLL1^+DNER^+$  surface marker expression, together with representative plots demonstrating proportions of CCR7 positive cells within these populations. Shaded histograms=FMO negative controls. Results in (**A**) are representative of at least three independent experiments, n=6 MMTV-PyMT mice per experiment. Results in (**B**) are representative of four independent human tumour samples.



Figure 3.15: CCR7 deletion decreases the mammary stem cell-enriched pool as defined by CD49f<sup>+</sup>DLL1<sup>+</sup>DNER<sup>+</sup>.

Cells from normal mammary glands (**A**) and PyMT-driven mammary tumours (**B**) were analysed by flow cytometry for stem-like cell content based on the putative marker profile of Lin<sup>-</sup> CD49f<sup>+</sup>DLL1<sup>+</sup>DNER<sup>+</sup>. Data are representative of at least three independent experiments, n=6 mice per genotype per experiment.





The effect of CCR7 deletion/activation in primary and passaged secondary mammosphere culture was assessed. Shown are mammosphere-forming efficiencies of cells derived from normal mouse mammary glands (**A**) and PyMT-expressing mouse mammary glands (**B**). Cells were stimulated with CCL21 and CCL19 as indicated. Results are representative of at least three independent experiments, n=6 mice per genotype per experiment.



Figure 3.17: The effect of CCR7 in culture is specific to non-adherent conditions.

Results of XTT proliferation assay on MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr7^{WT}$  (n=3) mouse mammary cells in adherent culture with and without addition of CCR7 ligands, showing no effect on proliferation. Foetal calf serum (FCS) was used as a positive control.



Figure 3.18: The potentiation of mammosphere formation is mediated by CCR7.

Primary mammosphere cultures derived from MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr7^{-}$  (n=4) mouse mammary cells were stimulated with CCR7 cognate chemokines CCL19 and CCL21. No differences were seen in mammosphere-forming efficiency.



Figure 3.19: The effect on mammosphere formation by stimulation with various chemokines.

Primary mammosphere cultures derived from MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr7^{WT}$  (n=6) mouse mammary cells were stimulated with chemokine ligands for receptors CCR6, CXCR3, CXCR4 and CXCR5 respectively.



Figure 3.20: Self-renewal in human breast cancer cells is regulated by CCR7.

The effect of CCR7 activation in primary and secondary mammosphere culture was assessed. Shown are mammosphere-forming efficiencies of primary cells from human patient-derived breast tumours, where cells were stimulated with CCL21 or CCL19. Results are representative of four tumour samples.



# Figure 3.21: The loss of CCR7 reduces the size of secondary lesions upon transplantation, regardless of cell concentration.

(A) Representative image of intact and respective whole-mounted contralateral mammary glands engrafted with 2500 MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr7^{WT}$  or  $Ccr7^{-/-}$  mammosphere-derived cells. Black arrowheads indicate areas of outgrowth from engrafted cells. LN=lymph node. (B) Representative images of  $Ccr7^{WT}$  recipient glands engrafted with MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr7^{WT}$  or  $Ccr7^{-/-}$  sphere-derived cells as indicated. Shown are contralateral glands in which both MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr7^{WT}$  and  $Ccr7^{-/-}$  cells produced outgrowths (black arrowheads), to demonstrate differences in size between lesions. At the lowest dilution, only MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr7^{WT}$  cells produced any secondary outgrowth. LN=lymph node.

# Table 3: The presence of CCR7 in MMTV-PyMT mammosphere cells maintains the frequencyof tumour-initiating cells.

Results of limiting dilution assay indicating frequency of tumour-initiating cells (TIC) in MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr7^{WT}$  and  $Ccr7^{-/-}$  mammosphere cultures. Fractions indicate the number of fat pads with lesion(s) per total number of recipient fat pads. SE=standard error.

Donor	2500	500	100	10	TIC Frequency	Range ± SE
MMTV-PyMT Ccr7 <sup>w†</sup>	4/4	3/4	3/5	1/4	1/189*	117-306
MMTV-PyMT Ccr7 <sup>1-</sup>	3/4	3/4	1/5	0/4	1/913	563-1480



Figure 3.22: Representative H&E-stained sections from mice of transplant donor age.

Representative H&E-stained sections of pre-neoplastic mouse mammary glands at the MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr7^{WT}$  and  $Ccr7^{-/-}$  donor age of 8 weeks old. Bottom: magnified images of boxed area.



Figure 3.23: CCR7 is required for the propagation of mammary tumours.

(A) Representative whole-mount images of  $Ccr7^{WT}$  recipient glands after transplantation of preneoplastic mammary tissue from MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr7^{WT}$  (top) and  $Ccr7^{-/-}$  (bottom) donor mice at 8 weeks of age. Black arrowheads indicate areas of outgrowth from donor tissue. Fractions indicate the number of fat pads with lesion(s) per total number of recipient fat pads. LN=lymph node. (**B**) Cumulative area of transplant outgrowth in recipient mammary glands. n=6 glands per group.



Figure 3.24: Addition of a CCR7 antagonist inhibits CCR7-mediated mammosphere formation.

Mammosphere-forming efficiency of Lin<sup>-</sup> mammary cells from MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr7^{WT}$  mice (n=9), untreated or treated with CCL21 and/or the CCR7 antagonist CCL19<sub>(8-83)</sub>.



Figure 3.25: Administration of a CCR7 antagonist reduces tumourigenesis in the MMTV-PyMT mouse model.

(A) Representative image of intact MMTV-PyMT mammary glands treated with vehicle or  $CCL19_{(8-83)}$  as indicated, at the time of sacrifice. (B-C) Total mammary epithelial cell count (B) and weight of mammary glands (C) in MMTV-PyMT mice following injection with vehicle or  $CCL19_{(8-83)}$  antagonist for 8 weeks in contralateral inguinal mammary fat pads. (D) Cellularity of contralateral vehicle- or  $CCL19_{(8-83)}$ -treated glands. Data are representative of two independent experiments, n=4-6 mice per experiment.



Figure 3.26: Administration of a CCR7 antagonist to PyMT-expressing mammary glands decreases the proportions and activity of stem-like cells.

(A-B) Proportions of putative stem cells as identified by  $Lin^{-}CD24^{+}CD29^{hi}$  (A) or  $Lin^{-}CD49f^{+}DLL1^{+}DNER^{+}$  (B) in mammary cells from vehicle- or  $CCL19_{(8-83)}$ -treated MMTV-PyMT glands. (C) Mammosphere-forming efficiency of cells from vehicle- or  $CCL19_{(8-83)}$ -treated mammary glands.



Figure 3.27: Blocking CCR7 function in PyMT-expressing mammary glands with a peptide antagonist does not affect expression of the receptor.

CCR7 expression levels in the Lin<sup>-</sup>CD24<sup>+</sup>CD29<sup>hi</sup> population as assessed by flow cytometry, following treatment of MMTV-PyMT mammary glands with vehicle control (left) or CCL19<sub>(8-83)</sub> (right). Shaded histograms=FMO negative controls.
Chapter 3: The Chemokine Receptor CCR7 Promotes Mammary Tumourigenesis Through Amplification of Stem-Like Cells



Figure 3.28: The results of CCR7 antagonism in a mammary tumour transplant model.

A transplant model was used to examine the effects of treating advanced mammary tumours with the CCR7 antagonist CCL19<sub>(8-83)</sub>. (A) Experimental strategy. (B) Cellularity of transplant recipient glands, showing no effect following treatment with CCL19<sub>(8-83)</sub>. n=6 recipient glands per group. Chapter 3: The Chemokine Receptor CCR7 Promotes Mammary Tumourigenesis Through Amplification of Stem-Like Cells



Figure 3.29: Administration of a CCR7 antagonist decreases the mammary stem cell-enriched pool and self-renewal in a transplant model.

(A-B) Proportions of putative stem cells as identified by  $Lin^{-}CD24^{+}CD29^{hi}$  (A) or  $Lin^{-}CD49f^{+}DLL1^{+}DNER^{+}$  (B) in mammary cells from vehicle- or  $CCL19_{(8-83)}$ -treated transplant recipient glands. (C) Mammosphere-forming efficiency of cells from vehicle- or  $CCL19_{(8-83)}$ -treated transplanted recipient mammary glands.

#### 4.1. Introduction

Breast cancer is one of the leading causes of cancer-related death in women world-wide. Evasion of the immune system is a hallmark of cancer, and aids tumour cells to survive, intravasate, and potentially form distal metastases [27]. As such, the tumour microenvironment has a profound effect on the development and progression of malignancies, and it has been suggested that levels of infiltrating immune cells correlate with stage and aggressiveness of human breast cancer [189]. In particular, tumour-associated macrophages (TAMs) have been found to play an important part in facilitating breast tumour development [190] through polarisation from a classically-activated "M1" anti-tumour resident cell within adult mammary tissue to an alternatively-activated "M2" pro-tumour phenotype [112]. This "switch" results in shifts in cell metabolism, a decrease in pro-inflammatory chemokine/cytokine production, poor antigen-presentation ability, and suppression of T cell responses. In addition, M2 TAMs promote angiogenesis, cell proliferation and tissue remodelling [113].

Chemokines and their cognate receptors are involved in the development, migration and activation of many different types of immune cells, both adaptive and innate. Low molecularweight proteins, chemokines bind to their cognate seven-transmembrane domain G-protein coupled receptors (GPCRs), activating a multitude of signalling pathways, which mediate many different homeostatic and inflammatory functions. Importantly, a large body of literature in the last decade has linked the action of chemokines and chemokine receptors to cancer progression and metastasis [89].

The CC-chemokine receptor CCR6 is expressed on dendritic cells [191, 192], regulatory T cells and various T helper lymphocyte subsets [166, 193], and mediates their migration and function via stimulation with its ligand CCL20 (also known as macrophage inflammatory protein (MIP)- $3\alpha$  [164]). CCR6 is also expressed on natural killer cells, B lymphocytes, neutrophils [194] and macrophages [193, 195]. Despite the significant role of TAMs in breast cancer, the expression 96

and function of CCR6 within the macrophage population has not been shown within the mammary gland.

Interestingly, together with CCL20, CCR6 expression has been correlated with stage and prognosis in a variety of cancers including hepatocellular carcinoma [196, 197], colorectal carcinoma [198-200], glioma [201], and non-small cell lung cancer [202], and a function for CCR6 in regulation of cancer progression has been putatively demonstrated using cell lines and xenograft models [198, 199, 203, 204]. In breast cancer, higher CCR6 expression levels were linked with tumour stage and grade [163], and incidence of metastasis to the pleura [124]. Stimulation of *ex vivo* mammary peritumoural cells with CCL20 was found to increase their proliferation rate, invasiveness and migration [168]. CCL20 is also up-regulated in human triple negative breast cancer cell lines [167]. Moreover, it was recently proposed that the presence of CCR6 may act as a prognostic factor for breast cancer patient survival [163]. However, no causative or functional link between the CCR6-CCL20 axis and progression of breast cancer has been documented to date.

In this study, a well-characterised transgenic model for breast cancer was utilised, in which the polyoma middle-T oncogene is activated under control of the mouse mammary tumour virus promoter (MMTV-PyMT) [169]. This transgenic model has been shown to closely mimic the stages of human breast disease from initial hyperplasia, through to ductal carcinoma *in situ* and invasive ductal carcinoma [170]. Crossing this transgenic mouse with a CCR6-null mouse to generate a bigenic MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr6^{-/-}$  animal model has allowed direct assessment of the role of CCR6 in mammary tumourigenesis *in vivo*. The results demonstrated that CCR6 promotes breast cancer initiation and progression through maintenance of pro-tumourigenic TAMs within tumour-bearing mammary glands, warranting further investigation of CCR6 as a possible therapeutic target.

#### 4.2. Results

### **4.2.1.** CCR6 expression increases throughout cancer development and results

#### in a higher number of mammary tumours

To first determine whether CCR6 may play a role in the regulation of mammary neoplasia, expression of the receptor was investigated in CD45-negative normal mouse mammary cells, and cells from various tumour stages (representative H&E pictures in *Figure 4.1*). CCR6 was expressed on a low proportion of normal mammary cells, but this proportion was greatly amplified in accordance with increasingly higher grades of MMTV-PyMT cancer including initial hyperplasia, early carcinoma and late carcinoma as indicated (*Figure 4.1*). This is consistent with human breast cancer [163] and other mouse models of cancer [200]. Additionally, in both non-PyMT *Ccr6*<sup>WT</sup> and MMTV-PyMT *Ccr6*<sup>WT</sup> mammary tissues, the ligand for CCR6, CCL20, was highly expressed at concentrations over 50ng/mg tissue (*Figure 4.2*). These data raised the possibility of a role for CCR6 in breast cancer development.

To next establish the role of CCR6 deletion on mammary tumourigenesis, the rate and total extent of PyMT-driven neoplasia between MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr6^{WT}$  and  $Ccr6^{-/-}$  mice was compared. Tumour onset was significantly delayed in MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr6^{-/-}$  mice (*Figure 4.3a*), with some mice not developing palpable tumours until 150 days old (21 weeks) compared to a maximum onset age of 130 days old (18 weeks) for MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr6^{WT}$  counterparts (*Figure 4.3b*).

In order to assess the impact of CCR6 on the later stages of cancerogenesis, MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr6^{WT}$  and  $Ccr6^{-/-}$  mice were sacrificed at 22-24 weeks of age and the total number of mammary tumours per mouse was determined. It was found that MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr6^{-/-}$  mice had significantly decreased tumour incidence compared to MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr6^{WT}$  animals (*Figure*)

**4.3***c*). Together, these results implicated CCR6 as being an important player in breast oncogenesis.

#### 4.2.2. CCR6 deletion significantly delays tumour initiation *in vivo*

It was then examined as to whether CCR6 influenced early hyperplasia of mammary glands during tumour initiation as well as late stage tumourigenesis. Glands from 8 week-old MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr6^{-/-}$  and  $Ccr6^{WT}$  mice were extracted and whole-mounted for quantification of hyperplastic/early-neoplastic lesion area (representative images from both genotypes shown in *Figure 4.4a*). It was found that the deletion of CCR6 significantly reduced the initial hyperplastic outgrowth within the gland (*Figure 4.4b*), a common indicator of future breast cancer development. As the total area of PyMT-driven hyperplastic outgrowth per gland was reduced by three-fold in CCR6-null animals, it was concluded that the effect of CCR6 on mammary tumourigenesis is manifested very early on in cancer development.

The difference seen in early tumour initiation between MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr6^{WT}$  and  $Ccr6^{-c}$  mice can potentially result from a difference in normal mammary development, which may then have translated into decreased hyperplasia. Therefore, pubertal mammary glands were extracted from non-PyMT 6 week-old  $Ccr6^{WT}$  and  $Ccr6^{-c}$  mice. Representative glands are shown in *Figure 4.5a*. When ductal epithelial growth was quantitated, no statistically significant difference was observed in ductal length, number of terminal end structures or branching between  $Ccr6^{WT}$  and  $Ccr6^{-c}$  mice (*Figure 4.5b-d*), and hence the overall effect of CCR6 deletion on normal mammary gland biology appeared to be minimal and was unlikely to account for differences in PyMTdriven tumour development between the two genotypes. Furthermore, the levels of CCL20 were not statistically different between non-PyMT  $Ccr6^{WT}$  and MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr6^{WT}$  mammary tissues (*Figure 4.2*), demonstrating that the expression of CCL20 was not affected by the process of tumourigenesis. Taken together, these data showed that early stage tumourigenesis is mediated by a CCR6-dependent mechanism, without affecting normal mammary morphogenesis.

#### 4.2.3. CCR6 promotes mammary gland neoplasia independently of cancer

#### epithelial cells or stem-like cells

To investigate the mechanism underlying CCR6-driven mammary tumourigenesis, the epithelial cell population was studied to determine if CCR6 was having a direct effect on cell proliferation. Cells at the stage of early neoplasia from MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr6^{WT}$  mammary glands were assayed for proliferation upon stimulation with CCL20. No differences in cell proliferation were observed (*Figure 4.6*). Furthermore, Ki67 staining of sectioned hyperplastic mammary glands from MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr6^{WT}$  and  $Ccr6^{-/-}$  mice showed that epithelial cells in knockout mice were still able to adequately proliferate and staining of Ki67 was equal to that in the  $Ccr6^{WT}$  (*Figure 4.7*). This suggested that the role of CCR6 in breast cancer is independent of epithelial cells.

It was then determined whether CCR6 may exert its effect by skewing distinct cell populations within the bulk epithelium, as reported previously for the chemokine receptor CCR7 [171]. The current prevailing paradigm has mammary epithelial and breast cancer cells hierarchically organised with a self-renewing, quiescent, multipotent progenitor (or stem-like cell) population giving rise to basal and luminal progenitors which in turn differentiate into specific lineages making up the mammary gland and heterogenous breast tumours [205]. Recently, a number of immune mediators including chemokine receptors have been implicated in maintenance of the cancer stem-like cells within mammary tumours [115]. Therefore, the potential link between the tumour-promoting function of CCR6 and breast cancer stem-like cell pools was tested.

Freshly isolated MMTV-PyMT *Ccr6*<sup>WT</sup> and *Ccr6*<sup>-/-</sup> mammary cells from pre-neoplastic mice at 8-9 weeks old were assayed by flow cytometry for expression of cell surface markers CD24 and CD29 [60] (representative plots shown in *Figure 4.8a*), which were previously used to define stem cells in the MMTV-PyMT [184, 185] and other breast cancer mouse models [65, 206]. It was found that the deletion of CCR6 did not alter the proportions of the stem cell-enriched basal

population (CD24<sup>+</sup>CD29<sup>hi</sup>, *Figure 4.8b*) nor the luminal population (CD24<sup>+</sup>CD29<sup>lo</sup>, *Figure 4.8c*) in hyperplastic mammary glands.

The effect of CCR6 ablation on functional stem-like mammary cancer cell pools was also investigated using the mammosphere assay, which is used to select for colonies of early stem-like progenitors [75]. Pre-neoplastic MMTV-PyMT *Ccr6*<sup>WT</sup> and *Ccr6*<sup>-/-</sup> mammary cells were seeded into non-adherent mammosphere culture and allowed to grow for 7 days. The deletion of CCR6 did not alter mammosphere-forming efficiency (*Figure 4.9a*), and when sphere cultures were stimulated with varying concentrations of CCL20, no change in their ability to form mammospheres (*Figure 4.9b*) was observed, supporting results obtained using flow cytometric analysis.

Having found no difference in the proportion or function of stem cell-like pools within early tumourigenic lesions, a *bona fide* property of cancer stem cells was then tested – their ability to propagate tumours upon transplantation. MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr6^{WT}$  and  $Ccr6^{-/-}$  donor mammary tissue was transferred into recipient fat pads of syngeneic non-PyMT  $Ccr6^{WT}$  mice. Using this approach, no significant difference was found between MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr6^{WT}$  and  $Ccr6^{-/-}$  tissue in the ability to form outgrowths when transplanted into  $Ccr6^{WT}$  recipients (*Figure 4.10*), indicating that the deletion of CCR6 did not reduce the tumour-propagating capability of mammary epithelium.

Altogether, these results demonstrated that the role of CCR6 in breast cancer is independent of breast epithelial and progenitor cells, raising the possibility that its mechanism of action involves the tumour microenvironment.

#### 4.2.4. CCR6 mediates the recruitment of pro-tumourigenic macrophages to

#### the mammary tumour microenvironment

To test whether the reduced mammary tumourigenesis caused by the deletion of CCR6 was due to an effect of the CCR6-CCL20 axis on the tumour microenvironment, flow cytometry was used to investigate the levels and identity of tumour-infiltrating leukocytes in mammary tumours at the stage of early carcinoma (see Figure 4.1). Tumour-associated macrophages have been extensively implicated in tumour promotion both in the mammary gland and elsewhere, due to their role in angiogenesis, cell proliferation and tissue remodelling [113]. To initially examine the polarisation of TAMs in the MMTV-PyMT mice, macrophages were assessed for expression of prototypic markers interleukin-4 receptor (IL-4R) and mannose receptor (CD206) (gating strategy shown in *Figure 4.11*), which have been used previously in flow cytometric analysis to distinguish alternatively-activated M2 macrophages from classically-activated M1 [107, 207-210]. It was estimated using these markers that a high proportion of TAMs were of an M2-like phenotype (*Figure 4.11*), as has been suggested previously for MMTV-PyMT mammary tumours [211]. Interestingly, CCR6 was found to be highly expressed within the TAM population as it was detected on greater than 60% of total macrophages (Figure 4.12a). Most importantly, CCR6 was expressed at higher levels and on a significantly higher proportion of putative M2 macrophages (up to 90%) than M1 (Figure 4.12a-b), using both IL-4R and CD206 to delineate the populations. This strong correlation potentially implicates CCR6 in the regulation of pro-tumourigenic macrophages within the mammary gland microenvironment.

The levels of macrophages were then assessed in mammary tumours from MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr6^{WT}$  and  $Ccr6^{-/-}$  mice, and it was found that the proportion and overall numbers of TAMs were significantly reduced in MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr6^{-/-}$  mammary tumours relative to  $Ccr6^{WT}$  (*Figure 4.13*). Furthermore, the deletion of CCR6 resulted in a shift towards an M1 macrophage phenotype, defined by both IL-4R and CD206 prototypic markers (*Figure 4.14*).

The deletion of CCR6 also resulted in reduced trafficking of dendritic cells to the tumour site, consistent with previous studies, which demonstrated a reduced overall migratory ability of dendritic cells in CCR6-null mice [165, 212]. Although, overall numbers of tumour-infiltrating dendritic cells were much lower than the corresponding macrophage population. Notably, the majority of tumour-infiltrating dendritic cells were CCR6-positive, consistent with previous findings [194] (*Figure 4.15*). CCR6 expression was also assessed on B cells and specific T cell subsets (helper T cells (Th), cytotoxic T cells (Tc), and regulatory T cells (Treg)) within mammary tumours. In agreement with earlier reports for various biological settings [194, 213], all tested infiltrating leukocyte subsets expressed CCR6 at varying levels. When CCR6 was ablated, only the Tc cell subset showed a slight increase in the MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr6^{-/-}$  as a proportion of CD45<sup>+</sup> tumour-infiltrating cells, however no significant differences were found in total cell numbers between the two genotypes (*Figures 4.16-4.20*).

These findings thus suggest that CCR6 promotes mammary tumourigenesis through an epithelium-independent mechanism involving tumour-infiltrating macrophages.

## 4.2.5. CCR6-mediated pro-tumourigenic macrophages promote breast cancer *in vivo*

To provide definitive evidence for the macrophage-mediating function of CCR6 in mammary tumour promotion, an *in vivo* macrophage reconstitution assay was used. Reconstitution assays, sometimes referred to as "add-back" assays, are frequently used to underscore a role for various cellular subsets in multiple pathological settings, and macrophage reconstitution has been used previously in mammary gland studies [214]. A schematic of the experimental setup is shown in *Figure 4.21a*. MMTV-PyMT mammary tumour cells from  $Ccr6^{WT}$  donor mice were purified and transplanted into the inguinal mammary fat pads of non-PyMT  $Ccr6^{WT}$  and  $Ccr6^{-/-}$  recipients at 5 weeks of age. Two days post-transplantation, TAMs (CD45<sup>+</sup>F4/80<sup>+</sup>) were sorted from excised and dissociated MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr6^{WT}$  tumours (*Figure 4.21b*) and orthotopically injected into a

group of *Ccr6<sup>-/-</sup>* recipients as specified in *Figure 4.21a*. All other recipients received sham injections with vehicle only, followed by assessment of mammary tumour growth 6 weeks later.

In agreement with the results from spontaneous tumourigenesis studies, it was found that tumours grew significantly slower in the  $Ccr6^{-/-}$  hosts compared to  $Ccr6^{WT}$ , indicating that CCR6 was required in the mammary stroma for robust tumour development. However, when the reduced macrophage phenotype was restored in  $Ccr6^{-/-}$  mice through orthotopical injections, the tumour latency was significantly shortened, approaching that of the  $Ccr6^{WT}$  mice (*Figure 4.22*).

It was further found that the supplementation of  $Ccr6^{-/-}$  mice with TAMs restored the efficiency of tumour growth (measured by weight of tumour-bearing mammary glands) within these mice to that seen in the  $Ccr6^{WT}$ , whilst  $Ccr6^{-/-}$  mice that received sham injections displayed reduced tumourigenesis (*Figure 4.23*) as seen in the spontaneous model (see *Figure 4.3*).

Enumeration of macrophages within grafted tumours in  $Ccr6^{WT}$  and  $Ccr6^{-/-}$  mice (*Figure 4.24*) paralleled the results seen in spontaneous mammary tumours (see *Figure 4.13*). Whilst there was an upward trend towards increased TAMs in the  $Ccr6^{-/-}$  mice that received TAM injections, the difference was not statistically significant (*Figure 4.24*). This, combined with the decreased tumour growth in the CCR6-null mice, indicated that the support of macrophages is essential at the early stages of tumour growth.

Thus, these data established an essential role for CCR6 in the tumour microenvironment, providing a causative link between this receptor, infiltrating macrophages and mammary tumour development. Hence, therapeutic opportunities may be explored to control breast cancer progression, via manipulation of the CCR6-CCL20 axis to control tumour-promoting macrophages.

#### 4.3. Summary

The expression of the chemokine receptor CCR6 has been previously correlated with higher grades and stages of breast cancer and decreased relapse-free survival. Also, its cognate chemokine ligand CCL20 has been reported to induce proliferation of cultured breast epithelial cells. This study investigated whether CCR6 plays a functional role in mammary tumourigenesis, using a bigenic MMTV-PyMT CCR6-null mouse to assess mammary tumour development. Levels of tumour-infiltrating immune cells within tumour-bearing mammary glands from MMTV-PyMT *Ccr6*<sup>WT</sup> and *Ccr6*<sup>-/-</sup> mice were also analysed.

Deletion of CCR6 delayed tumour onset, significantly reduced the extent of initial hyperplastic outgrowth, and decreased tumour incidence in PyMT transgenic mice. CCR6 was then shown to promote the recruitment of pro-tumourigenic macrophages to the tumour site, facilitating the onset of neoplasia. In conclusion, this study delineated for the first time a role for CCR6 in the development of breast cancer, and demonstrated a critical function for this receptor in maintaining the pro-tumourigenic cancer microenvironment.



Figure 4.1: CCR6 expression increases throughout progression of mammary cancer.

Top: Representative H&E images of mammary tissue from normal gland and various stages of PyMT-driven tumourigenesis as indicated. Scale bar is 200µm. Bottom: Proportion of CCR6-positive epithelial cells (CD45-negative) purified from mammary glands at respective stages of tumourigenesis. 18 normal samples (2 glands/sample), 7 hyperplastic samples (2 glands/sample), 6 early carcinomas and 3 late carcinomas were analysed.



Figure 4.2: The ligand for CCR6, CCL20, is expressed in both normal and cancerous mammary glands.

Expression of CCL20, the ligand for CCR6, in normal and early neoplastic MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr6^{WT}$  mammary glands, as determined by ELISA. n=4 samples per genotype.



Figure 4.3: CCR6 deletion reduces mammary tumourigenesis.

(A) Kaplan-Meier analysis of the palpable tumour onset in MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr6^{-/-}$  mice (n=14) compared to MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr6^{WT}$  mice (n=11). (B) Age of tumour onset in MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr6^{-/-}$  mice and MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr6^{WT}$  mice. (C) Mammary tumour incidence at the time of sacrifice in MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr6^{WT}$  (n=9) and  $Ccr6^{-/-}$  (n=14) mice.



Figure 4.4: CCR6 deletion significantly delays tumour initiation in vivo.

(A) Representative whole-mount images of MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr6^{WT}$  (n=6) and  $Ccr6^{-/-}$  (n=6) mammary glands from mice at 8 weeks of age. LN=lymph node. Black arrowheads indicate hyperplastic lesions within the gland. (B) Quantitation of area of pre-neoplastic lesions in 8 week-old MMTV-PyMT mouse mammary glands.



Figure 4.5: The role of CCR6 in normal mammary development.

(A) Representative whole-mount images of Ccr6<sup>WT</sup> (n=6) and Ccr6<sup>-/-</sup> (n=6) mammary glands from mice at 6 weeks of age showing development of mammary epithelium. LN=lymph node.
(B-D) Quantitation of epithelial growth, by length of main duct (B), number of end structures (C) and branching (D).



Figure 4.6: Stimulation of CCR6 does not affect proliferation of epithelial tumour cells.

Results of XTT proliferation assay on mammary epithelial cells purified from MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr6^{WT}$  mice at the stage of early neoplasia with and without stimulation by ligand CCL20 (100ng/ml). Foetal calf serum (FCS, 0.5%) and epidermal growth factor (EGF, 20ng/ml) were used as positive controls. All statistical analyses are relative to Unstimulated. Data are representative of 3 independent experiments, n=3 mice per experiment.



Figure 4.7: CCR6 deletion does not affect proliferation in the mammary gland as assessed by Ki67 staining.

Analysis of Ki67-positive proliferating cells within MMTV-PyMT *Ccr6*<sup>WT</sup> and *Ccr6*<sup>-/-</sup> mice at the stage of early neoplasia. Shown are representative fields from 2 separate tumours per genotype, displaying equal distribution of cells positive for Ki67.



Figure 4.8: CCR6 deletion does not impact upon the mammary cell hierarchy.

Single cell suspensions (CD45-negative) from mammary glands with early neoplasia from MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr6^{WT}$  and  $Ccr6^{-/-}$  mice were analysed by flow cytometry for the expression of CD24 and CD29. (A) Representative flow cytometry contour plots of gating strategy for CD24 and CD29 for both genotypes. (B-C) Analysis of proportions of the basal cell (B) and luminal cell (C) lineages. Data are representative of 3 independent experiments, n=6 mice per genotype per experiment.



Figure 4.9: The CCR6 receptor does not influence self-renewal of cancer stem-like cells.

(A) Mammosphere-forming efficiency of cells isolated from MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr6^{WT}$  and  $Ccr6^{-/-}$  mammary glands. Data are representative of 3 independent experiments, n=6 mice per genotype per experiment. (B) Mammosphere-forming efficiency of MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr6^{WT}$  cells stimulated with varying concentrations of CCL20. Data are representative of 3 independent experiments, n=3 individual mice per experiment.



Figure 4.10: CCR6 in donor epithelium does not promote mammary tumour propagation.

Representative whole-mount images and quantification of the neoplastic outgrowth area in  $Ccr6^{WT}$  recipient glands of MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr6^{WT}$  and MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr6^{-/-}$  mammary tumour tissue transplants, n=4 recipient mice per group. LN=lymph node. Black arrowheads indicate donor transplant outgrowth within the glands.



Figure 4.11: Analysis of tumour-associated macrophage phenotype in MMTV-PyMT mammary tumours.

MMTV-PyMT *Ccr6*<sup>WT</sup> mammary tumour cells were analysed by flow cytometry for tumourassociated macrophage (TAM) phenotype. Analysis of M1 and M2 macrophages within the total macrophage population (CD45<sup>+</sup>CD11c<sup>-</sup>CD11b<sup>+</sup>F4/80<sup>+</sup>) was based on IL-4R expression and CD206 expression as indicated, where M1 macrophages were classed as IL-4R or CD206negative and M2 were IL-4R or CD206-positive. Dotted lines=FMO negative controls. M1 and M2 cell proportions (bottom) are presented as percentage of the total macrophage population. Representative results from 3 independent experiments.



Figure 4.12: CCR6 expression in macrophage populations in MMTV-PyMT tumours.

(A) Representative flow cytometry plots of CCR6 expression within the total, M1 and M2 macrophage populations as based on IL-4R and CD206. All cells were gated for CD45<sup>+</sup>CD11c<sup>-</sup> CD11b<sup>+</sup>F4/80<sup>+</sup> as in Figure 4.11. (B) Comparison of proportions of CCR6-positive cells and levels of CCR6 within putative M1 and M2 macrophage populations, based on IL-4R (left) and CD206 (right) expression. MFI=mean fluorescence intensity. Data are representative of 3 independent experiments.



Figure 4.13: CCR6 deletion reduces the numbers and proportions of tumour-associated macrophages in mouse mammary cancer.

Numbers and proportions of tumour-associated macrophages in mammary tumours from MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr6^{WT}$  and  $Ccr6^{-/-}$  mice as determined by flow cytometry. All cells were gated for CD45<sup>+</sup>CD11c<sup>-</sup>CD11b<sup>+</sup>F4/80<sup>+</sup> as in Figure 4.11. Data are representative of 3 independent experiments, n=5-7 mice per genotype per experiment.



Figure 4.14: CCR6 mediates the recruitment of pro-tumourigenic macrophages to the mammary tumour microenvironment.

Proportions of putative M1 and M2 macrophage subtypes within the TAM population in mammary tumours from MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr6^{-/-}$  mice relative to  $Ccr6^{WT}$  as determined by flow cytometry. All cells were gated for CD45<sup>+</sup>CD11c<sup>-</sup>CD11b<sup>+</sup>F4/80<sup>+</sup> (as in Figure 4.11), and M1/M2 status determined based on IL-4R (left) and CD206 (right). Dotted lines=FMO negative controls. Data are representative of 4 independent experiments, n=3 mice per genotype per experiment.



Figure 4.15: CCR6 expression and effect of CCR6 deletion on tumour-infiltrating dendritic cells.

MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr6^{WT}$  dendritic cells (CD45<sup>+</sup>CD11b<sup>+</sup>MHCII<sup>+</sup>CD11c<sup>+</sup>) were assessed for CCR6 expression (right), and numbers and proportions of dendritic cells compared between MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr6^{WT}$  and  $Ccr6^{-/-}$  (bottom). Dotted line=FMO negative control. n=5-7 mice per genotype.



#### B Cells: CD45\*CD11c CD11b F4/80 Gr-1 MHCII\*B220\*

Figure 4.16: CCR6 expression and effect of CCR6 deletion on tumour-infiltrating B cells.

MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr6^{WT}$  B cells (CD45<sup>+</sup>CD11c<sup>-</sup>CD11b<sup>-</sup>F4/80<sup>-</sup>Gr-1<sup>-</sup>MHCII<sup>+</sup>B220<sup>+</sup>) were assessed for CCR6 expression (right), and numbers and proportions of B cells compared between MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr6^{WT}$  and  $Ccr6^{-/-}$  (bottom). Dotted line=FMO negative control. n=5-7 mice per genotype.



Figure 4.17: CCR6 expression and effect of CCR6 deletion on tumour-infiltrating T cells.

MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr6^{WT}$  T cells (CD45<sup>+</sup>CD3<sup>+</sup>) were assessed for CCR6 expression (middle), and numbers and proportions of T cells compared between MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr6^{WT}$  and  $Ccr6^{-/-}$  (right). Dotted lines=FMO negative controls. n=5-7 mice per genotype.



Figure 4.18: CCR6 expression and effect of CCR6 deletion on tumour-infiltrating helper T cells.

MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr6^{WT}$  Th cells (CD45<sup>+</sup>CD3<sup>+</sup>CD8<sup>-</sup>FoxP3<sup>-</sup>CD4<sup>+</sup>) were assessed for CCR6 expression (right), and numbers and proportions of Th cells compared between MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr6^{WT}$  and  $Ccr6^{-/-}$  (bottom). Dotted lines=FMO negative controls. n=5-7 mice per genotype.



Figure 4.19: CCR6 expression and effect of CCR6 deletion on tumour-infiltrating cytotoxic T cells.

MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr6^{WT}$  Tc cells (CD45<sup>+</sup>CD3<sup>+</sup>CD4<sup>-</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup>) were assessed for CCR6 expression (right), and numbers and proportions of Tc cells compared between MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr6^{WT}$  and  $Ccr6^{-/-}$  (bottom). Dotted line=FMO negative control. n=5-7 mice per genotype.



Treg Cells: CD45\*CD3\*CD4\*FoxP3\*

Figure 4.20: CCR6 expression and effect of CCR6 deletion on tumour-infiltrating regulatory T cells.

MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr6^{WT}$  Treg cells (CD45<sup>+</sup>CD3<sup>+</sup>CD4<sup>+</sup>FoxP3<sup>+</sup>) were assessed for CCR6 expression (right), and numbers and proportions of Treg cells compared between MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr6^{WT}$  and  $Ccr6^{-/-}$  (bottom). Dotted line=FMO negative control. n=5-7 mice per genotype.



Figure 4.21: Experimental setup of the macrophage reconstitution assay.

(A) Schematic of macrophage reconstitution assay to determine contribution of macrophages to mammary tumourigenesis in the context of CCR6 deletion. TAM=tumour-associated macrophage. (B) FACS plot showing the sorted macrophage population used for reconstitution.



Figure 4.22: CCR6-mediated pro-tumourigenic macrophages promote mammary cancer progression.

Tumour-free survival curves over the course of the macrophage reconstitution assay.



Figure 4.23: CCR6-mediated pro-tumourigenic macrophages promote mammary cancer growth.

Tumour weight of control tumours generated in  $Ccr6^{WT}$  recipients and in  $Ccr6^{-/-}$  recipients  $\pm$  tumour-associated macrophages at the time of sacrifice. n=6-8 tumours per group.
Chapter 4: The Chemokine Receptor CCR6 Facilitates the Onset of Mammary Neoplasia in the MMTV-PyMT Mouse Model via Recruitment of Tumour-Promoting Macrophages



Figure 4.24: Assessment of tumour-associated macrophages in macrophage reconstitution recipients.

Macrophage numbers in experimental groups at end-point, as assessed by flow cytometry. All cells were gated for CD45<sup>+</sup>CD11c<sup>-</sup>CD11b<sup>+</sup>F4/80<sup>+</sup> as in Figure 4.11 n=3-4 samples per group.

**CHAPTER 5: Discussion** 

## **5.1. Introduction**

This project investigated the roles played by the chemokine receptors CCR6 and CCR7 in the progression of mammary tumourigenesis, using novel bigenic mouse models that combine expression of the PyMT oncogene under the control of the MMTV promoter, with chemokine receptor deletion. It was evident that deletion of either receptor resulted in a decrease in mammary neoplastic development, as shown by an extended tumour latency and a decrease in tumour incidence. However, further studies demonstrated that CCR7 and CCR6 have distinct roles in mammary gland neoplasia.

Loss of CCR7 does not decrease initial hyper-proliferative activity within the mammary gland, however tumour growth is significantly inhibited from this point onwards. CCR6 deletion, adversely, results in a very early stage decrease in mammary hyperplasia, and so the effects of CCR6 are present before tumourigenesis has progressed to advanced stages. One possible explanation for this is that CCR7 may play a more prominent role in mammary homeostasis at early stages of cancer development rather than as an oncogenic driver. Indeed, when normal mammary glands were examined, the deletion of CCR7 significantly slowed pubertal ductal growth within the epithelial tree and reduced the normal adult mammary stem cell pool. CCR6 has no such effect on the normal mammary gland. Potentially, as normal stem cells transition into "cancer" stem cells, driving tumourigenesis, the oncogenic properties of CCR7 become more significant, promoting tumour development from the stage of early neoplasia onwards.

The CCR6 receptor in the transformed mammary gland has a different function to that of CCR7. Despite being expressed on cancer cells, it has no significant role in cell proliferation, or maintenance of the mammary cellular hierarchy. Instead, its primary function appears to be to recruit tumour-promoting macrophages to the microenvironment, as the loss of CCR6 specifically depletes the levels of alternatively-activated M2 macrophages.

As both CCR7 and CCR6 have been found to have important and distinct roles in mammary tumour progression, they are worth exploring both individually and in combination to potentially develop targeted therapeutics to treat breast cancer in its early stages.

## 5.2. The role of CCR7 in breast cancer progression

The contribution of CSCs to tumour initiation is a major issue in tumour biology, yet one of the least understood processes [176]. In this study, it was shown that ablating CCR7 in mammary cancer using a bigenic MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr7^{-/-}$  mouse model significantly depleted the breast CSC-enriched pool. Using the surface marker profiles CD24<sup>+</sup>CD29<sup>hi</sup> [60] and CD49f<sup>+</sup>DLL1<sup>+</sup>DNER<sup>+</sup> [71] it was shown that the underlying mechanism involves a decrease in the ability of stem-like cells and early progenitor cells to self-renew and initiate neoplasia. Significantly, exogenously targeting CCR7 with a peptide antagonist led to a decrease in tumourigenesis.

CCR7 has been extensively studied for its role in adaptive immunity and secondary lymphoid organogenesis, and CCR7-null mice display disrupted architecture of the thymus and lymph node, as well as a reduced ability to mount a primary immune response [215]. The role of CCR7 in mediating anti-tumour immunity is also slowly emerging [216]. In this context, the fact that abrogation of CCR7 severely affected mammary tumourigenesis provides definitive evidence of CCR7 as a pro-tumourigenic driver. Furthermore, numerous transplantation approaches used in this study underscore an immune system-independent role of this chemokine receptor in maintaining stem-like cell pools in breast cancer.

Interestingly, hyperplastic outgrowth, widely believed to be a precursor of mammary tumours [183], was found in 100% of MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr7^{WT}$  and  $Ccr7^{-/-}$  glands examined. However, the majority of MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr7^{-/-}$  glands were unable to sustain this initial proliferative burst of tumour cells and progress to the next stage in tumour development. Therefore, the delay in mammary tumourigenesis appears to be due to CCR7 maintaining specialised hierarchical sub-

populations of cancer stem and progenitor-like cells that are thought to be crucial for tumour initiation and advanced tumourigenesis [173].

The fact that both CCL19 and CCL21 stimulated mammosphere growth from both human and mouse tumour cells strongly suggests that CCR7 plays a global role in sustaining properties of stemness in mammary epithelium. The specificity of CCR7 in this process was validated by testing a panel of chemokine receptor ligands, where only CCL19 and CCL21 showed an ability to significantly increase MFE.

Stimulation of CXCR4, the chemokine receptor that is consistently found to be up-regulated together with CCR7 in a number of cancers [125], did potentiate sphere formation but to a lesser extent (*Figure 3.19*). Recently, Clarke and colleagues demonstrated that stimulation of CXCR4 also increased MFE preferentially in malignant breast cancer cell lines compared to normal breast cell lines [149]. It is interesting to speculate that as CCR7 is less important for homeostasis than CXCR4, as has been inferred from animal models [217], CCR7 may represent a more attractive target for future CSC-targeting therapies.

As stimulation of CCR7 had no effect on proliferation of the bulk population of cells when seeded into adherent culture, compared to a highly significant effect in non-adherent culture, it is likely that CCR7 predominantly mediates specific cellular properties of stemness. Moreover, it was previously reported by the McColl group that CCR7 activation on breast cancer cells inhibits anoikis [130], a characteristic of breast and other CSCs [75, 218]. Therefore, it is plausible that CCR7 supports CSC survival without attachment to the extracellular matrix, a hypothesis that may form the basis for future studies.

CCR7 appeared to play a quantitative rather than a qualitative role in normal mammary stem cells compared with CSCs. When CCR7 was deleted, a mild effect was observed on the normal mammary gland. In contrast, a major effect was seen in mammary tumourigenesis. Interestingly, whereas the morphological effect on normal mammary gland development was not extensive, CCR7 deletion discreetly affected normal mammary gland stem-like cells. Therefore, it is possible that CCR7 has a role in regulating the properties of stemness within the mammary epithelial cell population, an effect that appears more prominent during cancer progression. As highlighted in a recent study by Cheresh and colleagues [219], dysregulation of normal stem cells may contribute to breast cancer progression and stemness, and CCR7 may emerge as a novel mediator of this transition.

Translation of these findings from the mouse model to human disease is of particular significance, considering that there is currently no clear consensus on the markers that define functional mammary stem cells in both mice and humans. Thus these results show that CCR7 not only has a role in mouse mammary tissue but is also expressed, is functional and is highly responsive in the stem-like populations within human breast cancer tissue. Intriguingly, circulating tumour cells, an indicator of metastatic spread and poor outcome in breast and other cancers, have been recently equated to CSCs [40]. In the last decade numerous studies also suggested a role for CCR7 in malignant dissemination of mammary tumours to distant sites [124, 125, 130]. Taken together, these results suggest a novel causative link between CCR7 activity on stem-like populations and metastatic breast cancer.

To seek proof-of-principle on the utility of pharmacologically targeting CCR7, the receptor antagonist  $CCL19_{(8-83)}$  [188] was tested. It was found that pharmacological inhibition of CCR7 through direct mammary fat pad injection of  $CCL19_{(8-83)}$  afforded a significant reduction in early stage primary mammary tumourigenesis. As the relative contribution of the malignant lesions to the weight of the whole mammary fat pad was very small at this early stage the reduction in total weight between antagonist and vehicle-treated glands was not statistically significant. However, the cellularity, a characteristic that directly reflects the extent of epithelial malignant outgrowth and is used in clinical pathology to evaluate the response to chemotherapy in breast cancer, was strongly impacted by treatment with the CCR7 antagonist.

More importantly, directly targeting CCR7 using the antagonist significantly depleted the stemlike cell pools in both early and late-stage mammary neoplasia as was shown using the transplantation approach. These findings strongly suggest that the CCR7 receptor axis is a potential point of intervention in stem cell-targeting therapies. Furthermore, the results of this study provide a rationale for the use of antagonists of the CCR7 pathway as adjuvants to conventional cytotoxic drugs unable to eliminate quiescent CSCs [173].

Thus, the characterisation of CCR7 in primary breast tumourigenesis *in vitro* and *in vivo*, and in mouse and human tissue, strongly suggests a role for this molecule in breast cancer development and progression. These insights raise the possibility of pharmacologically targeting CCR7 for the development of new therapies in breast cancer.

## 5.3. The role of CCR6 in breast cancer progression

The results of this study show that the deletion of the chemokine receptor CCR6 caused a delay in tumour onset and decreased mammary tumour incidence *in vivo* in the MMTV-PyMT transgenic mouse model. It was determined that the underlying basis of the CCR6 oncogenic function is the increase in numbers of infiltrating pro-tumourigenic macrophages.

Multiple functional roles have been suggested for members of the chemokine family and their receptors in breast cancer pathophysiology [89], however little data using animal models is available to support these observations. The expression of CCR6 has been reported to correlate with higher stage and grade of human breast cancer, and has been proposed as a prognostic tool for determining relapse-free survival in breast cancer patients [163]. However, a causative link *in vivo* has yet to be demonstrated. The well-characterised MMTV-PyMT transgenic mouse model of breast cancer was employed in this study, and it was found that CCR6 facilitates an earlier tumour onset and an increased incidence of mammary tumours. Of note, CCR6 affects mammary tumourigenesis from as early as the hyperplastic, or hyper-proliferative, stage. This initial phase of tumour development remains largely uncharacterised, despite being the most treatment-

effective stage of cancer progression. Therefore, a better understanding of tumour initiation is crucial in order to develop therapies that target the tumourigenic process at the early stages of breast cancer.

When CCR6 was deleted in the MMTV-PyMT mouse, tumour latency was significantly extended, and these mice developed fewer mammary tumours than their *Ccr6*<sup>WT</sup> counterparts. However, CCR6 deletion did not affect tumourigenic properties of the epithelium as was found with the chemokine receptor CCR7 [171]. Stimulation with CCL20 did not result in an increased proliferation rate of purified mammary epithelial cells from hyperplastic glands or tumourous lesions in contrast to previous studies with primary human breast peritumoural cells [168]. Furthermore, the deletion of CCR6 did not lead to decreased numbers of Ki67-positive proliferating cells within intact tumour-bearing mammary glands, pointing to an epithelial-independent function of this receptor in breast cancer.

It was also observed that the loss of CCR6 did not alter the numbers and functional properties of mammary cancer stem-like cells. Transplantation experiments in particular demonstrated that the presence of CCR6 in donor epithelium was not required for tumour propagation in recipient mammary glands.

Further investigation demonstrated that CCR6 functions via organisation of the immune system during the early stage of mammary carcinogenesis. It was shown that the levels of tumour-associated macrophages (TAMs) are reduced by almost three-fold when CCR6 is deleted. TAMs, which have been previously identified in MMTV-PyMT tumours [220], are widely reported to support the development of cancer [190, 221] and in the tumour microenvironment they are generally thought to polarise towards an alternatively-activated M2 pro-tumour phenotype relative to the classic M1 anti-tumour phenotype [112]. Whilst the TAMs in MMTV-PyMT tumours are polarised towards an M2-like subtype, these results show that the presence of CCR6 maintains M2 TAMs as the predominant phenotype. Therefore, it is plausible to suggest

that CCR6 in breast cancer functions to recruit pro-tumourigenic macrophages to the tumour immuniche [115], to support growth of transformed epithelial cells and cancer stem cells, as TAMs in the MMTV-PyMT model have also been shown to also maintain stem-like cells [117].

CCR6 is not expressed on peripheral blood monocytes, and is thought to only be acquired upon their differentiation into macrophages, induced by the tumour microenvironment [194]. In accordance with this, it was found that a high proportion of macrophages within PyMT-driven mammary tumours express CCR6, which has not been previously demonstrated in breast cancer. Also of potential importance is the fact that up to 90% of pro-tumourigenic M2-like TAMs expressed CCR6. These findings parallel results from a recent study which showed that CCR6null mice bearing the adenomatosis polyposis coli  $(APC)^{min}$  transgene (a well-characterised model for gastro-intestinal tumourigenesis) developed fewer intestinal adenomas and polyps, and that the effect of CCR6 was also linked to a significant reduction in F4/80<sup>+</sup> macrophages [200]. Interestingly, Liu *et al* also recently demonstrated that the ligand CCL20 is secreted from both macrophages and tumour cells in another mouse model of colorectal cancer, potentially suggesting common regulatory mechanisms and a universal role for CCR6 in tumours of various etiology [222].

MMTV-PyMT cancer cell transplant experiments showed that tumour growth in a CCR6-null microenvironment was significantly inhibited compared to wild-type microenvironment conditions, directly demonstrating that the mammary stroma is dependent upon CCR6 for adequate tumour initiation and growth support. The reconstitution of this CCR6-negative microenvironment with MMTV-PyMT *Ccr6*<sup>WT</sup> TAMs restored the tumour-promoting properties of mammary stroma, indicating that breast cancer can be therapeutically targeted through manipulation of the CCR6-CCL20 axis to control tumour-infiltrating macrophages.

CCR6 deletion has also impeded recruitment of dendritic cells into PyMT-driven mammary tumours. Recruitment of dendritic cells into various solid tumours has been well-documented

137

[223], and their role in tumour progression is mainly centred around tumour antigen presentation to lymphocyte subsets leading to anti-tumour immune responses [224, 225]. Furthermore, there is some evidence supporting direct tumouricidal activity of dendritic cells [224]. As previous studies have reported an intrinsic requirement for CCR6 in migration and fundamental functions of dendritic cells [165, 212], this finding of the reduced infiltration of dendritic cells in mammary tumours may not be a facet of cancer development in MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr6^{-/-}$  mice, but is an inherent property of dendritic cell migration at a slower rate after CCR6 deletion.

In conclusion, results of this study show that CCR6 plays a significant role in tumour initiation and at the early stage of breast cancer development *in vivo* by mediating recruitment of protumourigenic macrophages to the tumour site, and thus facilitating further progression to advanced stages of mammary neoplasia. Results presented here therefore suggest CCR6 as a potential target for therapeutic intervention in early breast cancer.

## 5.4. Implications of this study

This is the first *in vivo* evidence for the important roles of CCR6 and CCR7 in promotion of breast cancer. This work builds on previous observations based on *in vitro* models and xenotransplantation studies, and creates a strong baseline for further research in this area. The area of cancer immunology is largely uncharacterised and investigation into mechanisms underlying the functional role of these and other receptors in breast cancer should be the next step forward.

This work contributes significantly to the knowledge about the roles of the chemokine receptor family in breast cancer. Importantly, the work with CCR7 reveals that chemokine receptors may have an important function in regulation of breast cancer stem cells, an area that is still largely in its infancy.

## **5.5.** Clinical predictions and future work

The studies with the CCL19<sub>(8-83)</sub> antagonist in the PyMT mouse model suggest that CCR7 may be an interesting candidate for further pre-clinical evaluations into targeting of evasive cancer stem cells. In addition to CCL19<sub>(8-83)</sub>, studies have been undertaken using the truncated ligand CCL21<sub>(8-110)</sub>. As with CCL19<sub>(8-83)</sub>, injection of this peptide antagonist in PyMT-expressing mammary glands also resulted in a significant decrease in tumour weight and size compared to vehicle controls (data not shown). Another approach may be to investigate the potential of cancer stem cell vaccines in the context of CCR7. Wicha's group has undertaken preliminary studies into the use of CSC vaccines, by pulsing dendritic cells with CSC lysates (based on expression of aldehyde dehydrogenase) to generate B cell-mediated immunity against CSCs in mouse models of melanoma and squamous cell carcinoma. Application of the dendritic cell vaccine reduced development of primary tumours and metastasis, and interestingly, this was associated with a significant decrease in expression of CCR7 and its ligand CCL21 [226]. Therefore, inhibition of CCR7 may potentially be used in combination with conventional chemotherapeutics in a multipronged approach to eliminate both rapidly-dividing bulk tumour cells and quiescent stem-like cells.

The role of the tumour microenvironment in controlling cancer progression is highly dynamic, and the chemokine receptor family is emerging as a key regulator of this process. In addition to these studies with CCR6, Pollard and colleagues have recently demonstrated that CCR1 and CCR2 signalling in mammary tumour-infiltrating macrophages promotes metastatic seeding of breast cancer cells in the lungs [227]. Most likely, various chemokine receptors are involved in every aspect of breast pathogenesis, and function not only on the cancer cells, but also on stromal and circulating cells. Identifying these receptors and their specific roles is a major challenge for medical research, but due to the physiological nature of GPCRs – being expressed on the cell surface – developing drugs that target them is somewhat more straightforward. This

brings up the possibility of generating carefully tailored therapeutics for individual patients based on their chemokine receptor profile.

As TAMs have recently been shown to maintain the CSC niche within MMTV-PyMT tumours [117], it would be worth investigating the result of blocking CCR7 and CCR6 together pharmacologically to treat mammary cancer, as hypothetically, loss of two components that are separately driving the epithelial hierarchy and the recruitment of major tumour-promoting cells within the cancer niche could result in an even greater reduction than that that is seen by deletion of the single receptors. A follow-up study in this area would be of specific clinical relevance.

However, investigation into biochemical mechanisms behind the actions of CCR7 and CCR6 is necessary before any clinical work could be carried out, as the genes that are turned on or switched off by these chemokine receptor pathways in these scenarios have not yet been elucidated. In models used in this study, no redundancy seems to exist between different chemokine receptors, however crosstalk between chemokine receptor pathways and others (such as Wnt and Notch) would need to be thoroughly examined.

In terms of breast cancer stem cell regulation, chemokine receptors are only one aspect of an extremely complicated regulatory system. Other aspects of the immune system, most importantly presence or absence of various immune cell subsets, may also contribute to the maintenance of this important population. With various genetically-modified mouse models now at the disposal of researchers, and using a similar strategy to that applied in this study, it will be possible to examine in more detail the aspects of tumour immunology which until now have remained somewhat elusive.

Chapter 5: Discussion

# 5.6. Conclusion

The chemokine receptors CCR6 and CCR7 play distinct but important roles in mammary cancer development. As the loss of these receptors largely blocks tumourigenesis, antagonists towards CCR6 and CCR7 should be explored further as potential therapeutics, to target both the tumour microenvironment and the cancer stem cell population respectively.

# APPENDICES

# Appendix A:

ST Boyle, M Kochetkova. "Breast cancer stem cells and the immune system: Promotion, evasion and therapy" *Journal of Mammary Gland Biology and Neoplasia*, Vol. 19:2, pp 203-211, 06 July 2014

With permission from Springer Science + Business Media.

# **Appendix B**:

ST Boyle, WV Ingman, V Poltavets, JW Faulkner, RJ Whitfield, SR McColl, M Kochetkova. "The chemokine receptor CCR7 promotes mammary tumorigenesis through amplification of stem-like cells" *Oncogene* advance online publication, 16 March 2015

With permission from Nature Publishing Group.

# Appendix C:

ST Boyle, JW Faulkner, SR McColl, M Kochetkova. "The chemokine receptor CCR6 facilitates the onset of mammary neoplasia in the MMTV-PyMT mouse model via recruitment of tumor-promoting macrophages" *Molecular Cancer*, Vol. 14:115, 06 June 2015

With permission from BioMed Central.

# **APPENDIX A**

# Statement of Authorship

Title of Paper	Breast cancer stem cells and the immune system: Promotion, Evasion and Therapy				
Publication Status	Published, O Accepted for Publication, O Submitted for Publication, O Publication style				
Publication Details	Accepted June 16 2014 Journal of Mammary Gland Biology and Neoplasia, Vol. 19 Issue 2. Pp 203-11, July 17 2014. doi: 10.1007/s10911-014-9323-yl Impact Factor: 7.52				

### **Author Contributions**

By signing the Statement of Authorship, each author certifies that their stated contribution to the publication is accurate and that permission is granted for the publication to be included in the candidate's thesis.

Name of Principal Author (Candidate)	Miss Sarah T. Boyle				
Contribution to the Paper	Wrote the manuscript				
Signature		Date	20 /03/2015		
Name of Co-Author	Doctor Marina Kochetkova				
Contribution to the Paper	Edited the manuscript				
Signature		Date	20/03/2015		

J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia (2014) 19:203–211 DOI 10.1007/s10911-014-9323-y

# **Breast Cancer Stem Cells and the Immune System: Promotion, Evasion and Therapy**

Sarah T. Boyle • Marina Kochetkova

Received: 30 April 2014 / Accepted: 16 June 2014 / Published online: 6 July 2014 @ Springer Science+Business Media New York 2014

Abstract Cancer stem cells are believed to be a subset of heterogeneous tumour cells responsible for tumour initiation, growth, local invasion, and metastasis. In breast cancer, numerous factors have been implicated in regulation of cancer stem cells, but there is still a paucity of information regarding precise molecular and cellular mechanisms guiding their pathobiology. Components of both the adaptive and the innate immune system have been shown to play a crucial role in supporting breast cancer growth and spread, and recently some immune mediators, both molecules and cells, have been reported to influence breast cancer stem cell biology. This review summarises a small, pioneering body of evidence for the potentially important function of the "immuniche" in maintaining and supporting breast cancer stem cells.

**Keywords** Breast cancer · Cancer stem cells · Immune system · Chemokine · Cytokine · Immunotherapy

#### Abbreviations

ALDH1	Aldehyde dehydrogenase 1
BCSC	Breast cancer stem cell
CAF	Cancer-associated fibroblast
CCL	C-C chemokine ligand
CCR	C-C chemokine receptor
CSC	Cancer stem cell
CXCL	C-X-C chemokine ligand
CXCR	C-X-C chemokine receptor
EMT	Epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition
IL-6	Interleukin-6
II -8	Interleukin-8

S. T. Boyle · M. Kochetkova (🖂)

School of Molecular and Biomedical Science, University of Adelaide, Adelaide, South Australia, Australia

e-mail: marina.kochetkova@adelaide.edu.au

MFE	Mammosphere-forming efficiency
MMTV	Mouse mammary tumour virus
MSC	Mesenchymal stem cell
PyMT	Polyoma middle T antigen
RANK	Receptor activator of NFKB
RANKL	Receptor activator of NFKB ligand
ТАМ	Tumour-associated macrophage
TGF-β	Transforming growth factor β

#### Introduction

The evolution of the cancer stem cell (CSC) theory [1] has provided a new paradigm for how we view cancer initiation, progression and metastasis. A large body of evidence has been accumulated to support this theory following the first identification of stem-like cells in acute myeloid leukaemia by John Dick and colleagues [2]. This theory states that within a hierarchically organised yet heterogenous tumour mass, there resides a small subset of cells with specific characteristics generally attributed to adult and embryonic stem cells such as quiescence and pluripotency among others, which are responsible for initiation and maintenance of the tumour and subsequent re-seeding to a secondary location [3, 4].

Targeting these quiescent cancer stem cells for therapeutic intervention has come to the forefront of medical research [3], and many of their regulatory mechanisms have been discovered. The major molecular pathways implicated in CSC pathobiology include Notch, Hedgehog, Wnt and TGF- $\beta$  signalling systems [5–8]. For a recent detailed review see [9]. Importantly, the hypothesis that CSCs exist in a specific stem cell "niche" has recently been supported by a small body of evidence. The CSC niche includes nerves, mesenchyme, and extracellular matrix, as well as stromal and adipose cells [10].

Breast cancer stem cells (BCSCs) have been putatively identified based on the expression of specific surface markers CD44<sup>+</sup>CD24<sup>-/lo</sup> (human) and CD24<sup>+</sup>CD29<sup>hi</sup>CD49f<sup>hi</sup> (mouse) [11–13] or methods such as the side population technique (a

🖄 Springer

204

Hoechst dye-effluxing cell subset [14]) or ALDEFLUOR assay (based on enzymatic activity of aldehyde dehydrogenase 1, ALDH1 [15]). The ability to sort stem cells based on these markers and to assay their function through use of nonadherent mammosphere assays, in which sphere-forming efficiency can be a measure of self-renewal capability [16], has provided the basis for recent important discoveries in this area.

The immune system plays an important role in cancer progression. Through a series of mutagenesis events, cancer cells may acquire the ability to evade the immune system and overcome anti-tumour host defences. This allows tumour cells to escape T cell-mediated cytotoxicity in primary lesions and potentially extravasate into circulation where they are capable of metastasising [17]. The immune system can be a doubleedged sword during cancer progression, as immune cells have been proposed to promote cancer development through secretion of inflammatory cytokines, chemokines, autoantibodies, proteases and induction of angiogenesis [18, 19]. Tumours are known to also dampen the anti-tumour response by activation of suppressive immune cell subsets, such as regulatory T cells and myeloid-derived suppressor cells which are readily recruited and infiltrate the tumour mass [20-22]. Immune modulatory cytokines, chemokines and other molecules are also secreted and/or expressed by immune and cancer cells alike, stimulating cancer cell motility, survival and proliferation [23]. In breast and other cancers, the overall role that the immune system and immune modulators have in facilitating or preventing malignant progression has been summarised elsewhere [24, 25] and is outside the scope of this article.

Recently, literature has begun to emerge that specifically implicates molecules and cells of the immune system in the biology of cancer stem cells. Below, we discuss how certain immune-associated cells and molecules may regulate breast cancer stem cells and maintain the BCSC immunological niche, which we have termed the "immuniche", outlined in Fig. 1. We will also examine how BCSCs may be phenotypically selected for by immune cells and discuss recently proposed cell-based immunotherapies to target BCSCs.

#### Promotion of Breast Cancer Stem Cells by Immune Modulators

#### Chemokines and Chemokine Receptors

Chemokines and chemokine receptors have been widely shown to regulate immune cell homeostasis, inflammation and/or responses to infection [26]. In the last two decades, chemokines and their receptors have been implicated in the pathogenesis of various malignancies including colon, lung, pancreatic, skin and many other cancers (for an excellent overview of the multifaceted functions of the chemokine family in cancer see [23]). In breast cancer development, this

🖄 Springer

receptor/ligand family is reported to affect multiple stages of progression, including initial cellular transformation, local invasion, angiogenesis and metastasis [27–30].

Seminal work on the involvement of chemokine receptors in BCSCs has come from Max Wicha's group which have studied the role of CXCR1. CXCR1 is closely related to CXCR2, with which it shares multiple ligands including chemokine interleukin-8 (IL-8, also known as CXCL8). Both receptors have been heavily implicated in the elimination of pathogens but also shown to contribute significantly to disease-associated processes, including tissue injury, fibrosis, angiogenesis and tumourigenesis [31]. It was found that CXCR1-positive cells were present in the CD44<sup>+</sup>CD24<sup>-</sup> population in breast cancer cell lines, and were also almost exclusively contained in the ALDEFLUOR-positive population. Stimulation of CXCR1 with IL-8 increased primary and secondary mammosphere-forming efficiency (MFE). In addition, CXCR1<sup>+</sup>ALDEFLUOR<sup>+</sup> cells were able to form heterogenous tumours upon transplantation [32, 33], providing functional support for the role of CXCR1 in BCSC regulation. Treatment of breast cancer cell lines with a CXCR1 inhibitor or an anti-CXCR1 antibody resulted in a 5-fold reduction in ALDEFLUOR<sup>+</sup> cells and inhibition of the CXCR1 interaction with its ligands in sphere culture caused a massive decrease in primary and secondary MFE. Interestingly, when normal human mammary epithelial cells were cultured as mammospheres, IL-8 again increased the primary and secondary MFE, further implicating CXCR1 as a regulator of stemness in both cancer and normal breast development [33].

The CXCR2 chemokine receptor was previously shown to mediate breast cancer chemoresistance [34], an implied property of BCSCs. Co-expression of CXCR1 and CXCR2 by cancer cells is reported to promote cancer growth [35], and as mentioned above, both are receptors for IL-8 which is expressed by BCSCs [36]. As well as IL-8, CXCR2 interacts with chemokines CXCL3, CXCL5, and CXCL7. Wicha and colleagues also examined the result of neutralising CXCR2 but did not observe a difference in the BCSC population [33]. Contrary to this, other reports showed that siRNA targeting of CXCR2 and CXCL3 decreased the viability of CD44+CD24basal-like breast cancer cell lines through a decrease in STAT3 activity [37], and sequestering CXCL7 blocked expression of other immune modulators from putative BCSCs [38]. In addition, CXCL5 stimulation of breast cancer cell lines increased the ALDEFLUOR<sup>+</sup> population [38]. As CXCR2 antagonists are already in the clinic for other conditions such as pulmonary disease [39], inhibiting this receptor may prove a promising BCSC-targeting therapy, however the role of CXCR2 in BCSCs still remains to be validated in cancer models in vivo.

Whilst the chemokine receptor CCR7 is upregulated during breast cancer metastasis and has been associated with poor prognosis for breast cancer patients [30], its function in mammary tumourigenesis is still largely uncharacterised. We have



Fig. 1 Maintenance of breast cancer stem cells by immune cells and immune modulators within the immuniche. Breast cancer stem cells (BCSCs) express a variety of immune modulatory receptors on their surface, which correlates with biomarker expression, survival, EMT, and mammosphere-forming ability. Chemokine receptors on the BCSC surface are activated by chemokines secreted by mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) and cancer-associated fibroblasts (CAFs), promoting properties

recently shown that CCR7 is expressed on BCSCs from both mice and humans (manuscript submitted for publication). Deletion of CCR7 reduced the BCSC content and self-renewal activity in an MMTV-PyMT mouse model of breast cancer, providing a mechanistic basis for the observed delay in tumour onset and severely reduced tumour burden. We have also demonstrated that pharmacological inhibition of CCR7 in vivo leads to impairment of primary tumour growth via BCSC-related mechanisms, supporting the hypothesis that the of stemness. Autocrine and MSC-secreted IL-6 stimulates multiple functions in the BCSC, and stimulation by other cytokines such as RANKL and TGF- $\beta$  result in EMT, an implied characteristic of BCSCs. Tumourassociated macrophages (TAMs) promote BCSC survival both indirectly and directly, and infiltrating T cell subsets in the immuniche provide a catalyst for immune selection of the BCSC

CCR7 receptor pathway is a point of intervention in stem cell-targeting therapies.

The CCR7 and CXCR4 receptors are often concurrently upregulated in cancer [30, 40] and we have shown previously that CXCR4 together with CCR7 promotes cancer cell metastasis through inhibition of anoikis, the process of detachmentmediated cell death [41]. Interestingly, whilst CXCR4 has been heavily implicated in various malignancies, its involvement in BCSC pathobiology has not been well defined.

🖄 Springer

206

Recently however, CXCR4 was reported to contribute to the maintenance of the BCSC population through transactivation of the aryl hydrocarbon receptor [42] and was also expressed in CD44<sup>+</sup>CD24<sup>-</sup> breast cancer cell lines, which correlated with their invasiveness [43]. Furthermore, CXCR4 was detected on the surface of mammosphere cells, and CXCR4 antagonists decreased MFE and the proportion of putative CD44<sup>+</sup>CD24<sup>-</sup> BCSCs [44]. The CXCR4 antagonist plerixafor (AMD3100) has shown some promise in preclinical trials [45, 46] and could also provide an option for targeting stem cells. For example, in tamoxifen-resistant breast cancer cells, Dubrovska et al. showed that AMD3100 inhibited the BCSC-enriched side population [42]. This study, together with our own observations, highlights the potential use of chemokine receptor pathway antagonists as adjuvants to conventional cytotoxic drugs, which alone cannot eradicate the quiescent cancer stem cell populations.

In a recent study, Asiedu et al. comprehensively characterised the chemokine and chemokine receptor profiles in breast cancer cell lines with high CD44<sup>+</sup>CD24<sup>-</sup> cell content, with the view to identify potential BCSC regulators among this class of immune modulators. They reported increased expression of CCR7, but unexpectedly down-regulation of CXCR4. In addition, CD44<sup>+</sup>CD24<sup>-</sup> breast cancer cells had increased expression of CXCR7, CCL13, CCL11, CCL12, CCL2, CCL5, CCL6, CCL7 and CCL8, and down-regulated CCR3, CXCL1 and CCL20 [47]. Notably, CXCR7 also binds the ligand for CXCR4, CXCL12, and scavenges CXCL12 to promote cancer cell metastasis [48]. Increased expression of CXCR7 in the CSC population and its impact upon CXCR4 activity remains to be functionally assessed. Of the chemokines upregulated, only CCL2 and CCL5 have been conclusively shown to have a role in breast cancer [49, 50].

CCL2 has been proposed to affect properties of stemness in breast cancer cells. In addition to secretion from BCSCs, treating mammosphere culture with exogenous CCL2 increased stem cell function via Notch-1 signalling and resulted in more spheres with a higher number of slow-cycling stem cells, as was measured by retention of PKH67 dye [51]. Whilst there are clear indications of a potential function for CCL2 from both BCSCs and the immuniche, more specific in vivo evidence is needed to confirm its role in BCSC regulation. Of note, CCL2 is also involved in recruitment of monocytes, memory T cells, regulatory T cells and dendritic cells to inflammatory sites [52], and to breast tumours [22] through its receptors CCR2 and/or CCR4, which may aid BCSCs in controlling the immune system.

#### Interleukin-6

Interleukin-6 (IL-6) regulates a number of immune functions and stimulates many inflammatory and auto-immune processes. As yet, it is one of the most studied cytokines in BCSC

 $\underline{\textcircled{O}}$  Springer

biology with significant evidence accumulated to support its multi-faceted role in this specialised subset of tumour cells. Thus, NF $\kappa$ B-mediated upregulation of IL-6 was reported for mammosphere cells when compared to the bulk cell population [53, 54], and trastuzumab-resistant CSCs also expressed high levels of IL-6 [36]. Stem-like cells were found to express higher levels of IL-6 than differentiated cells and the addition of IL-6 to differentiated cell culture could force cells to rapidly de-differentiaten. When an anti-IL-6 antibody was added, this de-differentiation was blocked [55]. As de-differentiation was recently proposed as an important mechanism in the generation of BCSCs [56], this novel finding may provide new options in specifically targeting the BCSC axis.

Similarly, blocking the interaction of IL-6 with its receptor (IL-6R) in mammosphere cultures also inhibited cell propagation through down-regulation of Notch-3 [53, 54], and blocking IL-6 activity via siRNA or neutralising antibody decreased viability of CD44<sup>+</sup>CD24<sup>-</sup> putative BCSCs [36, 37]. Furthermore, it was found that IL-6 is able to increase stem cell activity, via Notch-3 mediated up-regulation of Jagged-1, and STAT-3. It was proposed that IL-6 induces an autocrine loop and stem cell-linked aggressiveness in breast cancer cells [54, 57]. The fact that in the presence of high levels of IL-6, drugs such as trastuzumab fail to eliminate cancer stem cells in culture and xenograft models [36] makes the IL-6 axis a firm candidate for stem cell directed therapeutic intervention.

Circulating tumour cells are believed to possess properties of stemness such as anoikis resistance and a more mesenchymal phenotype. High levels of IL-6 have been reported to promote the epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition (EMT) in breast cancer cells, leading to a conversion to the BCSC phenotype [58]. Thus, addition of IL-6 to adherent human breast cancer cells was found to increase the proportion of CD44<sup>+</sup> putative BCSCs, which had greater ability to form mammospheres as well as increased in vivo tumourigenic potential over CD44<sup>-</sup> cells. The acquisition of CD44 also coincided with a change in cell morphology from cobblestone to spindle-like, increased invasiveness, and the induction of a gene expression profile consistent with EMT, including decreased E-cadherin, and increased vimentin and twist [36, 59, 60].

#### **RANK and RANKL**

Receptor activator of NF $\kappa$ B ligand (RANKL) is a member of the Tumour Necrosis Factor cytokine family. It is expressed by T cells and stromal cells, and is thought to be involved in dendritic cell maturation [61, 62]. Activation of its receptor RANK in breast cancer cells through administration of RANKL inhibited cell differentiation, induced EMT, and promoted expression of stem cell surface markers and stemness genes (such as SOX2, NANOG and OCT4). Furthermore, the RANK-RANKL interaction was found to increase selfrenewing capacity and augment tumour development both in transplant models and spontaneously [63-65].

More direct evidence for the role of RANK and RANKL in BCSCs was obtained using the medroxyprogesterone acetate (MPA) mouse model of mammary cancer. Schramek et al. found that MPA-induced tumour formation triggered an induction of RANKL, with a corresponding expansion of Lin<sup>-</sup>CD24<sup>+</sup>CD49f<sup>hi</sup> BCSCs in *Rank<sup>+/+</sup>* mice, but not in MMTV-*Rank<sup>-/-</sup>* mice. While both *Rank<sup>+/+</sup>* and MMTV-*Rank<sup>-/-</sup>* breast cancer cells were able to form primary spheres, secondary spheres could only be propagated when RANK was present [66], demonstrating the role of RANK and RANKL in BCSC self-renewal.

Cancer and normal mammary stem cells have been proposed to follow similar regulatory routes [67, 68]. Interestingly, RANK and RANKL also have important roles in the regulation of normal mammary stem cells, in adulthood and in alveologenesis during pregnancy. Thus, in response to progesterone signalling, RANKL is expressed in the mature luminal cell subset and RANK is up-regulated in the mammary stem and basal progenitor cell compartment. The interaction of RANKL on luminal cells and RANK on stem/basal cells potentially creates a paracrine loop, in which RANKL acts as a key hormone mediator for mammary stem cells in mice [69, 70].

These findings warrant further investigation in potentially important functions of both RANK and RANKL in regulation of human BCSCs. A small number of other factors have been shown to play a role in promotion of the BCSC phenotype, however the evidence for their role may be circumstantial. The only other well-documented player in regulation of BCSCs is TGF- $\beta$ , the role of which has been comprehensively reviewed elsewhere [71].

# The "Immuniche": The Role of the Immune System in the BCSC Niche

Breast cancer stem cells are thought to reside within a stem cell niche composed of nerves, mesenchyme and extracellular matrix [10]. To some extent, each of these components supports the turnover and survival of this sub-population. More recently, certain immune cells and stromal cells secreting cytokines, chemokines, and other immune modulators, have been identified as playing a specific role in the BCSC niche, to form an "immuniche" that provides stem cells with necessary growth signals and factors to maintain their stemness properties, avoid immuno-surveillance and propagate tumours.

#### Stroma-Derived Cells and the Immuniche

Mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) are heavily involved in support of both active and innate immune cells [72, 73]. They have been shown previously to have a role in breast cancer progression and metastasis through secretion of, or migration in response to chemokines CCL5 and CCL2 [74, 75]. It was recently found that the co-culture of human breast cancer cells with bone marrow-derived MSCs also led to an increase in ALDEFLUOR<sup>+</sup> and CD44<sup>+</sup>CD24<sup>-</sup> putative BCSCs. This coculture induced the expression of CXCL1, CXCL5, CXCL6 and CXCL7, as well as IL-6 and IL-8, from both the MSCs and BCSCs [38]. Therefore MSCs in the immuniche are potentially an important source of secreted specific immune modulators that are required to maintain stem cell activity by BCSCs.

Cancer-associated fibroblasts (CAFs), another notable component of the immuniche, have been well documented for their function in breast cancer promotion via secretion of a milieu of cytokines and chemokines [76–78]. Whilst direct evidence for the role of CAFs in BCSC regulation is yet to be established, some recent findings suggest that CAFs may be important for maintaining optimal conditions in the BCSC immuniche, as it was shown that breast cancer cells cocultured under mammosphere conditions with CAFs that secrete CXCL12 and/or CCL2 have higher MFE and proportions of CD44<sup>+</sup>CD24<sup>-</sup> putative BCSCs. Furthermore, neutralising CCL2 secreted from CAFs with antibody completely inhibits MFE of the breast cancer cells, therefore disrupting the BCSC immuniche [44, 51].

#### Immune Cells and the Immuniche

Macrophages are innate immune cells that are often recruited to the tumour microenvironment. As tumour cells may be recognised as self, these tumour-associated macrophages (TAMs), rather than aid the anti-tumour response, promote breast cancer cell growth and metastasis by the secretion of immune modulators [79, 80]. Their role in the CSC immuniche is largely uncharacterised, but limited evidence has come to light that implicates TAMs in regulation of BCSCs.

In the study of breast cancer metastasis to the bone, TAMs were generated by stimulating human monocytes with cytokines and conditioned media and co-injected into tibial bones of mice with magnetically isolated CD44<sup>+</sup>CD24<sup>-</sup> cells from the 231BoM breast cancer cell line which is highly metastatic to the bone. This co-injection significantly augmented tumour growth compared to injection of CD44<sup>+</sup>CD24<sup>-</sup> cells alone, strongly supporting the idea that TAMs may play an important role in BCSC maintenance. Using an antibody array and immunofluorescent microscopy, it was further found that platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF) was specifically released from TAMs upon co-culture and interaction with CD44<sup>+</sup>CD24<sup>-</sup> cells. The authors showed that TAMs had a dual role in the immuniche, additionally stimulating stromal cells such as fibroblasts and MSCs to secrete FGF and other growth factors, that act directly on BCSCs [81].

TAMs were found to produce large amounts of the growth factor milk fat globule (MFG)-E8, and colon and lung CSCs

🖄 Springer

208

were found to specifically induce MFG-E8 expression from macrophages to support their survival when inoculated into syngeneic mice. MFG-E8 secreted from TAMs suppressed caspase-3 activation, inhibiting apoptosis in the lung and colon cancer stem cell populations. This was then tested in putative BCSCs, with similar results [82]. Considering the fact that the presence of TAMs in the BCSC immuniche has a number of direct and indirect functions, these immune cells may be targeted by anti-BCSC therapies.

T cells can participate in breast cancer promotion when they are recruited to the tumour microenvironment [18, 20, 22]. Breast cancers of higher histological grade and with highly aggressive steroid receptor-negative status have high levels of  $CD8^+$  cytotoxic T cell infiltration and pro-inflammatory cytokines associated with a  $CD4^+$  helper T cell response [83–85]. In addition,  $FOXP3^+$  regulatory T cells, which have been implicated in breast cancer aggressiveness, are recruited to the tumour microenvironment by CCL22 [22, 86]. There is little evidence available to date on the direct role of different T cell subsets on BCSCs, however emerging data suggest that T cells may also be active players in the BCSC immuniche.

Thus, it has been reported that high grade estrogen receptornegative and highly aggressive triple-negative breast cancers had increased levels of cytotoxic, helper and regulatory T cell tumour infiltrations. This was also correlated with increased CD44<sup>+</sup>CD24<sup>-</sup>ALDH1<sup>+</sup> tumour cell content and expression of EMT-associated markers vimentin, osteonectin and smooth muscle actin [85]. Additionally, it has been suggested that EMT induction to generate BCSCs may be dependent on cytotoxic T cells [87]. However, this increase in BCSC content upon tumour infiltration by T cells may also be due to stem cell specific immune selection, discussed in more detail below.

Although the role of active immune cells in regulation of BCSCs is currently not well defined, some recent advances in delineating a function for specific T cell subsets within the BCSC immuniche should encourage more research in this area. Moreover, given the large part that T cells can play in breast cancer development, it is thought that this field will soon expand significantly.

# Immune Selection and Tolerance of Breast Cancer Stem Cells

One of the hallmarks of cancer is the evasion of immune clearance [17] and the ability of rapidly-dividing bulk cancer cells to do this has been well characterised [88]. Immune evasion by quiescent cancer stem cells, including breast CSCs, is an interesting paradigm that remains to be elucidated. Currently, the exact origin of BCSCs is yet to be uncovered. It is thought that a *bona fide* cancer stem cell, with acquired stem-like properties, evolves from the tumour cell-of-origin through survival of the fittest [56]. The presence of immune

🖄 Springer

cells within the immuniche may aid cancer cells in acquiring a more stem-like and immune-resistant phenotype through a process termed "immune selection" (Fig. 1).

Immune selection may play a part in resistance to immunemediated therapy of cancer stem cells. Bulk cancer cells can develop resistance to conventional cytotoxic drugs due to upregulation of drug transporters [17], and it is thought that CSCs may have more robust mechanisms of drug efflux. The same may be true for immunotherapies, where CSCs avoid killing by cytotoxic cells. For example, it was found that treatment with trastuzumab depleted HER2-expressing breast cancer cells through a natural killer (NK) cell-mediated mechanism. However, cells that survived this NK immune selection had increased CD44<sup>hi</sup>CD24<sup>lo</sup> surface marker expression and were able to grow more robustly as manmospheres compared with naïve cells. After six cycles of treatment, the CD44<sup>hi</sup>CD24<sup>lo</sup> cell content was significantly increased, indicating that proportions of BCSCs increased over time through immune selection [89].

Tumour cells are also able to avoid recognition by primed immune cells through immuno-editing, a process in which tumour cells lose or modify tumour antigens. Findings by Knutson et al. showed that immuno-editing may occur through the process of EMT, a route that may also result in the acquisition of a BCSC phenotype. The authors have suggested that immuno-editing is not an incremental loss of tumour antigens but rather an active process in which cells use EMT to de-differentiate into cells of a stem-like state [90].

Immune selection and immuno-editing may result in tumour cells that are recognised as self by immune cells, thus leading to tolerance and evasion of the immune system. Exact mechanisms underlying these phenomena are not yet known, however glycoprotein CD200 (OX2) has been reported to be an important player in BCSC immune evasion. OX2 is commonly expressed in myeloid cells and has been studied as a therapeutic target for its role in tolerance. In tumourigenic and invasive breast cancer cells, it was found that a high percent of OX2<sup>+</sup> cells were CD44<sup>+</sup>CD24<sup>-</sup> [91].

In summary, it is plausible that the infiltration of immune cells into mammary tumours may stimulate more mature breast cancer cells to de-differentiate into stem-like cells through EMT, coinciding with the activation of molecules that promote tolerance of CSCs by the immune system. This in turn may lead to CSC immune evasion and the development of more aggressive tumours. This hypothesis warrants specifically designed future studies, which should examine the interplay between immune infiltrates and BCSC populations in animal models and primary human tumour samples.

#### Cell-Based Immunotherapy and Breast Cancer Stem Cells

Numerous cancer-targeted immunotherapies are currently being explored and considerable progress has been made in the development of cell-based novel therapeutics, also known as "activation" immunotherapy, for the treatment of breast cancer (for a recent review, see [92]). Whilst the use of cell-based immunotherapy to treat multiple malignancies has progressed to the advanced stages of preclinical development, the concept of CSC-directed immunotherapy is still in its infancy. Bearing in mind that CSCs are largely resistant to conventional therapeutics, the generation of new cell-based approaches aimed at specifically eliminating this evasive cancer cell subset may provide a potential cure for as yet incurable cancers.

Recently, Wang et al. developed an irradiated whole cell vaccine from CD24<sup>+</sup>CD29<sup>+</sup> mammosphere cells, originally from HER2/neu transgenic mice with breast cancer. Once mice were immunised with the vaccine, both cytotoxic and helper T cells were isolated from draining lymph nodes, separated, and activated by cytokines in vitro. When the primed T cells were adoptively transferred into mice with established lung metastasis, there was near complete eradication of lung tumours [93], demonstrating the applicability of this cell-based approach.

Another group found that in drug-resistant breast cancer cell lines which have a high proportion of cells expressing BCSC markers, the balance of stem cell-associated molecules Notch and its antagonist Numb shifted towards Numb. In culture, Numb-1 peptides were able to activate Numb1<sup>+</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup> immune cells, and when these Numb1<sup>+</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup> cells were incubated with breast cancer cells, the proportion of CD44<sup>hi</sup>CD24<sup>-/lo</sup> cells was reduced. This implies that cells with BCSC markers could be eliminated by Numb-1-peptide complex specific cytotoxic T cells to induce cell-mediated cytotoxic immunity [94]. Adoptive transfer experiments may show whether this approach is a viable in vivo option.

Pulsed dendritic cell vaccines may also hold potential as BCSC vaccines. At the time of writing this review, no literature was available on this topic. However, it is feasible that a similar approach as described in melanoma could be applied to breast cancer. Recently, Ning et al. showed that pulsing dendritic cells with ALDH1<sup>+/hi</sup> melanoma cells to obtain a CSC vaccine, and subsequent immunisation of mice followed by challenge with bulk tumour cells, induced both humoral and cell-mediated protective immunity. Treatment of mice with this vaccine led to reduced tumour growth and metastasis in murine xenograft models of melanoma [95].

The latest study by Knutson and colleagues proposed a multi-peptide vaccination in combination with antibody therapy to simultaneously target various cell subsets within the tumour and the immuniche including TAMs and BCSCs. However, these results do not directly assess the impact of this therapeutic approach on the BCSC populations [96].

These approaches are only just evolving and there remains the need to verify and validate their feasibility in more diverse disease models, particularly in mouse models of breast cancer and human preclinical studies. Whilst vaccines specifically targeting BCSCs are a promising avenue for more effective future treatments, a great deal of work is still required as there are no currently available data for their use in primary settings. Also, the possibility of immune selection of cells able to acquire stem-like characteristics remains a cause for concern.

#### Conclusions

There is considerable evidence that the maintenance and activity of breast cancer stem cells is dependent to a large extent on immune modulators expressed not only by BCSCs themselves but also by stromal and immune cells within the immuniche. The presence of cancer-associated fibroblasts, mesenchymal stem cells, macrophages and T cells may be necessary for BCSC self-renewal and maintenance of the stem cell phenotype through secreted factors. Furthermore, the impact of T cells and other immune cells must be carefully balanced to prevent tolerance and immune selection of BCSCs which are able to survive the onslaught of conventional therapies. In the near future, the development of novel agents and approaches targeting the components of the immuniche may provide more effective cancer stem cell-directed therapies for breast cancer patients.

Acknowledgments We thank Miss Michelle Turvey for critical reading of the manuscript. Work by S. T. Boyle and M. Kochetkova is supported by a grant from the National Health and Medical Research Council and the Australian Postgraduate Award.

#### References

- Clevers H. The cancer stem cell: premises, promises and challenges. Nat Med. 2011;17(3):313–9.
- Bonnet D, Dick JE. Human acute myeloid leukemia is organized as a hierarchy that originates from a primitive hematopoietic cell. Nat Med. 1997;3(7):730–7.
- Visvader JE, Lindeman GJ. Cancer stem cells: current status and evolving complexities. Cell Stem Cell. 2012;10(6):717–28.
- Malanchi I et al. Interactions between cancer stem cells and their niche govern metastatic colonization. Nature. 2012;481(7379):85–9.
- Bouras T et al. Notch signaling regulates mammary stem cell function and luminal cell-fate commitment. Cell Stem Cell. 2008;3(4):429–41.
- Liu S et al. Hedgehog signaling and Bmi-1 regulate self-renewal of normal and malignant human mammary stem cells. Cancer Res. 2006;66(12):6063–71.
- Wang, Y., et al., Transforming growth factor-beta regulates the sphere-initiating stem cell-like feature in breast cancer through miRNA-181 and ATM. Oncogene, 2010.
- van Amerongen R, Bowman AN, Nusse R. Developmental stage and time dictate the fate of Wnt/beta-catenin-responsive stem cells in the mammary gland. Cell Stem Cell. 2012;11(3):387–400.
- Karamboulas C, Ailles L. Developmental signaling pathways in cancer stem cells of solid tumors. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2013;1830(2):2481–95.
- Alison, M.R., S.M. Lim, and L.J. Nicholson, *Cancer stem cells: problems for therapy*? J Pathol, 2010.
- Al-Hajj M et al. Prospective identification of tumorigenic breast cancer cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2003;100(7):3983–8.
- Shackleton M et al. Generation of a functional mammary gland from a single stem cell. Nature. 2006;439(7072):84–8.

🖄 Springer

210

- Stingl J et al. Purification and unique properties of mammary epithelial stem cells. Nature. 2006;439(7079):993–7.
- Patrawala L et al. Side population is enriched in tumorigenic, stemlike cancer cells, whereas ABCG2+ and ABCG2- cancer cells are similarly tumorigenic. Cancer Res. 2005;65(14):6207–19.
- Ginestier C et al. ALDH1 is a marker of normal and malignant human mammary stem cells and a predictor of poor clinical outcome. Cell Stem Cell. 2007;1(5):555–67.
- Dontu G et al. In vitro propagation and transcriptional profiling of human mammary stem/progenitor cells. Genes Dev. 2003;17(10): 1253–70.
- Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. Cell. 2011;144(5):646–74.
- Aspord C et al. Breast cancer instructs dendritic cells to prime interleukin 13-secreting CD4+ T cells that facilitate tumor development. J Exp Med. 2007;204(5):1037–47.
- DeNardo DG, Coussens LM. Inflammation and breast cancer. Balancing immune response: crosstalk between adaptive and innate immune cells during breast cancer progression. Breast Cancer Res. 2007;9(4):212.
- Olkhanud PB et al. Tumor-evoked regulatory B cells promote breast cancer metastasis by converting resting CD4(+) T cells to Tregulatory cells. Cancer Res. 2011;71(10):3505–15.
- Liyanage UK et al. Prevalence of regulatory T cells is increased in peripheral blood and tumor microenvironment of patients with pancreas or breast adenocarcinoma. J Immunol. 2002;169(5):2756–61.
- Gobert M et al. Regulatory T cells recruited through CCL22/CCR4 are selectively activated in lymphoid infiltrates surrounding primary breast tumors and lead to an adverse clinical outcome. Cancer Res. 2009;69(5):2000–9.
- Balkwill FR. The chemokine system and cancer. J Pathol. 2012;226(2):148–57.
- Bombonati A, Sgroi DC. The molecular pathology of breast cancer progression. J Pathol. 2011;223(2):307–17.
- de la Cruz-Merino L et al. New insights into the role of the immune microenvironment in breast carcinoma. Clin Dev Immunol. 2013;2013:785317.
- Zlotnik A, Yoshie O. The chemokine superfamily revisited. Immunity. 2012;36(5):705–16.
- Qian BZ et al. CCL2 recruits inflammatory monocytes to facilitate breast-tumour metastasis. Nature. 2011;475(7355):222–5.
- Nannuru KC et al. Role of chemokine receptor CXCR2 expression in mammary tumor growth, angiogenesis and metastasis. J Carcinog. 2011;10:40.
- Zhang Y et al. A novel role of hematopoietic CCL5 in promoting triple-negative mammary tumor progression by regulating generation of myeloid-derived suppressor cells. Cell Res. 2013;23(3):394–408.
- Cabioglu N et al. CCR7 and CXCR4 as novel biomarkers predicting axillary lymph node metastasis in T1 breast cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 2005;11(16):5686–93.
- Russo RC et al. The CXCL8/IL-8 chemokine family and its receptors in inflammatory diseases. Expert Rev Clin Immunol. 2014;10(5): 593–619.
- Charafe-Jauffret E et al. Breast cancer cell lines contain functional cancer stem cells with metastatic capacity and a distinct molecular signature. Cancer Res. 2009;69(4):1302–13.
- Ginestier C et al. CXCR1 blockade selectively targets human breast cancer stem cells in vitro and in xenografts. J Clin Invest. 2010;120(2):485–97.
- Acharyya S et al. A CXCL1 paracrine network links cancer chemoresistance and metastasis. Cell. 2012;150(1):165–78.
- Singh S et al. Small-molecule antagonists for CXCR2 and CXCR1 inhibit human melanoma growth by decreasing tumor cell proliferation, survival, and angiogenesis. Clin Cancer Res. 2009;15(7):2380–6.
- Korkaya H et al. Activation of an IL6 inflammatory loop mediates trastuzumab resistance in HER2+ breast cancer by expanding the cancer stem cell population. Mol Cell. 2012;47(4):570–84.

- Marotta LL et al. The JAK2/STAT3 signaling pathway is required for growth of CD44(+)CD24(-) stem cell-like breast cancer cells in human tumors. J Clin Invest. 2011;121(7):2723–35.
- Liu S et al. Breast cancer stem cells are regulated by mesenchymal stem cells through cytokine networks. Cancer Res. 2011;71(2):614–24.
- Chapman RW et al. CXCR2 antagonists for the treatment of pulmonary disease. Pharmacol Ther. 2009;121(1):55–68.
- Kodama J et al. Association of CXCR4 and CCR7 chemokine receptor expression and lymph node metastasis in human cervical cancer. Ann Oncol. 2007;18(1):70–6.
- Kochetkova M, Kumar S, McColl SR. Chemokine receptors CXCR4 and CCR7 promote metastasis by preventing anoikis in cancer cells. Cell Death Differ. 2009;16(5):664–73.
- Dubrovska A et al. CXCR4 activation maintains a stem cell population in tamoxifen-resistant breast cancer cells through AhR signalling. Br J Cancer. 2012;107(1):43–52.
- Sheridan C et al. CD44+/CD24- breast cancer cells exhibit enhanced invasive properties: an early step necessary for metastasis. Breast Cancer Res. 2006;8(5):R59.
- Huang M et al. Breast cancer stromal fibroblasts promote the generation of CD44+CD24- cells through SDF-1/CXCR4 interaction. J Exp Clin Cancer Res. 2010;29:80.
- Cronin PA, Wang JH, Redmond HP. Hypoxia increases the metastatic ability of breast cancer cells via upregulation of CXCR4. BMC Cancer. 2010;10:225.
- Smith MC et al. CXCR4 regulates growth of both primary and metastatic breast cancer. Cancer Res. 2004;64(23):8604–12.
- Asiedu MK et al. TGFbeta/TNF(alpha)-mediated epithelialmesenchymal transition generates breast cancer stem cells with a claudin-low phenotype. Cancer Res. 2011;71(13):4707–19.
- Luker KE et al. Scavenging of CXCL12 by CXCR7 promotes tumor growth and metastasis of CXCR4-positive breast cancer cells. Oncogene. 2012;31(45):4750–8.
- Yoshimura T et al. Monocyte chemoattractant protein-1/CCL2 produced by stromal cells promotes lung metastasis of 4 T1 murine breast cancer cells. PLoS One. 2013;8(3):e58791.
- Velasco-Velazquez M et al. CCR5 antagonist blocks metastasis of basal breast cancer cells. Cancer Res. 2012;72(15):3839–50.
- Tsuyada A et al. CCL2 mediates cross-talk between cancer cells and stromal fibroblasts that regulates breast cancer stem cells. Cancer Res. 2012;72(11):2768–79.
- Carr MW et al. Monocyte chemoattractant protein 1 acts as a Tlymphocyte chemoattractant. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1994;91(9):3652–6.
- Iliopoulos D, Hirsch HA, Struhl K. An epigenetic switch involving NF-kappaB, Lin28, Let-7 MicroRNA, and IL6 links inflammation to cell transformation. Cell. 2009;139(4):693–706.
- Sansone P et al. IL-6 triggers malignant features in mammospheres from human ductal breast carcinoma and normal mammary gland. J Clin Invest. 2007;117(12):3988–4002.
- 55. Iliopoulos D et al. Inducible formation of breast cancer stem cells and their dynamic equilibrium with non-stem cancer cells via IL6 secretion. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2011;108(4):1397–402.
- Visvader JE. Cells of origin in cancer. Nature. 2011;469(7330):314– 22.
- Marotta, L.L., et al., The JAK2/STAT3 signaling pathway is required for growth of CD44+CD24- stem cell-like breast cancer cells in human tumors. J Clin Invest, 2011. 121(7).
- Ansieau S. EMT in breast cancer stem cell generation. Cancer Lett. 2013;338(1):63–8.
- Xie G et al. IL-6-induced epithelial-mesenchymal transition promotes the generation of breast cancer stem-like cells analogous to mammosphere cultures. Int J Oncol. 2012;40(4):1171–9.
- Sullivan NJ et al. Interleukin-6 induces an epithelial-mesenchymal transition phenotype in human breast cancer cells. Oncogene. 2009;28(33):2940–7.

#### J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia (2014) 19:203-211

- Anderson DM et al. A homologue of the TNF receptor and its ligand enhance T-cell growth and dendritic-cell function. Nature. 1997;390(6656):175–9.
- Page G, Miossec P. RANK and RANKL expression as markers of dendritic cell-T cell interactions in paired samples of rheumatoid synovium and lymph nodes. Arthritis Rheum. 2005;52(8):2307–12.
- Palafox M et al. RANK induces epithelial-mesenchymal transition and stemness in human mammary epithelial cells and promotes tumorigenesis and metastasis. Cancer Res. 2012;72(11):2879–88.
- Pellegrini P et al. Constitutive activation of RANK disrupts mammary cell fate leading to tumorigenesis. Stem Cells. 2013;31(9):1954– 65.
- Thomas E et al. Receptor activator of NF-kappaB ligand promotes proliferation of a putative mammary stem cell unique to the lactating epithelium. Stem Cells. 2012;30(6):1255–64.
- Schramek D et al. Osteoclast differentiation factor RANKL controls development of progestin-driven mammary cancer. Nature. 2010;468(7320):98–102.
- Arwert EN, Hoste E, Watt FM. Epithelial stem cells, wound healing and cancer. Nat Rev Cancer. 2012;12(3):170–80.
- Spike BT et al. A mammary stem cell population identified and characterized in late embryogenesis reveals similarities to human breast cancer. Cell Stem Cell. 2012;10(2):183–97.
- Asselin-Labat ML et al. Control of mammary stem cell function by steroid hormone signalling. Nature. 2010;465(7299):798–802.
- Joshi PA et al. Progesterone induces adult mammary stem cell expansion. Nature. 2010;465(7299):803–7.
- Chin AR, Wang SE. Cytokines driving breast cancer stemness. Mol Cell Endocrinol. 2014;382(1):598–602.
- Aggarwal S, Pittenger MF. Human mesenchymal stem cells modulate allogeneic immune cell responses. Blood. 2005;105(4):1815–22.
- Sotiropoulou PA et al. Interactions between human mesenchymal stem cells and natural killer cells. Stem Cells. 2006;24(1):74–85.
- Karnoub AE et al. Mesenchymal stem cells within tumour stroma promote breast cancer metastasis. Nature. 2007;449(7162):557–63.
  Dwyer RM et al. Monocyte chemotactic protein-1 secreted by pri-
- mary breast tumors stimulates migration of mesenchymal stem cells. Clin Cancer Res. 2007;13(17):5020–7.
- Migneco G et al. Glycolytic cancer associated fibroblasts promote breast cancer tumor growth, without a measurable increase in angiogenesis: evidence for stromal-epithelial metabolic coupling. Cell Cycle. 2010;9(12):2412–22.
- 77. Liao D et al. Cancer associated fibroblasts promote tumor growth and metastasis by modulating the tumor immune microenvironment in a 4 T1 murine breast cancer model, PLoS One. 2009;4(11):e7965.
- Orimo A et al. Stromal fibroblasts present in invasive human breast carcinomas promote tumor growth and angiogenesis through elevated SDF-1/CXCL12 secretion. Cell. 2005;121(3):335–48.
- Pollard JW. Tumour-educated macrophages promote tumour progression and metastasis. Nat Rev Cancer. 2004;4(1):71–8.

Okuda H et al. Hyaluronan synthase HAS2 promotes tumor progression in bone by stimulating the interaction of breast cancer stem-like cells with macrophages and stromal cells. Cancer Res. 2012;72(2): 537–47.

541-55

- Jinushi M et al. Tumor-associated macrophages regulate tumorigenicity and anticancer drug responses of cancer stem/initiating cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2011;108(30):12425–30.
- Hong CC et al. Pretreatment levels of circulating Th1 and Th2 cytokines, and their ratios, are associated with ER-negative and triple negative breast cancers. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2013;139(2):477–88.
- Liu F et al. CD8(+) cytotoxic T cell and FOXP3(+) regulatory T cell infiltration in relation to breast cancer survival and molecular subtypes. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2011;130(2):645–55.
- Seo AN et al. Tumour-infiltrating CD8+ lymphocytes as an independent predictive factor for pathological complete response to primary systemic therapy in breast cancer. Br J Cancer. 2013;109(10):2705–13.
- Benevides L et al. Enrichment of regulatory T cells in invasive breast tumor correlates with the upregulation of IL-17A expression and invasiveness of the tumor. Eur J Immunol. 2013;43(6):1518–28.
- Santisteban M et al. Immune-induced epithelial to mesenchymal transition in vivo generates breast cancer stem cells. Cancer Res. 2009;69(7):2887–95.
- Holzel M, Bovier A, Tuting T. Plasticity of tumour and immune cells: a source of heterogeneity and a cause for therapy resistance? Nat Rev Cancer. 2013;13(5):365–76.
- Reim F et al. Immunoselection of breast and ovarian cancer cells with trastuzumab and natural killer cells: selective escape of CD44high/ CD24low/HER2low breast cancer stem cells. Cancer Res. 2009;69(20):8058–66.
- Knutson KL et al. Immunoediting of cancers may lead to epithelial to mesenchymal transition. J Immunol. 2006;177(3):1526–33.
- Kawasaki BT et al. Co-expression of the toleragenic glycoprotein, CD200, with markers for cancer stem cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2007;364(4):778–82.
- 92. Wright SE. Immunotherapy of breast cancer. Expert Opin Biol Ther. 2012;12(4):479–90.
- Wang LX, Plautz GE. T cells sensitized with breast tumor progenitor cell vaccine have therapeutic activity against spontaneous HER2/neu tumors. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2012;134(1):61–70.
- Mine T et al. Breast cancer cells expressing stem cell markers CD44+ CD24 lo are eliminated by Numb-1 peptide-activated T cells. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2009;58(8):1185–94.
- Ning N et al. Cancer stem cell vaccination confers significant antitumor immunity. Cancer Res. 2012;72(7):1853–64.
- Karyampudi, L., et al., Accumulation of Memory Precursor CD8 T Cells in Regressing Tumors Following Combination Therapy with Vaccine and Anti-PD-1 Antibody. Cancer Res, 2014.

🖄 Springer

Title of Paper	The chemokine receptor CCR7 promotes mammary tumourigenesis through amplification of stem-like cells				
Publication Status	Published, O Accepted for Publication, O Submitted for Publication, O Publication style				
Publicaton Details	Accepted January 6 2015 Oncogene, Advance online publication, March 16 2015 dol: 10.1038/onc.2015.66 Impact Factor: 8.56				
Author Contributions By signing the Statement of Authorst permission is granted for the publication	rip, each author certifies that their stated co to be included in the candidate's thesis.	minibution to t	he publication is accurate and the		
Name of Principal Author (Candidate)	Miss Sarah T. Boyle				
Contribution to the Paper	Designed the study Carried out all experiments except those specified below Maintained animal models Wrote the manuscript				
Signature		Dale	20 / 03 /2015		
Name of Co-Author	Associate Professor Wendy V. Ingman				
Contribution to the Paper	Assistance in conception of study Provided technical instruction and transgenic animal model Performed one of the transplantations (analysed by Sarah Boyle) Provided,human tissue specimens				
Signature		Date	// / 06/2015		
Name of Co-Author	Miss Valentina Poltavets				
Contribution to the Paper	Performed Immunofluorescence Performed some of the histology	staining			
Signature		Date	23 103/2015		
Name of Co-Author	Miss Jessica W. Faulkner		and a second		
Contribution to the Paper	Technical assistance in performing experiments Maintained animal models				
Signature		Date	11 /05/2015		
	Doctor Robert J. Whitfield				
Name of Co-Author	Broylded human tissue speciment	s			
Name of Co-Author Contribution to the Paper	Critiqued the manuscript				
Name of Co-Author	Critiqued the manuscript	Date	1 / 10 /2015		

Name of Co-Author	Professor Shaun R. McColl				
Contribution to the Paper	Assistance in conception of the study Supervised the study Provided reagents and animal models Edited the manuscript				
Signature		Date	>0 /0 3 /2015		
Name of Co-Author	Doctor Marina Kochetkova				
Contribution to the Paper	Designed, conceived of and supervised the study Backcrossed mice and provided technical assistance Performed proliferation assay and calcium signalling analysis Edited the manuscript				
Signature		Date	20/03/2015		

Oncogene (2015), 1–11 © 2015 Macmillan Publishers Limited All rights reserved 0950-9232/15

ORIGINAL ARTICLE The chemokine receptor CCR7 promotes mammary tumorigenesis through amplification of stem-like cells

ST Boyle<sup>1</sup>, WV Ingman<sup>2,3</sup>, V Poltavets<sup>1</sup>, JW Faulkner<sup>1</sup>, RJ Whitfield<sup>4,5</sup>, SR McColl<sup>1,6</sup> and M Kochetkova<sup>1</sup>

The chemokine receptor CCR7 is widely implicated in breast cancer pathobiology. Although recent reports correlated high CCR7 levels with more advanced tumor grade and poor prognosis, limited *in vivo* data are available regarding its specific function in mammary gland neoplasia and the underlying mechanisms involved. To address these questions we generated a bigenic mouse model of breast cancer combined with CCR7 deletion, which revealed that CCR7 ablation results in a considerable delay in tumor onset as well as significantly reduced tumor burden. Importantly, CCR7 was found to exert its function by regulating mammary cancer stem-like cells in both murine and human tumors. *In vivo* experiments showed that loss of CCR7 activity either through deletion or pharmacological antagonism significantly decreased functional pools of stem-like cells in mouse primary mammary tumors, providing a mechanistic explanation for the tumor-promoting role of this chemokine receptor. These data characterize the oncogenic properties of CCR7 in mammary epithelial neoplasia and point to a new route for therapeutic intervention to target evasive cancer stem cells.

Oncogene advance online publication, 16 March 2015; doi:10.1038/onc.2015.66

#### INTRODUCTION

Despite concerted efforts and significant advances, breast cancerrelated mortality is still a leading cause of death in women worldwide.<sup>1</sup> Clearly novel therapies are urgently needed. The 'cancer stem cell' theory specifies that a small subset of cells in a heterogeneous tumor (termed 'cancer stem cells' (CSCs)) possess stem cell-like properties of self-renewal and differentiation. CSCs are suggested to sustain and propagate tumors, and are inherently therapy-resistant (for the latest reviews see<sup>2</sup> and<sup>3</sup>).

CSCs may originate from adult stem cells, but can also arise from more committed lineage progenitor cells if they acquire stem cell-like features owing to genetic or epigenetic changes.<sup>4</sup> Multiple intrinsic and extrinsic factors are reported to have a role in CSC maintenance, regulation and support of stem-like characteristics. Most prominent are the Notch,<sup>5</sup> Hedgehog,<sup>6</sup> Wnt<sup>7</sup> and TGF $\beta^8$  signaling systems. Several cytokines and chemokines have also been recently suggested as maintaining and promoting the CSC phenotype in a number of solid malignancies, including mammary tumors (reviewed in<sup>9</sup>); however, definitive *in vivo* data has been sparse.

Chemokine receptors and their cognate chemokine ligands have become widely accepted as important mediators of cancer growth and progression in many human neoplasms, being involved in tissue transformation, invasion, angiogenesis and resistance to chemotherapy.<sup>10</sup> Among these, the chemokine receptor CCR7 has been implicated in metastatic spread of multiple malignancies.<sup>11</sup> In breast carcinogenesis, it has been attributed a number of potential functions, including promotion of cell motility, migration and adhesion, regulation of matrix metalloproteinases leading to basement membrane degradation,<sup>12</sup> and cell survival through inhibition of anoikis.<sup>13</sup> Data obtained using cell lines has implicated CCR7 in breast cancer spread to the lymph nodes,<sup>14</sup> and in human breast cancer its role was inferred from retrospective studies on archived tumor tissues.<sup>15</sup> High expression levels of CCR7 were also correlated with higher grade and occurrence of secondary tumors, and poor prognosis.<sup>16,17</sup>

Whereas all these studies point to a role for CCR7 in malignancy, a direct function for CCR7 in cancer has not yet been established. Furthermore, its role in breast cancer in particular is unclear. We show here the development of a novel bigenic mouse model combining deletion of CCR7 with the polyoma middle-T transgene, which is under control of the mouse mammary tumor virus promoter (MMTV-PyMT), to study tumor development in vivo. Using this model we show that CCR7 deletion has a striking preventative effect on PyMT-driven mammary tumors, supporting the notion that CCR7 has a major determining role in breast oncogenesis. Moreover, our data reveal that the tumor-promoting effect of CCR7 is mediated through stem-like cells in both primary mouse and human breast tumors. These results provide new insights into the role of CCR7 in breast cancer stem-like cells and have important implications for the development of future therapeutics in breast cancer.

#### RESULTS

CCR7 deletion arrests mammary tumorigenesis in the PyMT transgenic breast cancer mouse model

The MMTV-PyMT transgenic breast cancer mouse model has been extensively used in recent years to study various aspects of

<sup>1</sup>Department of Molecular and Cellular Biology, School of Biological Sciences, University of Adelaide, Adelaide, South Australia, Australia; <sup>2</sup>The Robinson Institute, University of Adelaide, Adelaide, South Australia, Australia; <sup>2</sup>Discipline of Surgery, School of Medicine, The Queen Elizabeth Hospital, University of Adelaide, Adelaide, South Australia; <sup>4</sup>Breast, Endocrine and Surgical Oncology Unit, Royal Adelaide Hospital, Adelaide, South Australia, <sup>5</sup>School of Medicine, The Queen Elizabeth Hospital, University of Adelaide, Adelaide, South Australia; <sup>4</sup>Breast, Endocrine and Surgical Oncology Unit, Royal Adelaide Hospital, Adelaide, South Australia, Australia; <sup>5</sup>School of Medicine, University of Adelaide, South Australia, Australia; <sup>4</sup>Breast, Endocrine and <sup>6</sup>Centre for Molecular Pathology, University of Adelaide, Adelaide, South Australia, Australia; <sup>5</sup>School of Biological Sciences, University of Adelaide, Adelaide, South Australia, Australia; Australia; <sup>4</sup>Breast, Endocrine and <sup>6</sup>Centre for Molecular Pathology, University of Adelaide, Adelaide, South Australia; Australia; Australia; <sup>4</sup>Breast, Endocrine and <sup>6</sup>Centre for Molecular Pathology, University of Adelaide, Adelaide, South Australia; Australia; Australia; <sup>4</sup>Breast, Bathology, School of Biological Sciences, University of Adelaide, Adelaide; South Australia; Australia; <sup>4</sup>Breast, Bathology, Iniversity of Adelaide, Adelaide; <sup>5</sup>Bothol Subthalt, Australia; <sup>4</sup>Breast, <sup>5</sup>Bothol of Biological Sciences, University of Adelaide, South Australia; <sup>4</sup>Breast, <sup>5</sup>Bothol of Biological Sciences, University of Adelaide, <sup>5</sup>Bothol Subthalt, <sup>4</sup>Breast, <sup>5</sup>Bothol of Biological Sciences, <sup>5</sup>Bo

E-mail: marina.kochetkova@adelaide.edu.au

Received 10 October 2014; revised 16 December 2014; accepted 6 January 2015

npg

CCR7 promotes breast cancer via stem-like cells ST Boyle *et al* 

 $\frac{\text{npg}}{2}$ 

mammary neoplasia. Expression of the PyMT protein promotes the rapid epithelial transformation of mammary cells via the corruption of various pathways including those of *Src, ras* and Pl3 kinase. This model also results in spontaneous metastasis and has been found to closely mimic the development of human breast cancer.<sup>18–20</sup> Representative images are shown in Supplementary Figure 1a, in which α-smooth muscle actin is used to stain myoepithelial cells.

To directly assess the role of CCR7 in the multistage process of mammary tumorigenesis *in vivo*, we generated bigenic MMTV-PyMT *Ccr7*<sup>-/-</sup> knockout mice (further referred to as CCR7 KO+) and traced the development of mammary tumors relative to MMTV-PyMT *Ccr7*<sup>WT</sup> mice (further referred to as WT+).

Deletion of CCR7 significantly delayed PyMT-driven primary mammary tumorigenesis (representative pictures Figure 1a). Tumor-free survival was significantly extended (Figure 1b) and total tumor burden was markedly reduced in CCR7 KO+ mice (Figure 1c) when compared with the WT+ animals. The lungs of WT+ and CCR7 KO+ females were also examined for metastatic lesions at the time of killing. CCR7 KO+ mice developed significantly fewer and smaller metastases than WT+ mice (Figures 1d-f), although the number of metastases varied largely between mice of the same genotype.

As these experiments indicated a role for CCR7 in mammary gland function, we next examined normal, pre-cancerous and cancer-bearing mouse mammary glands for CCR7 expression and signaling. CCR7 was shown to be expressed on all mouse mammary epithelial cells tested, regardless of the tumor stage (Supplementary Figure 1b), and the removal of CCR7 did not affect the expression levels of its ligands CCL19 and CCL21 within the mouse mammary fat pad (Supplementary Figure 2a). CCR7 was also found to be functional in PyMT-driven mammary tumors, as tumor cells mobilized intracellular calcium, a hallmark of chemokine receptor activity, in response to stimulation with CCL21 (Supplementary Figure 2b). These data showed that CCR7 was expressed and was functional within normal and transformed mammary epithelium.

Interestingly, despite the large impact of CCR7 on overall mammary tumorigenesis, initial PyMT-driven hyperplastic growth in 8- or 11-week-old WT+ and CCR7 KO+ mice was not affected (Supplementary Figure 3a), with similar tissue architecture in glands from both genotypes (Supplementary Figure 3b). This indicated that the CCR7 KO+ mammary glands underwent the initial oncogenic transformation leading to epithelial proliferation, but further tumorigenic transition was largely blocked by CCR7 deletion.

# CCR7 promotes tumorigenesis by amplifying breast cancer stem-like cells

To investigate the underlying mechanisms responsible for the tumorigenic effects seen, we examined the role of CCR7 in mammary gland development and on stem-like cells. We found that in non-PyMT wild-type (WT) pubertal mice, the epithelial tree was longer with a better developed ductal structure than that in  $Ccr7^{-/-}$  (CCR7 KO) mice (Figures 2a and b), indicating that ablation of CCR7 had a mild inhibitory effect on pubertal growth of the mammary gland epithelium. CCR7 was robustly expressed in normal mammary epithelium (Figure 2c), making this receptor also potentially relevant to normal mammary development. However, the development of mammary epithelium in the CCR7 KO mice caught up with that of the WT mice by the age of 8 weeks, and at 12 weeks mammary glands from the two genotypes were indistinguishable (Figure 2d), demonstrating that CCR7 deletion mainly delays early mammary gland development.

Because normal development and breast cancer are believed to be linked by common regulatory mechanisms, we hypothesized that the observed promotion of PyMT-driven tumorigenesis and

Oncogene (2015), 1-11

mammary development was due to CCR7 regulating stem/ progenitor cell pools in mammary epithelium. Thus, we next assayed the stem-like cell content in mice using the lineagenegative (Lin<sup>-</sup>) CD2<sup>4+</sup>CD29<sup>hi</sup> cell surface marker profile,<sup>4</sup> which was previously functionally characterized in the MMTV-PyMT model.<sup>21,22</sup> CCR7 was expressed in all cell lineages in both the normal and PyMT-expressing mammary glands regardless of CD24 and CD29 status. Notably, however, higher levels of CCR7 (>90%) were observed in Lin<sup>-</sup>CD24<sup>+</sup>CD29<sup>hi</sup> normal and cancer mouse mammary stem cell-enriched populations (Figure 3a, Supplementary Figure 4a and b). Importantly, CCR7 was also expressed on human CD44<sup>+</sup>CD24<sup>-</sup> putative mammary stem cells<sup>23</sup> from both normal and breast tumor tissue (Figure 3b, Supplementary Figure 4c).

Further analysis demonstrated a significantly lower content of Lin<sup>-</sup>CD24<sup>+</sup>CD29<sup>hi</sup> cells in non-PyMT CCR7 KO mice relative to WT (Figure 3c left panel). In PyMT-expressing mice at the stage of early neoplasia, when no morphological differences were found in WT+ and CCR7 KO+ glands (Supplementary Figure 3) and the stem/progenitor cell populations may, therefore, best reflect the tumor-initiating cell content, the difference in the stem cell-enriched population between WT+ and CCR7 KO+ mice was even more pronounced with the deletion of CCR7 leading to a twofold reduction in stem-like cells (Figure 3c right panel).

Recently Pece *et al.* have suggested a new and potentially more efficient set of markers, in which the notch ligands delta-like ligand 1 (DLL1) and delta and notch-like epidermal growth factor-related receptor (DNER) are used in combination with CD49f (Lin<sup>-</sup>CD49f<sup>+</sup>DLL1<sup>+</sup>DNER<sup>+</sup>) to delineate putative stem cells in human mammary tumors.<sup>24</sup> We found that the stem-like cells from both human and mouse mammary glands defined by this profile also expressed high levels of CCR7 (Supplementary Figure 4d and e). Moreover, the Lin<sup>-</sup>CD49f<sup>+</sup>DLL1<sup>+</sup>DNER<sup>+</sup> cell pools were significantly smaller in both normal and PyMT-expressing CCR7 KO murine mammary glands (Supplementary Figures 5a and b), providing further support for the findings described above.

It is generally accepted that non-adherent passaged mammosphere cultures are enriched in cells with stem-like characteristics, and secondary/tertiary mammosphere-forming efficiency (MFE) is representative of cells' potential to exhibit stem cell traits.<sup>25–27</sup> Stem-like activity, as measured by MFE, was then analyzed in the mammary epithelium in the presence or absence of CCR7. Primary and secondary sphere formation from normal (Figure 3d) or PyMTexpressing (Figure 3e) mammary cells was substantially reduced after CCR7 ablation and, importantly, stimulation of WT and WT+ cells with CCR7 ligands CCL19 and CCL21 significantly potentiated mammosphere growth (Figures 3d and e).

This CCR7 stimulatory function was seen exclusively on mammosphere growth, as stimulation with CCL19 and CCL21 had no detectable effect on the proliferation of bulk mammary tumor cells in adherent culture, a condition that supports a more differentiated phenotype (Supplementary Figure 5c). The addition of CCR7 ligands to sphere cultures derived from CCR7 KO+mammary cells also had no effect on MFE (Supplementary Figure 5d), demonstrating a CCR7 receptor-mediated mechanism. The specificity of CCR7 was further shown by testing a panel of ligands for other tumor-associated chemokine receptors CCR6,<sup>16</sup> (XCR3<sup>28</sup> and CXCR5.<sup>29</sup> No effects were observed on MFE (Supplementary Figure 5e).

To extend these findings to human breast cancer we next examined the activity of CCR7 in human primary tumor cells from resected breast cancer tissue. The addition of CCL19 and CCL21 resulted in an increase in primary and secondary MFE of human breast cancer cells by two- to threefold (Figure 3f), consistent with results obtained in the mouse model.

To specifically link the deletion of CCR7 to depleted tumorinitiating cells, a limiting dilution transplantation approach was used<sup>24</sup> to estimate tumor-initiating cell (TIC) frequency. Secondary

© 2015 Macmillan Publishers Limited



**Figure 1.** CCR7 deletion arrests mammary tumorigenesis in the PyMT transgenic breast cancer mouse model. (**a**-**c**) CCR7 ablation delays tumor onset and reduces tumor burden in the MMTV-PyMT-driven mouse model of breast cancer. (**a**) Representative images of MMTV-PyMT cdriven mouse model of breast cancer. (**a**) Representative images of MMTV-PyMT cdriven mouse model of breast cancer. (**a**) Representative images of MMTV-PyMT cdriven mouse model of breast cancer. (**a**) Representative images of MMTV-PyMT cdriven mouse model of breast cancer. (**a**) Representative images of MMTV-PyMT cdriven mouse model of breast cancer. (**a**) Representative images of MMTV-PyMT determine the time (**b**) Kaplan–Meier analysis of tumor-free survival for WT+ (n = 18) and CCR7 KO+ (n = 17) mice. (**c**) Number of tumors in WT+ and CCR7 KO+ mice at the time of killing. (**d**–**f**) CCR7 KO+ mice developed less lung metastases than their WT+ counterparts. (**d**) Total cumulative area of lung metastatic lesions in WT+ (n = 8) and CCR7 KO+ (n = 8) mice. (**e**) Distribution data of lung metastases in WT+ and CCR7 KO+ mice. (**f**) Persentative images of H&E-stained lung sections from WT+ (left) and CCR7 KO+ (right) mice with metastatic lesions (black arrowheads). Red arrowhead indicates inset magnified image. \*P < 0.05, \*\*P < 0.01, \*\*\*P < 0.001.

mammosphere-derived cells from WT+ and CCR7 KO+ mice with early neoplasia were used in this assay to address the potential of cells in mammosphere cultures to exhibit stem cell traits of selfrenewal and tumor initiation *in vivo*, in the context of CCR7dependency. Cells were injected into contralateral inguinal fat pads of non-PyMT WT recipients. Analysis of grafted fat pads after 6 weeks showed that WT+ sphere cells produced much more robust growth at all dilutions (Figure 4a and Supplementary Figure 6). Most importantly, the frequency of stem-like cells capable of tumor initiation within WT+ sphere culture (1/189) was over threefold higher than in CCR7 KO+ (1/913) (Figure 4b), providing strong evidence for the critical role of CCR7 in the regulation and maintenance of stem-like cells and tumor-initiating cells in the mammary gland.

CCR7 is required for the propagation of mammary tumors

To obtain *in vivo* evidence for the role of CCR7 in tumor propagation, we took advantage of the PyMT mouse model, which allows tumor formation upon transplantation.<sup>20</sup> Expression of the PyMT oncogene results in multifocal tumors and hence can

© 2015 Macmillan Publishers Limited

Oncogene (2015), 1-11

npg

3

4



The effect of CCR7 on normal mammary development. (a and b) Development of the mammary ductal tree was evaluated in Ccr7<sup>WT</sup> Figure 2. (WT) and  $Cer7^{-/-}$  (CCR7 KO) (57Bl/6 mice at 6 weeks of age. (a) Representative whole mount images of mammary glands, with apparent reduction in the size of ductal trees in CCR7 KO (right, n = 6) compared with WT (left, n = 7). LN = lymph node. (b) Quantitation of the length for the main epithelial duct (left), total number of mammary epithelial terminal structures (center), and branching within mammary epithelian determined by quantifying branch points per mm along three individual ducts (right). \*P < 0.05, \*\*P < 0.01, \*\*P < 0.00. (c) CCR7 expression (magenta) in normal mouse mammary terminal end buds of pubertal mice. Nuclei are counterstained with DAPI (gray). (d) Representative whole mount images of mammary glands taken from adult WT (left, n = 6) and CCR7 KO (right, n = 6) mice at 12 weeks of age with no apparent differences in the size and architecture of the mammary tree.

Figure 3. CCR7 activity amplifies stem-like cells in both mouse and human mammary glands. (a-c) Normal mammary glands and mammary tumors were analyzed by flow cytometry for stem-like cell content. (a) Proportion of cells positive for CCR7 in Lin<sup>-</sup> stem cell-enriched populations in normal mammary epithelium (left) and PyMT-expressing glands (right), as denoted by surface marker expression CD24<sup>+</sup> CD29<sup>-1</sup>. Shaded histograms = fluorescence-minus-one negative gates. (b) Proportion of cells positive for CCR7 in putative stem-like cell populations in normal human mammary epithelium (left) and PyMT-expressing glands (right), as denoted by surface marker expression CD24<sup>+</sup> CD29<sup>-1</sup>. Shaded histograms, fluorescence-minus-one negative gates. (c) CCR7 deletion decreases the proportion of mouse Lin<sup>-</sup> stem cell-enriched populations in normal (left) and PyMT-expressing (right) mammary glands as indicated. (d-f) The effect of CCR7 deletion/activation on rimary and eccondary mammerhates accessed Shawn are mamperphere forzing of cells divide from parmal populations in normal (iei) and Pyint-expressing (right) mainingry glands as indicated. (**a**-1) the effect of CCR7 deletion/activation on primary and secondary mammosphere formation was assessed. Shown are mammosphere-forming efficiencies of cells derived from normal mouse mammary glands (**d**), PyMT-expressing mouse mammary glands (**e**), and human patient-derived breast tumors (**f**). WT mouse cells and primary human cells were stimulated with CCL21 and CCL19 as indicated. (**a**-**f**) Mouse data are representative of at least three independent experiments, n = 6-10 mice per group. Human results are representative of two normal and four independent tumor samples. \*P < 0.05, \*\*P < 0.01, \*\*\*P < 0.001.

Oncogene (2015), 1-11

© 2015 Macmillan Publishers Limited

CCR7 promotes breast cancer via stem-like cells ST Boyle *et al* 

#### npg 5

generate diverse CSC pools owing to various underlying mutations within the same gland at the late stages of tumorigenesis. Therefore, we reasoned that if taken at the early stage of preneoplastic tumor development, the population of CSCs should be more homogeneous. Consequently, small 1mm<sup>3</sup> fragments of preneoplastic mammary tissue from 8-week-old PyMT transgenic WT+ and CCR7 KO+ mice were simultaneously transplanted into contralateral inguinal mammary fat pads of non-PyMT WT



© 2015 Macmillan Publishers Limited

Oncogene (2015), 1-11

npg

6



Number of Grafted Sphere-Derived Cells

2500	500	100	10	Frequency	Range ± SE
4/4	3/4	3/5	1/4	1/189*	117-306
3/4	3/4	1/5	0/4	1/913	563-1480
	4/4 3/4	2500     500       4/4     3/4       3/4     3/4	2500     500     100       4/4     3/4     3/5       3/4     3/4     1/5	2500     500     100     10       4/4     3/4     3/5     1/4       3/4     3/4     1/5     0/4	2500     500     100     10     Frequency       4/4     3/4     3/5     1/4     1/189*       3/4     3/4     1/5     0/4     1/913

\*p=0.0104

Figure 4. CCR7 increases *in vivo* tumor-initiating capacity of sphere cells. (a) Representative images of intact and respective whole-mounted contralateral mammary glands engrafted with 2500 WT+ or CCR7 KO+ sphere-derived cells. Black arrowheads indicate areas of outgrowth from engrafted cells. LN = lymph node. (b) Results of limiting dilution assay indicating frequency of tumor-initiating cells (TIC) in WT+ and CCR7 KO+ sphere cultures. Fractions indicate the number of fat pads with lesion(s) per total number of recipient fat pads.

recipients. Representative histological sections from both WT+ and CCR7 KO+ 8-week-old mice, corresponding to donor tissue, are shown in Figure 5a, confirming that the glands used for transplantation were at the equivalent stage of tumorigenesis.

Analysis of tumorigenic outgrowth from transplanted tissue showed that the deletion of CCR7 almost completely blocked secondary tumor development. Only one out of six transplants from the CCR7 KO+ donors was able to give rise to a neoplastic lesion, whereas five out of six fragments from the WT+ donors produced secondary outgrowths in WT recipients (Figures 5b and c), demonstrating a key role of CCR7 in tumor propagation.

#### Pharmacological antagonism of CCR7 in vivo depletes the

stem-like cell population and inhibits mammary tumorigenesis A CCR7 antagonist, CCL19<sub>(8-83)</sub><sup>30</sup> was used to explore the potential of targeting CCR7 for CSC-directed therapeutic intervention. Initially, the ability of CCL19<sub>(8-83)</sub> to block the stimulatory activity of CCR7 ligands on mammosphere-forming capacity was tested *ex vivo* and found to specifically abrogate the effect of CCL21 (Figure 6a) and CCL19 (data not shown) on mammosphere growth, providing a rationale for *in vivo* studies.

growth, providing a rationale for *in vivo* studies. The effect of CCR7 blockade by CCL19<sub>(8-83)</sub> on tumor initiation was then examined in the context of the PyMT transgenic mouse model. CCL19<sub>(8-83)</sub> was injected for eight consecutive weeks into inguinal mammary glands of animals from the age of 4-weeks-old. Glands were then excised and examined for the extent of

Oncogene (2015), 1-11

tumorigenesis and stem-like cell content and function. Macroscopic analysis demonstrated that  $CCL19_{(8-83)}$ -injected glands had smaller lesions than their control counterparts (representative image Figure 6b). The total weight of fat pads was not statistically different; however, the cellularity (total cell count and cells per mg of tissue) was significantly reduced by the antagonist (Figure 6c, Supplementary Figures 7a and b).

Treatment with CCL19<sub>(6-83)</sub> also resulted in a significant decrease in the proportion of stem-like cells (Lin<sup>-</sup>CD24<sup>+</sup>CD29<sup>hi</sup> Figure 6d left panel, and Lin<sup>-</sup>CD49f<sup>+</sup>DLL1<sup>+</sup>DNER<sup>+</sup> Supplementary Figure 7c) and the function of stem and early progenitor cells (Figure 6d right panel), without affecting the level of CCR7 receptor expression (Supplementary Figure 7d). PyMT transgenic mice on both FVB and C57BI/6 (not shown) backgrounds were tested, with similar results.

To determine whether treatment with CCL19<sub>(8–83)</sub> has an inhibitory effect on established and/or advanced later stage tumors, 1mm<sup>3</sup> size fragments of MMTV-PyMT WT+ tumors from 16-week-old mice, corresponding to the invasive ductal carcinoma stage of human breast cancer (Supplementary Figure 1a), were transplanted into inguinal glands of WT recipients followed by eight weekly injections of CCL19<sub>(8–83)</sub> or vehicle control (Figure 6e left panel). Although no significant differences were seen between CCL19<sub>(8–83)</sub><sup>-</sup> or vehicle-treated tumors in size or cellularity (Supplementary Figure 7e) as was observed in primary tumors, the proportions of stem-like cells determined by both

© 2015 Macmillan Publishers Limited



CCR7 promotes breast cancer via stem-like cells

ST Boyle et al

**Figure 5.** CCR7 is required for the propagation of mammary tumors. (a) Representative H&E-stained sections of pre-neoplastic mice at the WT+ and CCR7 KO+ donor age of 8 weeks. Bottom: magnified images of boxed area. (b) Representative whole-mount images of WT-recipient glands after transplantation of pre-neoplastic mammary tissue from WT+ (top) and CCR7 KO+ (bottom) donor mice at 8 weeks of age. Black arrowheads indicate areas of outgrowth from donor tissue. Fractions indicate the number of fat pads with lesion(s) per total number of recipient fat pads. LN=lymph node. (c) Cumulative area of transplant outgrowth in recipient mammary glands. n=6 mice per group. \*P < 0.05.

conventional (Lin<sup>-</sup>CD24<sup>+</sup>CD29<sup>hi</sup> Figure 6e center panel) or novel (Lin<sup>-</sup>CD49f<sup>+</sup>DL1<sup>+</sup>DNER<sup>+</sup> Supplementary Figure 7f) marker sets, as well as mammosphere growth (Figure 6e right panel), were significantly reduced in antagonist-treated glands, demonstrating that the CCR7 axis can be blocked *in vivo* to target stem-like cells in mammary tumors.

#### DISCUSSION

The contribution of CSCs to tumor initiation is a major issue in tumor biology, yet one of the least understood processes.<sup>3</sup> We show here that ablating CCR7 using a bigenic MMTV-PyMT  $Cc7^{-/-}$  model significantly depleted the breast CSC-enriched pool. Using the surface marker profiles CD24<sup>+</sup>CD29<sup>bi 4</sup> and CD49f<sup>+</sup>DLL1<sup>+</sup> DNER<sup>+ 24</sup> we showed that the underlying mechanism involves a decrease in the ability of stem-like cells and early progenitor cells

© 2015 Macmillan Publishers Limited

to self-renew and initiate neoplasia. Significantly, exogenously targeting CCR7 with a peptide antagonist led to a decrease in tumorigenesis.

CCR7 has been extensively studied for its role in adaptive immunity and secondary lymphoid organogenesis, and CCR7-null mice display disrupted architecture of the thymus and lymph node, as well as a reduced ability to mount a primary immune response.<sup>31</sup> The role of CCR7 in mediating anti-tumor immunity is also slowly emerging.<sup>32</sup> In this context, the fact that abrogation of CCR7 severely affected mammary tumorigenesis provides definitive evidence of CCR7 as a pro-tumorigenic driver. Furthermore, numerous transplantation approaches used in this study underscore an immune system-independent role of this chemokine receptor in maintaining stem-like cell pools in breast cancer.

Interestingly, hyperplastic outgrowth, widely believed to be a precursor of mammary tumors,  $^{20}$  was found in 100% of WT and

Oncogene (2015), 1-11

npg



**Figure 6.** Pharmacological antagonism of CCR7 *in vivo* depletes the stem-like cell population and inhibits mammary tumorigenesis. (**a**) MFE of Lin<sup>-</sup> mammary cells from WT+ mice (n = 9), untreated or treated with CCL21 and/or the CCR7 antagonist CCL19<sub>(8-83)</sub>. \*P < 0.05. (**b**-d) Treatment of mice with CCL19<sub>(8-83)</sub> reduces tumorigenesis in MMTV-PyMT WT+ mice. (**b**) Representative image of intact mammary glands treated with vehicle or CCL19<sub>(8-83)</sub> related to constrain the constraint of constraints of the constraint of the constraints of the

Oncogene (2015), 1-11

© 2015 Macmillan Publishers Limited

CCR7 promotes breast cancer via stem-like cells ST Boyle *et al* 

npg

CCR7-null PyMT-carrying glands examined. However, the majority of CCR7 KO+ glands were unable to sustain this initial proliferative burst of tumor cells and progress to the next stage in tumor development. Therefore, the delay in mammary tumorigenesis appears to be due to CCR7 maintaining specialized hierarchical sub-populations of cancer stem and progenitor-like cells that are thought to be crucial for tumor initiation and advanced tumorigenesis.<sup>2</sup>

The fact that both CCL19 and CCL21 stimulated mammosphere growth from both human and mouse tumor cells strongly suggests that CCR7 has a global role in sustaining properties of stemness in mammary epithelium. The specificity of CCR7 in this process was validated by testing a panel of chemokine receptor ligands, where only CCL19 and CCL21 showed an ability to significantly increase MFE.

Stimulation of CXCR4, the chemokine receptor that is consistently found to be upregulated together with CCR7 in a number of cancers,<sup>17</sup> did potentiate sphere formation but to a lesser extent (Supplementary Figure 5e). Recently, Clarke and colleagues demonstrated that stimulation of CXCR4 also increased MFE preferentially in malignant breast cancer cell lines compared with normal breast cell lines.<sup>26</sup> It is interesting to speculate that as CCR7 is less important for homeostasis than CXCR4, as has been inferred from animal models,<sup>33</sup> CCR7 may represent a more attractive target for future CSC-targeting therapies.

As stimulation of CCR7 had no effect on proliferation of the bulk population of cells when seeded into adherent culture, compared with a highly significant effect in non-adherent culture, it is likely that CCR7 predominantly mediates specific cellular properties of stemness. Moreover, we have previously reported that CCR7 activation on breast cancer cells inhibits anoikis,<sup>13</sup> a characteristic of breast and other CSCs.<sup>25,34</sup> Therefore, it is plausible that CCR7 supports CSC survival without attachment to the extracellular matrix, a hypothesis that may form the basis for future studies.

CCR7 appeared to have a quantitative rather than a qualitative role in normal mammary stem cells compared with CSCs. When CCR7 was deleted we saw a mild effect on the normal mammary gland. In contrast, a major effect was seen in mammary tumorigenesis. Interestingly, whereas the morphological effect on normal mammary gland development was not extensive, CCR7 deletion discreetly affected normal mammary gland stem-like cells. Therefore, it is possible that CCR7 has a role in regulating the properties of stemness within the mammary epithelial cell population, an effect that appears more prominent during cancer progression. As highlighted in a recent study by Cheresh and colleagues,<sup>35</sup> dysregulation of normal stem cells may contribute to breast cancer progression and stemness, and CCR7 may emerge as a novel mediator of this transition.

Translation of our findings from the mouse model to human disease is of particular significance, considering that there is currently no clear consensus on the markers that define functional mammary stem cells in both mice and humans. Thus, we show here that CCR7 not only has a role in mouse mammary tissue but is also expressed, is functional and is highly responsive in the stem-like populations within human breast cancer tissue. Intriguingly, circulating tumor cells, an indicator of metastatic spread and poor outcome in breast and other cancers, have been recently equated to CSCs.<sup>36</sup> In the last decade numerous studies also suggested a role for CCR7 in malignant dissemination of mammary tumors to distant sites.<sup>13,15,17</sup> Taken together, these results suggest a novel causative link between CCR7 activity on stem-like populations and metastatic breast cancer.

To seek proof-of-principle on the utility of pharmacologically targeting CCR7 we tested the receptor antagonist  $CCL19_{(8-83)}^{30}$  We found that pharmacological inhibition of CCR7 through direct mammary fat pad injection of CCL19<sub>(8-83)</sub> afforded a significant reduction in early-stage primary mammary tumorigenesis. As the relative contribution of the malignant lesions to the weight of the

© 2015 Macmillan Publishers Limited

whole mammary fat pad was very small at this early stage the reduction in total weight between antagonist and vehicle-treated glands was not statistically significant. However, the cellularity, a characteristic that directly reflects the extent of epithelial malignant outgrowth and is used in clinical pathology to evaluate the response to chemotherapy in breast cancer, was strongly impacted by treatment with the CCR7 antagonist.

More importantly, directly targeting CCR7 using the antagonist significantly depleted the stem-like cell pools in both early and late-stage mammary neoplasia as was shown using the transplantation approach. These findings strongly suggest that the CCR7 receptor axis is a potential point of intervention in stem cell-targeting therapies. Furthermore, the results of this study provide a rationale for the use of antagonists of the CCR7 pathway as adjuvants to conventional cytotoxic drugs unable to eliminate quiescent CSCs.<sup>2</sup>

In conclusion, the characterization of CCR7 in primary breast tumorigenesis *in vitro* and *in vivo*, and in mouse and human tissue, strongly suggests a role for this molecule in breast cancer development and progression. These insights raise the possibility of pharmacologically targeting CCR7 for the development of new therapies in breast cancer.

#### MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### Mice

Mice were maintained in pathogen-free conditions in the University of Adelaide's Laboratory Animal Services facility.  $Ccr7^{-/-}$  mice were purchased from Jackson Laboratory. FVB MMTV-PyMT (+) mice were backcrossed for 14 generations to C57Bl/6 background, and C57Bl/6 background was confirmed by microsatellite analysis. PyMT-carrying males were then crossed with  $Ccr7^{-/-}$  females, and the offspring were interbred to produce MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr7^{-/-}$  mice. The University of Adelaide institutional animal ethics committee approved all experimentation. For the assessment of CCR7 expression and CCl19<sub>(8-83)</sub> function both C57Bl/6 and FVB backgrounds were tested to eliminate any strain bias. For experiments involving knockout mice, only C57Bl/6 mice were tested. Nomenclature used for genotypes is as follows:  $Ccr7^{-/-} = CCR7$  KO, MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr7^{-/-} = CCR7$  KO.

#### Human mammary tissue

Ethical approval was granted by the Royal Adelaide Hospital Ethics Committee and all patients gave written, informed consent prior to surgery. Pathology reports for tumors used are available on request. Normal breast tissue samples were obtained from the Queen Elizabeth Hospital, Adelaide.

#### Whole mount staining

Mammary glands were fixed in Carnoy's and were stained overnight in Carmine Alum before dehydration and mounting. Image 'stitching' and analysis was performed using Image J.

#### Histology

Lungs of MMTV-PyMT WT+ or CCR7 KO+ mice were perfused and dissected, then cryoembedded in optimal cutting temperature (OCT) reagent and serially sectioned at 9µm. Formalin-fixed paraffin-embedded mammary glands/tumors were sectioned at 5µm. All slides were stained using haemotoxylin and eosin, dehydrated and mounted. Slides were scanned using the NanoZoomer Digital Pathology System (Hamamatsu Photonics, Shizuoka, Japan) and lung sections were manually quantitated using the NanoZoomer Digital Pathology Virtual Slide Viewer software for number of metastases and area at the largest point.

#### Immunofluorescent microscopy

Antigen retrieval of formalin-fixed paraffin-embedded mouse mammary sections was performed by boiling slides in 0.1 M sodium citrate buffer (pH 6.0). Slides were stained with rabbit anti-CCR7 (Epitomics, Burlingame, CA, USA) overnight at 4°C, and primary antibody was detected with Alexa

Oncogene (2015), 1-11
npg 10 CCR7 promotes breast cancer via stem-like cells ST Boyle *et al* 

Fluor 488-conjugated goat anti-rabbit (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, USA) for 30 min. Slides were counterstained with DAPI (4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole), mounted and analyzed using the Leica TCS SP5 Confocal Microscope System.

Processing mouse mammary tissue to single cell suspension Mouse mammary glands/tumors were dissected, with removal of the lymph node if possible. Tissue was manually dissociated and then digested in 10% collagenase/hyaluronidase (Stem Cell Technologies, Vancouver, BC, Canada) in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's medium (DMEM) for 3-4 h with gentle tilting. Single cells were extracted as previously described<sup>37</sup> and filtered through a 70 µm nylon mesh. To remove contaminating infiltrating cells of hematopoietic origin, Biotin Binder Dynabeads (Invitrogen) in combination with a biotinylated anti-mouse lineage antibody panel (BioLegend, San Diego, CA, USA) were used as suggested by the manufacturer.

Processing human mammary tissue to single cell suspension Surgical specimens were minced and digested in 10% collagenase/ hyaluronidase (Stem Cell Technologies) in DMEM supplemented with 20 mm HEPES (4-(2-hydroxyethyl)-1-piperazineethanesulfonic acid), penicillin-streptomycin and  $0.25 \mu g/ml$  fungazone. Organoids were then extensively washed with DMEM, and red blood cells were lysed by isotonic lysis buffer (150 mm NH<sub>4</sub>Cl in 17 mm Tris-HCl, pH 7.2). Single cell suspensions were obtained by digesting organoids with trypsin for 10 min at room temperature, with subsequent filtration through a 70  $\mu$ m nylon mesh.

#### Flow cytometry

Cells were fixed in 4% formaldehyde and immunostained for 45 min on ice in phosphate-buffered saline/0.5% bovine serum albumin (PBS/0.5% BSA). Antibodies used were: Alexa Fluor 647-conjugated anti-mouse CCR7, phycoerythrin (PE)-conjugated anti-mouse/anti-human CD24, fluorescein isothiocyanate (FITC)/PECy5-conjugated anti-human CD49f, FITCconjugated anti-human CD44 (all from BD, North Ryde, NSW, Australia), FITC-conjugated anti-mouse CD29, PE-conjugated anti-mouse/anti-human DL11 (all from BioLegend), and biotinylated anti-mouse/anti-human DNER (R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN, USA). Samples containing biotinylated antibodies were resuspended in PerCP/Cy5.5 or Alexa Fluor 488-conjugated streptavidin in PBS/0.5% BSA for 30 min on ice. Fluorescence-minus-one samples or conjugated isotypes were used as negative controls. Flow cytometry was carried out using FACSCanto equipment (BD). Data analysis was performed using FlowJo software (Tree Star Inc., Ashland, OR, USA).

#### Mammosphere assay

Cells were seeded in mammosphere medium (1:1 mixture of DMEM and Ham's F12 medium (Gibco, Life Technologies, Mulgrave, VIC, Australia) supplemented with 1 × B27 (Invitrogen), 20ng/ml epidermal growth factor, 20 ng/ml basic fibroblast growth factor, 4 µg/ml heparin (Sigma-Aldrich, St Louis, MO, USA), penicillin–streptomycin, and 0.25 µg/ml fungazone) at 4 × 10<sup>4</sup> cells/ml to an ultra-low attachment tray (Corning Inc., Corning, NY, USA). Where indicated, CCL21, CCL19 and CCL19<sub>(8–83)</sub> were added at concentrations of 10 ng/ml, 200 ng/ml and 100 ng/ml, respectively. Media was replenished every second day. After 7–10 days, mammospheres were counted and passaged.

#### Limiting dilution assay

Mammosphere colonies derived from 8-week-old pre-neoplastic MMTV-PyMT WT+ and CCR7 KO+ mice were dissociated using trypsin and triturated through a 19G needle. Following filtration, cells were injected in 20% Matrigel (BD):80% DMEM into the fourth inguinal mammary glands of anaesthetized WT-recipient mice (8-weeks-old) at limiting dilutions as previously described.<sup>24</sup> Mice were killed after 6 weeks and glands wholemounted. Tumor-initiating cell-frequency and statistical calculations were performed using L-Calc software (Stem Cell Technologies).

#### Tissue transplants

Mammary gland fragments of  $1 \text{ mm}^3$  size from donor MMTV-PyMT mice were transplanted into contralateral sides of anaesthetized congenic

Oncogene (2015), 1-11

non-PyMT WT-recipient mice (8-weeks-old) within the fourth inguinal mammary glands. Mice were monitored for adverse reactions to surgery and subsequent tumor growth.

#### In vivo treatment with CCR7 antagonist

Mice were injected under anesthetic into an inguinal mammary fat pad, with 1  $\mu$ g CCL19<sub>(8-83)</sub> truncated ligand in 50  $\mu$ l saline vehicle, as indicated. As a control, mice were injected in the contralateral inguinal mammary fat pad with vehicle alone as previously reported.<sup>88,39</sup>

#### Statistical analysis

Unless otherwise indicated, analyses were carried out using GraphPad Prism and data is shown as mean  $\pm$  s.em. Significant statistical difference was estimated using student's t-tests, or  $\chi^2$ -tests for distribution analysis. Tumor-free survival curves were graphed using the Kaplan-Meier method and distributions were compared by the log-rank statistic (Mantel-Cox test). All measurements were done in triplicate. *P*-values were used to denote statistical significance. Levels of significance were \* $P \leq 0.05$ , \*\* $P \leq 0.01$  and \*\*\* $P \leq 0.01$ .

#### CONFLICT OF INTEREST

The authors declare no conflict of interest.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We are grateful to Dr Timothy Proudman and Dr Pallave Dasari from the Queen Elizabeth Hospital for supply of normal human breast tissue and Dr Deepak Dhatrak of the Department of Anatomical Pathology at SA Pathology for procurement of human breast cancer samples. We would also like to sincerely thank Professor Angel Lopez for critical reading of the manuscript, and Dr Michael Samuel and Ms Natasha Pyne for assistance with immunohistochemistry. This work was supported by an NHMRC project grant. WVI is a National Breast Cancer Foundation/The QEH Research Foundation Fellow.

#### REFERENCES

- 1 Maxmen A. The hard facts. Nature 2012; 485: S50–S51.
- Visvader JE, Lindeman GJ. Cancer stem cells: current status and evolving complexities. *Cell Stem Cell* 2012; **10**: 717–728.
   Medema JP. Cancer stem cells: the challenges ahead. *Nat Cell Biol* 2013; **15**:
- 338–344.
- 4 Visvader JE. Keeping abreast of the mammary epithelial hierarchy and breast tumorigenesis. *Genes Dev* 2009; **23**: 2563–2577.
- 5 Bouras T, Pal B, Vaillant F, Harburg G, Asselin-Labat ML, Oakes SR et al. Notch signaling regulates mammary stem cell function and luminal cell-fate commitment. Cell Stem Cell 2008; 3: 429–441.
- 6 Liu S, Dontu G, Mantle ID, Patel S, Ahn NS, Jackson KW et al. Hedgehog signaling and Bmi-1 regulate self-renewal of normal and malignant human mammary stem cells. Cancer Res 2006; 66: 6063–6071.
- 7 van Amerongen R, Bowman AN, Nusse R. Developmental stage and time dictate the fate of Wnt/beta-catenin-responsive stem cells in the mammary gland. Cell Stem Cell 2012; 11: 387-400
- Stem Cell 2012; 11: 387–400.
   Iwanaga R, Wang CA, Micalizzi DS, Harrell JC, Jedlicka P, Sartorius CA et al.
   Expression of Six1 in luminal breast cancers predicts poor prognosis and promotes increases in tumor initiating cells by activation of extracellular signal-regulated kinase and transforming growth factor-beta signaling pathways. *Breast Cancer Res* 2012; 14: R100.
- 9 Chin AR, Wang SE. Cytokines driving breast cancer stemness. Mol Cell Endocrinol 2014; 382: 598–602.
- 10 Balkwill FR. The chemokine system and cancer. J Pathol 2012; 226: 148–157.
- 11 Muller A, Homey B, Soto H, Ge N, Catron D, Buchanan ME et al. Involvement of chemokine receptors in breast cancer metastasis. Nature 2001; 410: 50–56.
- 12 Li J, Sun R, Tao K, Wang G. The CCL21/CCR7 pathway plays a key role in human colon cancer metastasis through regulation of matrix metalloproteinase-9. *Dig Liver Dis* 2011; **43**: 40–47.
- 13 Kochetkova M, Kumar S, McColl SR. Chemokine receptors CXCR4 and CCR7 promote metastasis by preventing anoikis in cancer cells. *Cell Death Differ* 2009; 16: 664–673.
- 14 Cunningham HD, Shannon LA, Calloway PA, Fassold BC, Dunwiddie I, Vielhauer G et al. Expression of the C-C chemokine receptor 7 mediates metastasis of breast cancer to the lymph nodes in mice. *Transl Oncol* 2010; **3**: 354–361.

© 2015 Macmillan Publishers Limited

CCR7 promotes breast cancer via stem-like cells ST Boyle *et al* 

- 15 Andre F, Cabioglu N, Assi H, Sabourin JC, Delaloge S, Sahin A et al. Expression of chemokine receptors predicts the site of metastatic relapse in patients with axillary node positive primary breast cancer. Ann Oncol 2006; 17: 945–951.
- 16 Cassier PA, Treilleux I, Bachelot T, Ray-Coquard I, Bendriss-Vermare N, Menetrier-Caux C et al. Prognostic value of the expression of C-Chemokine Receptor 6 and 7 and their ligands in non-metastatic breast cancer. BMC Cancer 2011; 11: 213.
- 17 Cabioglu N, Yazici MS, Arun B, Broglio KR, Hontobagyi GN, Price JE et al. CCR7 and CXCR4 as novel biomarkers predicting axillary lymph node metastasis in T1 breast cancer. Clin Cancer Res 2005; 11: 5686–5693.
- 18 Lin EY, Jones JG, Li P, Zhu L, Whitney KD, Muller WJ et al. Progression to malignancy in the polyoma middle T oncoprotein mouse breast cancer model provides a reliable model for human diseases. Am J Pathol 2003; 163: 2113–2126.
- 19 Guy CT, Cardiff RD, Muller WJ. Induction of mammary tumors by expression of polyomavirus middle T oncogene: a transgenic mouse model for metastatic disease. Mol Cell Biol 1992; 12: 954–961.
- 20 Maglione JE, Moghanaki D, Young LJ, Manner CK, Ellies LG, Joseph SO et al. Transgenic Polyoma middle-T mice model premalignant mammary disease. Cancer Res 2001; 61: 8298–8305.
- 21 Schwab LP, Peacock DL, Majumdar D, Ingels JF, Jensen LC, Smith KD et al. Hypoxia-inducible factor 1alpha promotes primary tumor growth and tumorinitiating cell activity in breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Res* 2012: 14: 86.
- initiating cell activity in breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res 2012; 14: R6.
   22 Ma J, Lanza DG, Guest I, UK-Lim C, Glinskii A, Glinsky G et al. Characterization of mammary cancer stem cells in the MMTV-PyMT mouse model. Tumour Biol 2012; 33: 1983–1996.
- 23 Al-Hajj M, Wicha MS, Benito-Hernandez A, Morrison SJ, Clarke MF. Prospective identification of tumorigenic breast cancer cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 2003; 100: 3983–3988.
- 24 Pece S, Tosoni D, Confalonieri S, Mazzarol G, Vecchi M, Ronzoni S et al. Biological and molecular heterogeneity of breast cancers correlates with their cancer stem cell content. Cell 2010; 140: 62–73.
- 25 Dontu G, Abdallah WM, Foley JM, Jackson KW, Clarke MF, Kawamura MJ et al. In vitro propagation and transcriptional profiling of human mammary stem/ properties Cells Censes Dev 2003 127 1253–1270.
- progenitor cells. Genes Dev 2003; 17: 1253–1270.
   26 Ablett MP, O'Brien CS, Sims AH, Farnie G, Clarke RB. A differential role for CXCR4 in the regulation of normal versus malignant breast stem cell activity. Oncotarget 2014; 5: 599–612.
- 27 Pastrana E, Silva-Vargas V, Doetsch F. Eyes wide open: a critical review of sphere-formation as an assay for stem cells. Cell Stem Cell 2011; 8: 486–498.

- 28 Ma X, Norsworthy K, Kundu N, Rodgers WH, Gimotty PA, Goloubeva O et al. CXCR3 expression is associated with poor survival in breast cancer and promotes metastasis in a murine model. Mol Cancer Ther 2009; 8: 490–498.
- 29 Biswas S, Sengupta S, Roy Chowdhury S, Jana S, Mandal G, Mandal PK et al. CXCL13-CXCR5 co-expression regulates epithelial to mesenchymal transition of breast cancer cells during lymph node metastasis. Breast Cancer Res Treat 2014; 143: 265–276.
- 30 Pilkington KR, Clark-Lewis I, McColl SR. Inhibition of generation of cytotoxic T lymphocyte activity by a CCL19/macrophage inflammatory protein (MIP)-3beta antagonist. J Biol Chem 2004; 279: 40276–40282.
- 31 Forster R, Schubel A, Breitfeld D, Kremmer E, Renner-Muller I, Wolf E et al. CCR7 coordinates the primary immune response by establishing functional microenvironments in secondary lymphoid organs. *Cell* 1999; 99: 23–33.
- 32 Sharma S, Stolina M, Luo J, Strieter RM, Burdick M, Zhu LX et al. Secondary lymphoid tissue chemokine mediates T cell-dependent antitumor responses in vivo. J Immunol 2000; 164: 4558–4563.
- 33 Zou YR, Kottmann AH, Kuroda M, Taniuchi I, Littman DR. Function of the chemokine receptor CXCR4 in haematopoiesis and in cerebellar development. *Nature* 1998: **393**: 595–599.
- 34 Luo M, Guan JL. Focal adhesion kinase: a prominent determinant in breast cancer initiation, progression and metastasis. *Cancer Lett* 2010; 289: 127–139.
- 35 Desgrosellier JS, Lesperance J, Seguin L, Gozo M, Kato S, Franovic A et al. Integrin alphavbeta3 drives slug activation and stemmess in the pregnant and neoplastic mammary gland. Dev Cell 2014; 30: 295–308.
- 36 Giordano A, Gao H, Cohen EN, Anfossi S, Khoury J, Hess K et al. Clinical relevance of cancer stem cells in bone marrow of early breast cancer patients. Ann Oncol 2013; 24: 2515–2521.
- 37 Smalley MJ, Kendrick H, Sheridan JM, Regan JL, Prater MD, Lindeman GJ et al. Isolation of mouse mammary epithelial subpopulations: a comparison of leading methods. J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia 2012; 17: 91–97.
- 38 Lavergne E, Combadiere C, Iga M, Boissonnas A, Bonduelle O, Maho M et al. Intratumoral CC chemokine ligand 5 overexpression delays tumor growth and increases tumor cell infiltration. J Immunol 2004; 173: 3755–3762.
- 39 Weninger W, Carlsen HS, Goodarzi M, Moazed F, Crowley MA, Baekkevold ES et al. Naive T cell recruitment to nonlymphoid tissues: a role for endotheliumexpressed CC chemokine ligand 21 in autoimmune disease and lymphoid neogenesis. J Immunol 2003; **170**: 4638–4648.

Supplementary Information accompanies this paper on the Oncogene website (http://www.nature.com/onc)

© 2015 Macmillan Publishers Limited

Oncogene (2015), 1-11

# SUPPORTING INFORMATION

## **Supplementary Experimental Procedures**

## Immunohistochemistry (IHC)

Immunohistochemical analysis was performed using standard procedures. Briefly, antigen retrieval of FFPE mouse mammary sections was carried out by boiling slides in 0.1M sodium citrate buffer (pH 6.0) under pressure. Slides were immersed in 3% hydrogen peroxide in PBS for 20 minutes with gentle agitation to inhibit endogenous peroxidase activity and blocked for 30 minutes in 10% normal serum in PBS to prevent non-specific antibody binding. Slides were then incubated overnight at 4°C with mouse anti- $\alpha$ -smooth muscle actin ( $\alpha$ -SMA, Dako). Specific antibody binding was detected using the EnVision Dual Link System (Vector Labs) followed by incubation with diaminobenzidine (DAB) substrate (Dako). Sections were counterstained with haemotoxylin, dehydrated and mounted.

## Calcium (Ca+) Signaling Analysis

Intracellular calcium mobilization assay was performed on cells isolated from tumors dissected from C57Bl/6 MMTV-PyMT mice at 20 weeks of age as described (1). Ligands added were CCL21 (100ng/ml) and lysophosphatidic acid (LPA) (50ng/ml).

# Enzyme-Linked Immunosorbent Assay (ELISA)

Wells were coated in CCL21 and CCL19 capture antibody (R&D) and receptors blocked using PBS/3%BSA for 1 hour at 37°C. After determining WT and CCR7 KO mammary gland weight, fat pad samples were homogenized in PBS buffer (10% glycerol, 1x protease inhibitor) and aliquotted to coated wells for 90 minutes at 37°C. Detection antibody (R&D) was added for 1 hour then streptavidin-HRP added for 30 minutes.

## **Proliferation Assay**

Isolated lineage-negative mouse mammary cells were plated in adherent culture (DMEM:F12/10% FCS, supplemented with 20ng/ml EGF,  $5\mu$ g/ml insulin,  $0.5\mu$ g/ml hydrocortisone, penicillin-streptomycin, and  $0.25\mu$ g/ml fungazone) in 96-well plates and the following day were serum-starved for 4 hours. The cell proliferation assay was carried out 24 hours later using the XTT Cell Proliferation Kit (ATCC) according to manufacturer's instructions, using 100ng/ml CCL19 and CCL21. FCS was used at a concentration of 5%.

# **Supplementary References**

1. Kochetkova M, Kumar S, McColl SR. Chemokine receptors CXCR4 and CCR7 promotes metastasis by preventing anoikis in cancer cells. Cell death and differentiation. 2009; 16(5):664-73. Epub 2009/01/13

# SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURES

# **Supplementary Figure 1 (Related to Figure 1)**

(a) Serial sections of mouse mammary tissue from normal mice and at different tumourigenic stages stained with haemotoxylin and eosin (H&E) and for  $\alpha$ -smooth muscle actin ( $\alpha$ -SMA) as indicated. (b) Mammary cells were gated to exclude debris, dead cells and doublets (top) and proportions of CCR7-positive cells in mammary epithelial cell preparations from corresponding stages in (a) were analyzed by flow cytometry(bottom). Shaded histograms= fluorescence-minus-one negative gate. wo= weeks old.

# **Supplementary Figure 2 (Related to Figure 1)**

(a) Expression of CCR7 ligands (CCL21 and CCL19) in WT and CCR7 KO mammary fat pads with excised inguinal lymph nodes was assessed by ELISA. n=6 glands per genotype. (b) Calcium mobilization analysis of PyMT-expressing WT+ mouse mammary cells in response to lysophosphatidic acid (LPA) (positive control) and the CCR7 ligand, CCL21. Arrowheads indicate a point of stimulus addition.

# **Supplementary Figure 3**

Ablation of CCR7 has no effect on early mammary tumourigenesis in MMTV-PyMT mice. (a) Top: Representative images of inguinal mammary glands of WT+ (left) and CCR7 KO+ (right) mice harvested at 8 and 11 weeks of age as indicated. Arrowheads indicate areas of epithelial hyperplasia. LN= lymph node. Bottom: Quantitation of area of hyperplasia in WT+ and CCR7 KO+ at 8 weeks old. n=6 glands per genotype. (b) Serial sections of mouse mammary tissue from WT+ and CCR7 KO+ mice at 8 weeks old stained with haemotoxylin and eosin (H&E) and for  $\alpha$ -smooth muscle actin ( $\alpha$ -SMA) as indicated.

## **Supplementary Figure 4 (Related to Figure 3)**

All cells were pre-gated to exclude debris, dead cells and doublets. (**a-b**) Flow cytometry gating strategy for delineating the stem cell-enriched population (CD24<sup>+</sup>CD29<sup>hi</sup>) and non-stem cell populations (CD24<sup>+</sup>CD29<sup>lo</sup> cells and stromal cells) and proportion of CCR7 positive cells within these populations, in normal mice (**a**) and from MMTV-PyMT mice (**b**). (**c**) Flow cytometry gating strategy for delineating the stem cell-enriched population (CD44<sup>+</sup>CD24<sup>-</sup>) and non-stem cell population (CD44<sup>-</sup>CD24<sup>+</sup>) in human mammary epithelium, and proportion of CCR7 positive cells within these populations as indicated. (**d-e**) Flow cytometry gating strategy for delineating mouse (**d**) and human (**e**) stem cell-enriched populations based on alternative CD49f<sup>+</sup>DLL1<sup>+</sup>DNER<sup>+</sup> surface marker expression, together with representative plots demonstrating proportion of CCR7 positive cells within these populations. "FMO" and shaded histograms= fluorescence minus one negative gates.

# **Supplementary Figure 5 (Related to Figure 3)**

(**a-b**) CCR7 deletion decreases proportion of the stem cell-enriched population in normal (**a**) and PyMT-expressing mice (**b**) designated by a putative marker profile of Lin<sup>-</sup> CD49f<sup>+</sup>DLL1<sup>+</sup>DNER<sup>+</sup>. Data are representative of at least three independent experiments, n=6 mice per genotype. (**c**) CCR7 stimulation does not have any effect on proliferation of WT+ mammary cells in adherent culture. Shown are results of XTT proliferation assay with and without addition of CCR7 ligands. FCS was used as a positive control. (**d**) The stimulatory effect of CCL19 and CCL21 on MFE of MMTV-PyMT cells is dependent on CCR7. The primary MFE of CCR7 KO+ (n=4 mice) mouse mammary cells was not affected by the addition of these chemokines. (**e**) Effect of stimulation of primary WT+ (n=6 mice) mammosphere culture with chemokine ligands for receptors CCR6, CXCR3, CXCR4 and CXCR5 respectively.

# **Supplementary Figure 6 (Related to Figure 4)**

Representative images of WT recipient glands engrafted with WT+ or CCR7 KO+ mammosphere-derived cells as indicated. Shown are contralateral glands in which both WT+ and CCR7 KO+ cells produced outgrowths (black arrowheads), to demonstrate differences in size between lesions. At the lowest dilution, only WT+ cells produced any outgrowth. LN= lymph node.

# **Supplementary Figure 7 (Related to Figure 6)**

(a) Total mammary epithelial cell count in MMTV-PyMT mice following injection with vehicle or CCL19<sub>(8-83)</sub> antagonist for 8 weeks in contralateral inguinal mammary fat pads. (b) Weight of mammary glands. (c) Comparison of stem cell-enriched population in MMTV-PyMT glands delineated by alternative marker set Lin<sup>-</sup>CD49f<sup>+</sup>DLL1<sup>+</sup>DNER<sup>+</sup>. (d) Treatment of mammary glands with vehicle control (left) or CCL19<sub>(8-83)</sub> (right) does not alter CCR7 expression levels in the Lin<sup>-</sup>CD24<sup>+</sup>CD29<sup>hi</sup> population. Shaded histograms = fluorescence minus one negative gates. (e) Treatment with CCL19<sub>(8-83)</sub> does not change cellularity of transplanted tumor tissue despite affecting the stem cell-like pool. (f) Comparison of the stem cell-enriched population in transplanted glands treated with CCL19<sub>(8-83)</sub> or vehicle, as delineated by alternative marker set Lin<sup>-</sup>CD49f<sup>+</sup>DLL1<sup>+</sup>DNER<sup>+</sup>.

Appendices

# Supplementary Figure 1











41.9%





CCR7

# Supplementary Figure 2









Appendices





# Supplementary Figure 6



Appendices



Title of Paper	The chemokine receptor CCR6 facilitates the onset of mammary neoplasia in the MMTV-PyMT mouse model via recruitment of tumour-promoting macrophages		
Publication Status	Published, O Accepted for Publication, O Submitted for Publication, O Publication style		
Publication Details	Accepted May 29 2015 <i>Molecular Cancer,</i> Vol. 14:115, June 6 2015 doi: 10.1186/s12943-015-0394-1 Impact Factor: 5.40		
Author Contributions By signing the Statement of Authorst permission is granted for the publication	hip, each author certifies that their stated to be included in the candidate's thesis.	l contribution to	the publication is accurate and that
Name of Principal Author (Candidate)	Miss Sarah T. Boyle		
Contribution to the Paper	Designed and conceived of the study Carried out all experiments except those specified below Maintained animal models Wrote the manuscript		
Signature	_	Date	17 106/2015
Name of Co-Author	Miss Jessica W. Faulkner		
Contribution to the Paper	Technical assistance in performing experiments Maintained animal models		
Signature		Date	18/06/2015
Name of Co-Author	Professor Shaun R. McColl		
Contribution to the Paper	Supervised the study Provided reagents and animal models Edited the manuscript		
Signature	_	Date	18/06/2015
Name of Co-Author	Doctor Marina Kochetkova		yearanna a san an a
Contribution to the Paper	Assistance in design of and supervised the study Provided technical assistance Performed proliferation assay experiments Edited the manuscript		
Signature		Date	21 107/2015
,	7		

Boyle et al. Molecular Cancer (2015) 14:115 DOI 10.1186/s12943-015-0394-1

### RESEARCH



The chemokine receptor CCR6 facilitates the Conset of mammary neoplasia in the MMTV-PyMT mouse model via recruitment of tumor-promoting macrophages

Sarah T. Boyle<sup>1</sup>, Jessica W. Faulkner<sup>1</sup>, Shaun R. McColl<sup>1,2</sup> and Marina Kochetkova<sup>1\*</sup>

#### Abstract

**Background:** The expression of the chemokine receptor CCR6 has been previously correlated with higher grades and stages of breast cancer and decreased relapse-free survival. Also, its cognate chemokine ligand CCL20 has been reported to induce proliferation of cultured human breast epithelial cells.

**Methods:** To establish if CCR6 plays a functional role in mammary tumorigenesis, a bigenic MMTV-PyMT CCR6-null mouse was generated and mammary tumor development was assessed. Levels of tumor-infiltrating immune cells within tumor-bearing mammary glands from MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr6^{WT}$  and  $Ccr6^{-/-}$  mice were also analyzed.

**Results:** Deletion of CCR6 delayed tumor onset, significantly reduced the extent of initial hyperplastic outgrowth, and decreased tumor incidence in PyMT transgenic mice. CCR6 was then shown to promote the recruitment of pro-tumorigenic macrophages to the tumor site, facilitating the onset of neoplasia.

**Conclusions:** This study delineated for the first time a role for CCR6 in the development of breast cancer, and demonstrated a critical function for this receptor in maintaining the pro-tumorigenic cancer microenvironment.

**Keywords:** Breast Cancer, Mammary Gland, Chemokine Receptor, CCR6, Transgenic Mouse Model, Immune System, Macrophages

#### Introduction

Breast cancer is one of the leading causes of cancerrelated death in women world-wide. Evasion of the immune system is a hallmark of cancer, and aids tumor cells to survive, intravasate, and potentially form distal metastases [1]. As such, the tumor microenvironment has a profound effect on the development and progression of malignancies, and it has been suggested that levels of infiltrating immune cells correlate with stage and aggressiveness of human breast cancer [2]. In particular, tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs) have been found to play an important part in facilitating breast tumor development [3] through polarization from a classically-activated "M1" anti-tumor resident cell within adult mammary tissue to an alternatively-activated "M2" pro-tumor phenotype [4]. This "switch" results in shifts in cell metabolism, a decrease in pro-inflammatory chemo-kine/cytokine production, poor antigen-presentation ability, and suppression of T cell responses. In addition, M2 TAMs promote angiogenesis, cell proliferation and tissue remodeling (reviewed in [5]).

Chemokines and their cognate receptors are involved in the development, migration and activation of many different types of immune cells, both adaptive and innate. Small molecular-weight proteins, chemokines bind to their cognate seven-transmembrane domain G-protein coupled receptors (GPCRs), activating a multitude of signaling pathways, which mediate many different homeostatic and inflammatory functions. Importantly, a large body of literature in the last decade has linked the action of chemokines and chemokine receptors to cancer progression and metastasis [6].



© 2015 Boyle et al. This is an Open Access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creative.commons.org/licenses/by/4.0), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly credited. The Creative Commons Public Domain Dedication waiver (http:// creative.commons.org/publicdomain/zero/1.0) applies to the data made available in this article, unless otherwise stated.

<sup>\*</sup> Correspondence: marina.kochetkova@adelaide.edu.au

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Department of Molecular and Cellular Biology, School of Biological Sciences, University of Adelaide, Adelaide, South Australia, Australia Full list of author information is available at the end of the article

The CC-chemokine receptor CCR6 is expressed on dendritic cells [7, 8], regulatory T cells and various T helper lymphocyte subsets [9, 10], and mediates their migration and function via stimulation with its ligand CCL20 (also known as macrophage inflammatory protein (MIP)-3 $\alpha$  [11]). CCR6 is also expressed on natural killer cells, B lymphocytes, neutrophils [12] and macrophages [10, 13]. Despite the significant role of TAMs in breast cancer, the expression and function of CCR6 within the macrophage population has not been shown within the mammary gland.

Interestingly, together with CCL20, CCR6 expression has been correlated with stage and prognosis in a variety of cancers including hepatocellular carcinoma [14, 15], colorectal carcinoma [16-18], glioma [19], and nonsmall cell lung cancer [20], and a function for CCR6 in regulation of cancer progression has been putatively demonstrated using cell lines and xenograft models [16, 18, 21, 22]. In breast cancer, higher CCR6 expression levels were linked with tumor stage and grade [23], and incidence of metastasis to the pleura [24]. Stimulation of ex vivo mammary peritumoral cells with CCL20 was found to increase their proliferation rate, invasiveness and migration [25]. CCL20 is also upregulated in human triple negative breast cancer cell lines [26]. Moreover, it was recently proposed that the presence of CCR6 may act as a prognostic factor for breast cancer patient survival [23]. However, no causative or functional link between the CCR6-CCL20 axis and progression of breast cancer has been documented to date.

In this study we have utilized a well-characterized transgenic model for breast cancer, in which the polyoma middle-T oncogene is activated under control of the mouse mammary tumor virus promoter (MMTV-PyMT) [27]. This transgenic model has been shown to closely mimic the stages of human breast disease from initial hyperplasia, through to ductal carcinoma in situ and invasive ductal carcinoma [28]. Crossing this transgenic mouse with a CCR6-null mouse to generate a bigenic MMTV-PyMT Ccr6<sup>-/-</sup> animal model has allowed us to directly assess the role of CCR6 in mammary tumorigenesis in vivo. The results demonstrated that CCR6 promotes breast cancer initiation and progression through maintenance of pro-tumorigenic TAMs within tumor-bearing mammary glands, warranting further investigation of CCR6 as a possible therapeutic target.

#### Results

#### CCR6 expression increases throughout cancer development and results in a higher number of mammary tumors

To first determine whether CCR6 may play a role in the regulation of mammary neoplasia, we investigated expression of the receptor in CD45-negative normal mouse

mammary cells, and cells from various tumor stages (representative H&E pictures in Fig. 1a). CCR6 was expressed on a low proportion of normal mammary cells, but this proportion was greatly amplified in accordance with increasingly higher grades of MMTV-PyMT cancer including initial hyperplasia, early carcinoma and late carcinoma as indicated (Fig. 1a). This is consistent with human breast cancer [23] and other mouse models of cancer [17]. Additionally, in both non-PyMT  $Ccr6^{WT}$  and MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr6^{WT}$  mammary tissues the ligand for CCR6, CCL20, was highly expressed at concentrations over 50 ng/mg tissue (Fig. 1b). These data raise the possibility of a role for CCR6 in breast cancer cer development.

To next establish the role of CCR6 deletion on mammary tumorigenesis, we compared the rate and total extent of PyMT-driven neoplasia between MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr6^{WT}$  and  $Ccr6^{-/-}$  mice. Tumor onset was significantly delayed in MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr6^{-/-}$  mice (Fig. 1c), with some mice not developing palpable tumors until 150 days old (21 weeks) compared to a maximum onset age of 130 days old (18 weeks) for MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr6^{WT}$  counterparts (Fig. 1d).

In order to assess the impact of CCR6 on the later stages of cancerogenesis, MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr6^{WT}$  and  $Ccr6^{-/-}$  mice were sacrificed at 22–24 weeks of age and the total number of mammary tumors per mouse was determined. We found that MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr6^{-/-}$  mice had significantly decreased tumor incidence compared to MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr6^{WT}$  animals (Fig. 1e). Together, these results implicate CCR6 as being an important player in breast oncogenesis.

CCR6 deletion significantly delays tumor initiation in vivo We then sought to examine whether CCR6 influenced early hyperplasia of mammary glands during tumor initiation as well as late stage tumorigenesis. Glands from 8-week-old MMTV-PvMT Ccr6<sup>-/-</sup> and Ccr6<sup>W</sup> mice were extracted and whole mounted for quantitation of hyperplastic/early-neoplastic lesions (representative images from both genotypes shown in Fig. 2a). We found that the deletion of CCR6 significantly reduced the initial hyperplastic outgrowth within the gland (Fig. 2b), a common indicator of future breast cancer development. As the total area of PyMTdriven hyperplastic outgrowth per gland was reduced by threefold in CCR6-null animals, we concluded that the effect of CCR6 on mammary tumorigenesis is manifested very early on in cancer development.

The difference seen in early tumor initiation between MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr6^{WT}$  and  $Ccr6^{-/-}$  mice can potentially result from a difference in normal mammary development, which may then have translated into decreased hyperplasia. We therefore extracted pubertal mammary



samples (2 glands/sample), 7 hyperplastic samples (2 glands/sample), 6 early carcinomas and 3 late carcinomas were analyzed. **b** ELISA for CCL20, the ligand for CCR6, in normal (left) and early neoplastic MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr6^{WT}$  (right) mammary glands. n = 4 samples per genotype. **c** Kaplan-Meier analysis of the palpable tumor onset in MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr6^{WT}$  mice (n = 14) vs MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr6^{WT}$  mice (n = 11). **d** Age of tumor onset in MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr6^{WT}$  mice. **e** Mammary tumor incidence in MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr6^{WT}$  (n = 9) and  $Ccr6^{-/-}$  (n = 14) mice

glands from non-PyMT 6-week-old *Ccr6<sup>WT</sup>* and *Ccr6<sup>-/-</sup>* mice. Representative glands are shown in Additional file 1: Figure S1a. When ductal epithelial growth was quantitated, we observed no statistically significant

difference in ductal length, number of terminal end structures or branching between  $Ccr6^{WT}$  and  $Ccr6^{-/-}$  mice (Additional file 1: Figure S1b-d), and hence the overall effect of CCR6 deletion on normal mammary



gland biology appears to be minimal and is unlikely to account for differences in PyMT-driven tumor development between the two genotypes. Furthermore, the levels of CCL20 were not statistically different between non-PyMT  $Ccr6^{WT}$  and MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr6^{WT}$  mammary tissues (Fig. 1b), demonstrating that the expression of CCL20 is not affected by the process of tumorigenesis. Taken together, these data show that early stage tumorigenesis is mediated by a CCR6-dependent mechanism, without affecting normal mammary morphogenesis.

# CCR6 promotes mammary gland neoplasia independently of cancer epithelial cells or stem-like cells

To investigate the mechanism underlying CCR6-driven mammary tumorigenesis, we studied the epithelial cell population to determine if CCR6 was having a direct effect on cell proliferation. Cells at the stage of early neoplasia from MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr6^{WT}$  mammary glands were assayed for proliferation upon stimulation with CCL20. No differences in cell proliferation were observed

(Fig. 3a). Furthermore, Ki67 staining of sectioned hyperplastic mammary glands from MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr6^{WT}$  and  $Ccr6^{-/-}$  mice showed that epithelial cells in knock-out mice are still able to adequately proliferate and staining of Ki67 is equal to that in the  $Ccr6^{WT}$  (Fig. 3b). This suggests that the role of CCR6 in breast cancer is independent of epithelial cells.

We next determined whether CCR6 may exert its effect by skewing distinct cell populations within the bulk epithelium, as we have reported previously for the chemokine receptor CCR7 [29]. The current prevailing paradigm has mammary epithelial and breast cancer cells hierarchically organized with a self-renewing, quiescent, multipotent progenitor (or stem-like cell) population giving rise to basal and luminal progenitors which in turn differentiate into specific lineages making up the mammary gland and heterogenous breast tumors [30]. Recently, a number of immune mediators including chemokine receptors have been implicated in maintenance of the cancer stem-like cells within mammary tumors (reviewed in [31]). We therefore tested the Boyle et al. Molecular Cancer (2015) 14:115

Page 5 of 14



potential link between the tumor-promoting function of CCR6 and breast cancer stem-like cell pools.

Freshly isolated MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr6^{WT}$  and  $Ccr6^{-/-}$  mammary cells from pre-neoplastic mice at 8–9 weeksold were assayed by flow cytometry for expression of cell surface markers CD24 and CD29 [32] (representative plots shown in Fig. 4a), which were previously used to define stem cells in the MMTV-PyMT [33, 34] and other breast cancer mouse models [35, 36]. We found that the deletion of CCR6 did not alter the proportions



of the stem cell-enriched basal population (CD24<sup>+</sup>CD29<sup>hi</sup>) nor the luminal population (CD24<sup>+</sup>CD29<sup>lo</sup>) (Fig. 4b) in hyperplastic mammary glands.

We also investigated the effect of CCR6 ablation on functional stem-like mammary cancer cell pools using the mammosphere assay, which is used to select for colonies of early stem-like progenitors [37]. Preneoplastic MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr c^{WT}$  and  $Ccr 6^{-/-}$  mammary cells were seeded into non-adherent mammosphere culture and allowed to grow for 7 days. The deletion of CCR6 did not alter mammosphere-forming efficiency (Fig. 4c), and when sphere cultures were stimulated with varying concentrations of CCL20, no change in their ability to form mammospheres (Fig. 4d) was observed, supporting results obtained using flow cytometric analysis.

Having found no difference in the proportion or function of stem cell-like pools within early tumorigenic lesions, we next tested a *bona fide* property of cancer stem cells – their ability to propagate tumors upon transplantation. MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr6^{WT}$  and  $Ccr6^{-/-}$ donor mammary tissue was transferred into recipient fat pads of syngeneic non-PyMT  $Ccr6^{WT}$  mice. Using this approach, we found no significant difference between MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr6^{WT}$  and  $Ccr6^{-/-}$  tissue in the ability to form outgrowths when transplanted into  $Ccr6^{WT}$ recipients (Fig. 4e), indicating that the deletion of CCR6 did not reduce the tumor-propagating capability of mammary epithelium.

Altogether, these results demonstrate that the role of CCR6 in breast cancer is independent of breast epithelial and progenitor cells, raising the possibility that its mechanism of action involves the tumor microenvironment.

#### CCR6 mediates the recruitment of pro-tumorigenic

macrophages to the mammary tumor microenvironment To test whether the reduced mammary tumorigenesis caused by the deletion of CCR6 was due to an effect of the CCR6-CCL20 axis on the tumor microenvironment we next investigated by flow cytometry the levels and identity of tumor-infiltrating leukocytes in mammary tumors at the stage of early carcinoma (see Fig. 1a). Tumor-associated macrophages have been extensively implicated in tumor promotion both in the mammary gland and elsewhere, due to their role in angiogenesis, cell proliferation and tissue remodeling [5]. To initially examine the polarization of TAMs in the MMTV-PyMT mice, macrophages were assessed for expression of prototypic markers interleukin-4-receptor (IL4-R) and mannose receptor (CD206), which have been used previously in flow cytometric analysis to distinguish alternatively-activated M2 macrophages from classicallyactivated M1 [38-42]. We estimated using these markers that a high proportion of TAMs were of an M2-like phenotype (Additional file 1: Figure S2a), as has been

suggested previously for MMTV-PyMT mammary tumors [43]. Interestingly, CCR6 was found to be highly expressed within the TAM population as it was detected on greater than 60 % of total macrophages (Additional file 1: Figure S2b). Most importantly, CCR6 was expressed at higher levels and on a significantly higher proportion of putative M2 macrophages (up to 90 %) than M1 (Fig. 5a and Additional file 1: Figure S2b), using both IL4-R and CD206 to delineate the populations. This strong correlation potentially implicates CCR6 in the regulation of pro-tumorigenic macrophages within the mammary gland microenvironment.

We then assessed the levels of macrophages in mammary tumors from MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr6^{WT}$  and  $Ccr6^{-/-}$ mice, and found that the proportion and overall numbers of TAMs were significantly reduced in MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr6^{-/-}$  mammary tumors relative to  $Ccr6^{WT}$ (Fig. 5b). Furthermore, the deletion of CCR6 resulted in a shift towards an M1 macrophage phenotype, defined by both IL4-R and CD206 prototypic markers (Fig. 5c).

The deletion of CCR6 also resulted in reduced trafficking of dendritic cells to the tumor site, consistent with previous studies, which demonstrated a reduced overall migratory ability of dendritic cells in CCR6-null mice [44, 45]. Although, overall numbers of tumor-infiltrating dendritic cells were much lower than the corresponding macrophage population. Notably, the majority of tumorinfiltrating dendritic cells were CCR6-positive, consistent with previous findings [12] (Additional file 1: Figure S3). We have also assessed CCR6 expression on B cells and specific T cell subsets (helper T cells (Th), cytotoxic T cells (Tc), and regulatory T cells (Treg)) within mammary tumors. In agreement with earlier reports for various biological settings [12, 46], all tested infiltrating leukocyte subsets expressed CCR6 at varying levels. When CCR6 was ablated, only the Tc cell subset showed a slight increase in the MMTV-PyMT Ccr6-/- as a proportion of CD45<sup>+</sup> tumor-infiltrating cells, however no significant differences were found in total cell numbers between the two genotypes (Additional file 1: Figures S4 and S5).

Our findings thus suggest that CCR6 promotes mammary tumorigenesis through an epithelium-independent mechanism involving tumor-infiltrating macrophages.

# CCR6-mediated pro-tumorigenic macrophages promote breast cancer in vivo

We then sought to provide definitive evidence for the macrophage-mediating function of CCR6 in mammary tumor promotion using an *in vivo* macrophage reconstitution assay. Reconstitution assays, sometimes referred to as "add-back" assays, are frequently used to underscore a role for various cellular subsets in multiple pathological settings, and macrophage reconstitution has been used

Boyle et al. Molecular Cancer (2015) 14:115



previously in mammary gland studies [47]. A schematic of the experimental setup is shown in Fig. 6a. MMTV-PyMT mammary tumor cells from  $Ccr6^{WT}$  donor mice were purified and transplanted into the inguinal mammary fat pads of non-PyMT  $Ccr6^{WT}$  and  $Ccr6^{-/-}$  recipients at

5 weeks of age. Two days post-transplantation, TAMs (CD45<sup>+</sup>F4/80<sup>+</sup>) were sorted from excised and dissociated MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr6^{WT}$  tumors (Fig. 6b) and orthotopically injected into a group of  $Ccr6^{-/-}$  recipients as specified in Fig. 6a. All other recipients received sham

Page 9 of 14



injections with vehicle only, followed by assessment of mammary tumor growth 6 weeks later.

In agreement with the results from spontaneous tumorigenesis studies, we have found that tumors grew significantly slower in the  $Ccr6^{-/-}$  hosts compared to  $Ccr6^{WT}$ , indicating that CCR6 is required in the mammary stroma for robust tumor development. However, when the reduced macrophage phenotype was restored in  $Ccr6^{-/-}$ mice through orthotopical injections, the tumor latency was significantly shortened, approaching that of the  $Ccr6^{WT}$  mice (Fig. 6c).

It was further found that the supplementation of  $Ccr6^{-/-}$  mice with TAMs restored the efficiency of tumor growth

(measured by weight of tumor-bearing mammary glands) within these mice to that seen in the  $Ccr6^{WT}$ , whilst  $Ccr6^{-/-}$  mice that received sham injections displayed reduced tumorigenesis (Fig. 6d) as seen in the spontaneous model (see Fig. 1).

Enumeration of macrophages within grafted tumors in  $Ccr6^{WT}$  and  $Ccr6^{-/-}$  mice (Fig. 6e) paralleled the results seen in spontaneous mammary tumors (see Fig. 5b). Whilst there was an upward trend towards increased TAMs in the  $Ccr6^{-/-}$  mice that received TAM injections, the difference was not statistically significant (Fig. 6e). This, combined with the decreased tumor growth in the CCR6-null mice, indicated that the support of macrophages is essential at the early stages of tumor growth.

We have thus established an essential role for CCR6 in the tumor microenvironment, providing a causative link between this receptor, infiltrating macrophages and mammary tumor development. Hence, therapeutic opportunities may be explored to control breast cancer progression, via manipulation of the CCR6-CCL20 axis to control tumor-promoting macrophages.

#### Discussion

We show here that the deletion of the chemokine receptor CCR6 caused a delay in tumor onset and decreased mammary tumor incidence *in vivo* in the MMTV-PyMT transgenic mouse model. We have determined that the underlying basis of the CCR6 oncogenic function is the increase in numbers of infiltrating pro-tumorigenic macrophages.

Multiple functional roles have been suggested for members of the chemokine family and their receptors in breast cancer pathophysiology [6], however little data using animal models is available to support these observations. The expression of CCR6 has been reported to correlate with higher stage and grade of human breast cancer, and has been proposed as a prognostic tool for determining relapse-free survival in breast cancer patients [23]. However, a causative link in vivo has yet to be demonstrated. We have employed the well-characterized MMTV-PvMT transgenic mouse model of breast cancer, and have found that CCR6 facilitates an earlier tumor onset and an increased incidence of mammary tumors. Of note, CCR6 affects mammary tumorigenesis from as early as the hyperplastic, or hyper-proliferative, stage. This initial phase of tumor development remains largely uncharacterized, despite being the most treatment-effective stage of cancer progression. Therefore, a better understanding of tumor initiation is crucial in order to develop therapies that target the tumorigenic process at the early stages of breast cancer.

When CCR6 was deleted in the MMTV-PyMT mouse, tumor latency was significantly extended, and these mice developed fewer mammary tumors than their *Ccr6<sup>WT</sup>* counterparts. However, CCR6 deletion did not affect tumorigenic properties of the epithelium as we have found with the chemokine receptor CCR7 [29]. Stimulation with CCL20 did not result in an increased proliferation rate of purified mammary epithelial cells from hyperplastic glands or tumorous lesions in contrast to previous studies with primary human breast peritumoral cells [25]. Furthermore, the deletion of CCR6 did not lead to decreased numbers of Ki67-positive proliferating cells within intact tumor-bearing mammary glands, pointing to an epithelial-independent function of this receptor in breast cancer. We have also observed that the loss of CCR6 did not alter the numbers and functional properties of mammary cancer stem-like cells. Transplantation experiments in particular demonstrated that the presence of CCR6 in donor epithelium was not required for tumor propagation in recipient mammary glands.

Further investigation demonstrated that CCR6 functions via organization of the immune system during the early stage of mammary carcinogenesis. We have shown that the levels of TAMs are reduced by almost threefold when CCR6 is deleted. TAMs, which have been previously identified in MMTV-PyMT tumors [48], are widely reported to support the development of cancer [3, 49] and in the tumor microenvironment they are generally thought to polarize towards an alternativelyactivated M2 pro-tumor phenotype relative to the classic M1 anti-tumor phenotype [4]. Whilst the TAMs in MMTV-PyMT tumors are polarized towards an M2-like subtype, we have shown that the presence of CCR6 maintains M2 TAMs as the predominant phenotype. Therefore, it is plausible to suggest that CCR6 in breast cancer functions to recruit pro-tumorigenic macrophages to the tumor immuniche [31], to support growth of transformed epithelial cells and cancer stem cells, as TAMs in the MMTV-PyMT model have also been shown to also maintain stem-like cells [50].

CCR6 is not expressed on peripheral blood monocytes, and is thought to only be acquired upon their differentiation into macrophages, induced by the tumor microenvironment [12]. In accordance with this, we found that a high proportion of macrophages within PyMTdriven mammary tumors express CCR6, which has not been previously demonstrated in breast cancer. Also of potential importance is the fact that up to 90 % of protumorigenic M2-like TAMs expressed CCR6. Our findings parallel results from a recent study which showed that CCR6-null mice bearing the adenomatosis polyposis coli (APC)<sup>min</sup> transgene (a well-characterized model for gastrointestinal tumorigenesis) developed fewer intestinal adenomas and polyps, and that the effect of CCR6 was also linked to a significant reduction in F4/80<sup>+</sup> macrophages [17]. Interestingly, Liu et al. also recently demonstrated that the ligand CCL20 is secreted from both macrophages and tumor cells in another mouse model of colorectal cancer, potentially suggesting common regulatory mechanisms and a universal role for CCR6 in tumors of various etiology [51].

MMTV-PyMT cancer cell transplant experiments showed that tumor growth in a CCR6-null microenvironment was significantly inhibited compared to wild-type microenvironment conditions, directly demonstrating that the mammary stroma is dependent upon CCR6 for adequate tumor initiation and growth support. The reconstitution of this CCR6-negative microenvironment with MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr6^{WT}$  TAMs restored the tumor-promoting properties of mammary stroma, indicating that breast cancer can be therapeutically targeted through manipulation of the CCR6-CCL20 axis to control tumor-infiltrating macrophages.

CCR6 deletion has also impeded recruitment of dendritic cells into PyMT-driven mammary tumors. Recruitment of dendritic cells into various solid tumors has been well-documented (reviewed in [52]), and their role in tumor progression is mainly centered around tumor antigen presentation to lymphocyte subsets leading to anti-tumor immune responses [53, 54]. Furthermore, there is some evidence supporting direct tumoricidal activity of dendritic cells [53]. As previous studies have reported an intrinsic requirement for CCR6 in migration and fundamental functions of dendritic cells [44, 45], our finding of the reduced infiltration of dendritic cells in mammary tumors may not be a facet of cancer development in MMTV-PyMT Ccr6<sup>-/-</sup> mice, but is an inherent property of dendritic cell migration at a slower rate after CCR6 deletion.

#### Conclusions

In conclusion, we show here that CCR6 plays a significant role in the initiation and at the early stage of breast cancer development *in vivo* by mediating recruitment of pro-tumorigenic macrophages to the tumor site, and thus facilitating further progression to advanced stages of mammary neoplasia. Results presented in this study therefore suggest CCR6 as a potential target for therapeutic intervention in early breast cancer.

#### Methods

#### Mice

Mice were maintained in pathogen-free conditions in the University of Adelaide's Laboratory Animal Services facility.  $Ccr6^{-/-}$  mice have been described previously [44].  $Ccr6^{-/-}$  females were crossed with C57BL/6 MMTV-PyMT males and the heterozygous offspring were interbred to produce MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr6^{WT}$  (wild-type for CCR6) and bigenic MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr6^{-/-}$  mice on the C57Bl/6 background. The University of Adelaide institutional animal ethics committee approved all animal experimental protocols.

#### Histology

Mouse mammary tissues were extracted, fixed in formalin and embedded in paraffin before sectioning at 5 µm. Haemotoxylin and eosin staining was carried out according to standard protocols. For immunohistochemical analysis of Ki67, slides were immersed in 0.5 % hydrogen peroxide in methanol for 10 minutes to inhibit endogenous peroxidase activity, followed by antigen retrieval by boiling slides in 0.1 M sodium citrate buffer under pressure. Slides were blocked for 20 minutes in 5 % normal rabbit serum in TBS/0.1 % Tween to prevent nonspecific antibody binding, and then incubated overnight at 4 °C with mouse anti-Ki67 antibody (Vector Labs) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Specific antibody binding was detected using the EnVision Dual Link System (Vector Labs), followed by incubation with diaminobenzidine (DAB) substrate (Dako). Sections were counterstained with haemotoxylin, dehydrated and mounted.

#### Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay

Wells were coated with anti-CCL20 capture antibody (R&D Systems) at 2 µg/ml overnight followed by a blocking step in PBS/3%BSA. Homogenized mammary tissue lysates (in PBS containing 10 % glycerol and 1x protease inhibitor) were added for 1.5 hours at 37 °C. Biotinylated anti-CCL20 detection antibody (R&D Systems) was added at 50 ng/ml for 1 hour at 37 °C followed by incubation with streptavidin-HRP (Rockland) for 30 minutes at room temperature. Wells were washed with PBS/0.05 % Tween after each incubation.

#### Whole mount staining

Mammary glands were mounted on slides, fixed in Carnoy's (30 % glacial acetic acid, 30 % absolute ethanol, 10 % chloroform), stained overnight in Carmine Alum (Stem Cell Technologies), then dehydrated and mounted using Permount (ThermoFisher Scientific). Image "stitching" and analysis were performed using Image J software.

# Processing mouse mammary tissue to single cell suspension

Mouse mammary gland/tumor tissue was minced and then digested in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM, Gibco) containing 1 mg/mL collagenase III, 100U/mL hyaluronidase (both from Worthington), 2 % fetal calf serum (FCS) and penicillin-streptomycin for 3–4 hours with gentle tilting. Organoids were further digested for 15 minutes with 6U/mL dispase (Gibco) in PBS and 20U/mL DNase I (Merck), and red blood cells were lysed by isotonic lysis buffer (150 mM NH<sub>4</sub>Cl in 17 mM Tris–HCl, pH 7.2). Single cells were obtained by filtration through a 70  $\mu$ m nylon mesh.

#### **Proliferation assay**

Isolated mouse mammary cells were plated in adherent culture (1:1 mixture of DMEM and Ham's F12 medium (Gibco) with 10 % FCS, supplemented with 20 ng/ml EGF, 5  $\mu$ g/ml insulin, 0.5  $\mu$ g/ml hydrocortisone, penicillin-streptomycin, and 0.25  $\mu$ g/ml fungazone) in a 96-well plate. The following day the medium was replaced by DMEM with no additives, and after 2 hours of starvation cells were stimulated with FCS (0.5 %) ±

CCL20 (a gift from the late Professor Ian Clark-Lewis) at a concentration of 100 ng/ml. Stimulation with EGF at 20 ng/ml was used as a positive control. The cell proliferation assay was carried out 24 hours later using the XTT Cell Proliferation Kit (ATCC) according to manufacturer's instructions.

#### Flow cytometry

Single cell suspensions from processed mammary glands were incubated for 30 minutes on ice in PBS/0.5%BSA with anti-mouse primary antibodies to cell surface markers as indicated. Antibodies used were as follows: PEconjugated anti-CCR6 (R&D), AlexaFluor647-conjugated anti-CCR6, PerCP/Cy5.5-conjugated anti-CD11c, PerCP/ Cv5.5-conjugated anti-CD206, FITC-conjugated anti-CD29 (all from BioLegend), BV421-conjugated anti-B220, PE/ Cy7-conjugated anti-CD11b, PE-conjugated anti-CD24, FITC-conjugated anti-CD4, APC-conjugated anti-CD45, biotinylated anti-CD45.2, FITC-conjugated anti-CD45.2, BV510-conjugated anti-CD8a, PE-conjugated anti-IL4-R (all from BD Biosciences), PE/Cy7-conjugated anti-CD3e, FITC-conjugated anti-F4/80 (both from eBioscience), and biotinylated anti-F4/80 (Life Technologies). When required, cells were also permeabilized using the FoxP3 Staining Kit, and incubated with PerCP/Cy5.5-conjugated anti-FoxP3 (both from eBioscience).

Samples containing biotinylated antibodies were further stained with BV510-conjugated streptavidin (BD Biosciences) in PBS/0.5 % BSA for 30 minutes. Fluorescenceminus-one (FMO) samples or cells stained with conjugated isotype control antibodies only were used as negative controls. After staining cells were fixed in 1 % paraformaldehyde and flow cytometry carried out using FACSCanto or LSRII equipment (BD). Data analysis was performed using FlowJo software (Tree Star Inc.). All flow cytometry data presented has been gated to exclude dead cells and debris using FSC-A/SSC-A, and to exclude doublets using FSC-A/FSC-H plots.

#### Mammosphere assay

Freshly isolated mammary cells were seeded into ultra-low attachment plates (Corning Inc.) at a concentration of 4x10<sup>4</sup>/ml, in a 1:1 mixture of DMEM and Ham's F12 medium supplemented with 1xB27 (Invitrogen), 20 ng/ml FGF, 20 ng/ml EGF, 4 µg/ml heparin (Sigma Aldrich), penicillin-streptomycin and 0.25 µg/ml fungazone. Mammosphere cultures were incubated at 37 °C for 7 days ± CCL20 at varying concentrations before manual enumeration under a light microscope.

#### Mammary Fat Pad transplants

Mammary gland fragments of 1 mm<sup>3</sup> size from donor MMTV-PyMT mice (18 weeks-old) were transplanted

into contralateral sides of anaesthetized congenic non-PyMT recipient mice as indicated (8 weeks-old) within the inguinal mammary glands, and were monitored for adverse reactions to surgery. After 7 weeks, recipient glands were extracted and whole mounted for quantification.

#### Macrophage reconstitution assay

Mammary tumor cell suspensions were prepared from MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr6^{WT}$  mice at 15 weeks-old as described above and injected into the fourth inguinal mammary fat pads of anaesthetized 5 week-old  $Ccr6^{WT}$  and  $Ccr6^{-/-}$  recipients in 80:20 % DMEM:Matrigel (BD), at 100,000 cells/gland.

Two days later, tumor-associated macrophages were sorted from MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr6^{WT}$  excised and dissociated mammary tumors based on CD45<sup>+</sup>F4/80<sup>+</sup> expression. 50,000 TAMs per gland were injected in DMEM orthotopically into the inguinal glands of  $Ccr6^{-/-}$  tumor cell recipients. Control groups of  $Ccr6^{-/-}$  and  $Ccr6^{WT}$  tumor cell recipients were sham-injected with vehicle only.

Tumor development was monitored for 6 weeks, then mice were sacrificed and tumors extracted for analysis.

#### Statistical analysis

Analyses were carried out using GraphPad Prism and data is presented as mean ± SEM unless otherwise indicated. Significant statistical difference was estimated using student's t-tests, ANOVA for multiple comparisons, or chi-square tests for distribution analysis. Tumor-free survival curves for spontaneous tumors were graphed using the Kaplan-Meier method and compared by the log-rank statistic (Mantel-Cox test). Tumor-free survival curves for the reconstitution assay were compared using 2-way ANOVA with Tukey's multiple comparison test. P-values were used to denote statistical significance. Levels of significance were \* $p \le 0.05$ , \*\* $p \le 0.01$ , and \*\*\* $p \le 0.001$ .

#### **Additional file**

Additional file 1: Figures S1-S5. Accompanies the manuscript.

#### Abbreviations

FMO: Fluorescence-minus-one; GPCR: G-Protein coupled receptor; IL4-R: Interleukin-4-receptor; MFI: Mean fluorescence intensity; MIP-3a: Macrophage inflammatory protein-3a; MMTV: Mouse mammary tumor virus; PyMT: Polyoma middle-T; TAM: Tumor-associated macrophage; Tc: Cytotoxic T cell; Th: Helper T cell; Treg: Regulatory T cell; WT: Wild-type.

#### **Competing interests**

The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

#### Authors' contributions

STB designed the study, performed and analyzed all experiments, and wrote the manuscript. JWF provided experimental and technical assistance in acquisition of data. SRM supervised the study, provided reagents, and edited the manuscript. MK designed the study, provided experimental assistance, supervised the study, and wrote the manuscript.

#### Acknowledgements

The authors are grateful to Dr. Iain Comerford, Mr. Ervin Kara, Mr. Cameror Bastow, Mr. Duncan McKenzie and Ms. Carly Gregor of the University of Adelaide for assistance in designing antibody panels for flow cytometry experiments and assistance with cell sorting. The authors would also like to thank Ms. Natasha Pyne for assistance with immunohistochemistry, and Prof. Angel Lopez for critique of the manuscript. This work was supported by an NHMRC project grant.

#### Author details

<sup>1</sup>Department of Molecular and Cellular Biology, School of Biological Sciences, University of Adelaide, Adelaide, South Australia, Australia. <sup>2</sup>Centre for Molecular Pathology, University of Adelaide, Adelaide, South Australia Australia.

#### Received: 12 February 2015 Accepted: 29 May 2015 Published online: 06 June 2015

#### References

- Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. Cell. 2011:144:646-74
- Hong CC, Yao S, McCann SE, Dolnick RY, Wallace PK, Gong Z, et al. Pretreatment levels of circulating Th1 and Th2 cytokines, and their ratios, are associated with ER-negative and triple negative breast cancers. Breast Cancer Res Treat 2013:139:477-88
- Pollard JW. Tumour-educated macrophages promote tumour progression 3. and metastasis. Nat Rev Cancer. 2004;4:71–8. Mantovani A, Sica A. Macrophages, innate immunity and cancer: balance,
- 4 tolerance, and diversity. Curr Opin Immunol. 2010;22:231–7. Galdiero MR, Garlanda C, Jaillon S, Marone G, Mantovani A. Tumor
- associated macrophages and neutrophils in tumor progression. J Cell Physiol. 2013;228:1404–12.
- Balkwill FR. The chemokine system and cancer. J Pathol. 2012;226:148–57. Iwasaki A, Kelsall BL. Localization of distinct Peyer's patch dendritic cell subsets and their recruitment by chemokines macrophage inflammatory protein (MIP)-3alpha, MIP-3beta, and secondary lymphoid organ chemokine. J Exp Med. 2000;191:1381–94.
- Greaves DR, Wang W, Dairaghi DJ, Dieu MC, Saint-Vis B, Franz-Bacon K, et al. 8 CCR6, a CC chemokine receptor that interacts with macrophage inflammate protein 3alpha and is highly expressed in human dendritic cells. J Exp Med. 1997:186:837-44
- Yamazaki T, Yang XO, Chung Y, Fukunaga A, Nurieva R, Pappu B, et al. 9 CCR6 regulates the migration of inflammatory and regulatory T cells. J Immunol. 2008;181:8391-401.
- Mony JT, Khorooshi R, Owens T. Chemokine receptor expression by inflammatory T cells in EAE. Front Cell Neurosci. 2014;8:187. 10.
- Kleeff J, Kusama T, Rossi DL, Ishiwata T, Maruyama H, Friess H, et al. Detection and localization of Mip-3alpha/LARC/Exodus, a macrophage proinflammatory chemokine, and its CCR6 receptor in human pancreatic cancer. Int. J. Cancer. 1999:81:650-7.
- Schutyser E, Struyf S, Van Damme J. The CC chemokine CCL20 and its receptor CCR6. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev. 2003;14:409–26.
- Xuan W, Qu Q, Zheng B, Xiong S, Fan GH. The chemotaxis of M1 and M2 13. macrophages is regulated by different chemokines. J Leukoc Biol. 2014;97(1):61-9.
- 14. Du D, Liu Y, Qian H, Zhang B, Tang X, Zhang T, et al. The effects of the CCR6/CCL20 biological axis on the invasion and metastasis of hepatocellular carcinoma. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 2014;15:6441-52.
- 15. Liu F, Lv H, Jia X, Liu G, Li T, Xu Z, et al. CC chemokine receptor 6 expression predicts poor prognosis in hepatocellular carcinoma. J Surg Oncol. 2014;110:151–5.
- Liu J, Ke F, Xu Z, Liu Z, Zhang L, Yan S, et al. CCR6 is a prognostic marker for overall survival in patients with colorectal cancer, and its overexpression enhances metastasis in vivo. PLoS One. 2014;9:e101137.
   Nandi B, Pai C, Huang Q, Prabhala RH, Munshi NC, Gold JS. CCR6, the sole
- receptor for the chemokine CCL20, promotes spontaneous intestinal tumorigenesis. PLoS One. 2014;9:e97566.
- Cheng XS, Li YF, Tan J, Sun B, Xiao YC, Fang XB, et al. CCL20 and CXCL8 synergize to promote progression and poor survival outcome in patients with colorectal cancer by collaborative induction of the epithelial-mesenchymal transition. Cancer Lett. 2014;348:77–87.

- Wang L, Qin H, Li L, Zhang Y, Tu Y, Feng F, et al. Overexpression of CCL20 and its receptor CCR6 predicts poor clinical prognosis in human gliomas. 19 Med Oncol. 2012:29:3491-7.
- Kirshberg S, Izhar U, Amir G, Demma J, Vernea F, Beider K, et al. Involvement 20 of CCR6/CCL20/IL-17 axis in NSCLC disease progression. PLoS One 2011:6:e24856.
- Ito M, Teshima K, Ikeda S, Kitadate A, Watanabe A, Nara M, et al. MicroRNA-150 inhibits tumor invasion and metastasis by targeting the chemokine receptor
- CCR6, in advanced cutaneous T-cell lymphoma. Blood. 2014;123:1499–511. Zeng W, Chang H, Ma M, Li Y. CCL20/CCR6 promotes the invasion and migration of thyroid cancer cells via NF-kappa B signaling-induced MMP-3 production. Exp Mol Pathol. 2014;97:184–90.
- Cassier PA, Treilleux I, Bachelot T, Ray-Coquard I, Bendriss-Vermare N, Menetrier Caux C, et al. Prognostic value of the expression of C-Chemokine Receptor 6 and 7 and their ligands in non-metastatic breast cancer. BMC Cancer. 2011;11:213.
- Andre F, Cabioglu N, Assi H, Sabourin JC, Delaloge S, Sahin A, et al. Expression of chemokine receptors predicts the site of metastatic relapse 24 in patients with axillary node positive primary breast cancer. Ann Oncol. 2006;17:945-51.
- Marsigliante S, Vetrugno C, Muscella A. CCL20 induces migration and proliferation on breast epithelial cells. J Cell Physiol. 2013;228:1873–83 25.
- Roberti MP, Arriaga JM, Bianchini M, Quinta HR, Bravo AI, Levy EM, et al. Protein expression changes during human triple negative breast cancer cell line progression to lymph node metastasis in a xenografted model in nude mice. Cancer Biol Ther. 2012;13:1123-40.
- Guy CT, Cardiff RD, Muller WJ. Induction of mammary tumors by expression 27. of polyomavirus middle T oncogene: a transgenic mouse model for metastatic disease. Mol Cell Biol. 1992;12:954–61.
- Lin EY, Jones JG, Li P, Zhu L, Whitney KD, Muller WJ, et al. Progression to malignancy in the polyoma middle T oncoprotein mouse breast cancer model
- provides a reliable model for human diseases. Am J Pathol. 2003;163:2113–26. Boyle ST, Ingman WV, Poltavets V, Faulkner JW, Whitfield RJ, McColl SR, et al. The chemokine receptor CCR7 promotes mammary tumorigenesis through amplification of stem-like cells. Oncogene. 2015. doi:10.1038/onc.2015.66.
- Visuader JE, Smith GH. Murine mammary epithelial stem cells: discovery, function, and current status. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol. 2010;3(2):a004879. 30.
- Boyle ST, Kochetkova M. Breast cancer stem cells and the immune system: promotion, evasion and therapy. J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia. 2014;19:203-11.
- Visvader JE. Keeping abreast of the mammary epithelial hierarchy and breast tumorigenesis. Genes Dev. 2009;23:2563–77.
- 33. Ma J, Lanza DG, Guest I, Uk-Lim C, Glinskii A, Glinsky G, et al. Characterization of mammary cancer stem cells in the MMTV-PyMT mouse
- model. Tumour Biol. 2012;33:1983–96. Schwab LP, Peacock DL, Majumdar D, Ingels JF, Jensen LC, Smith KD, et al. Hypoxia-inducible factor 1alpha promotes primary tumor growth and tumor-initiating cell activity in breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res. 2012;14:R6.
- Zhang M, Behbod F, Atkinson RL, Landis MD, Kittrell F, Edwards D, et al Identification of tumor-initiating cells in a p53-null mouse model of breast
- cancer. Cancer Res. 2008;68:4674-82. Shackleton M, Vaillant F, Simpson KJ, Stingl J, Smyth GK, Asselin-Labat ML,
- et al. Generation of a functional mammary gland from a single stem cell. Nature 2006:439:84-8 Dontu G, Abdallah WM, Foley JM, Jackson KW, Clarke MF, Kawamura MJ,
- et al. In vitro propagation and transcriptional profiling of human mammary stem/progenitor cells. Genes Dev. 2003;17:1253–70.
- Laoui D, Movahedi K, Van Overmeire E, Van den Bossche J, Schouppe E, Mommer C, et al. Tumor-associated macrophages in breast cancer: 38
- Morinier C, et al. Tomorasoccan inactoproges in Dieas Cancel. distinct subsets, distinct functions. Int J Dev Biol. 2011;55:861–7. Gabrilovich DJ, Ostrand-Rosenberg S, Bronte V. Coordinated regulation of myeloid cells by tumours. Nat Rev Immunol. 2012;12:253–68. Laoui D, Van Overmeire E, Di Conza G, Aldeni C, Keirsse J, Morias Y, et al. 39
- 40 Tumor hypoxia does not drive differentiation of tumor-associated macrophages but
- rather fine-tunes the M2-like macrophage population. Cancer Res. 2014;74:24–30. Xiao X, Gaffar I, Guo P, Wiersch J, Fischbach S, Peirish L, et al. M2 macrophages promote beta-cell proliferation by up-regulation of SMAD7. Proc Natl Acad Sci
- . U S A. 2014:111:E1211–20. Ford AQ, Dasgupta P, Mikhailenko I, Smith EM, Noben-Trauth N, Keegan AD. Adoptive transfer of IL-4Ralpha + macrophages is sufficient to enhance 42 eosinophilic inflammation in a mouse model of allergic lung inflammation.

BMC Immunol. 2012;13:6.

#### Boyle et al. Molecular Cancer (2015) 14:115

- Strachan DC, Ruffell B, Oei Y, Bissell MJ, Coussens LM, Pryer N, et al. CSF1R inhibition delays cervical and mammary tumor growth in murine models by attenuating the turnover of tumor-associated macrophages and enhancing infiltration by CD8 T cells. Oncoimmunology. 2013;2e26968.
- Varona R, Villares R, Carramolino L, Goya I, Zaballos A, Gutierrez J, et al. CCR6-deficient mice have impaired leukocyte homeostasis and altered contact hypersensitivity and delayed-type hypersensitivity responses. J Clin Invest. 2001;107:R37–45.
- Cook DN, Prosser DM, Forster R, Zhang J, Kuklin NA, Abbondanzo SJ, et al. CCR6 mediates dendritic cell localization, lymphocyte homeostasis, and immune reproperties in proceeditional Immuno. 2000;15(2):652-652.
- Immune responses in mucosal tissue. Immunity. 2000;12:495–503.
   Xu L, Xu W, Qiu S, Xiong S. Enrichment of CCR6 + Foxp3+ regulatory T cells in the tumor mass correlates with impaired CD8+ T cell function and poor prognosis of breast cancer. Clin Immunol. 2010;135:466–75.
- O'Brien J, Martinson H, Durand-Rougely C, Schedin P. Macrophages are crucial for epithelial cell death and adipocyte repopulation during mammary gland involution. Development. 2012;139:269–75.
- involution, Development. 2012;139:269–75.
   48. Ojalvo LS, King W, Cox D, Pollard JW. High-density gene expression analysis of tumor-associated macrophages from mouse mammary tumors. Am J Pathol. 2009;174:1048–64.
- Chen J, Yao Y, Gong C, Yu F, Su S, Chen J, et al. CCL18 from tumorassociated macrophages promotes breast cancer metastasis via PITPNM3 Cancer Cell. 2011;19:541–55.
   Lu H, Clauser KR, Tam WL, Frose J, Ye X, Eaton EN, et al. A breast cancer
- Lu H, Clauser KR, Tam WL, Frose J, Ye X, Eaton EN, et al. A breast cancer stem cell niche supported by juxtacrine signalling from monocytes and macrophages. Nat Cell Biol. 2014;16:1105–17.
- Liu J, Zhang N, Li Q, Zhang W, Ke F, Leng Q, et al. Tumor-associated macrophages recruit CCR6+ regulatory T cells and promote the development of colorectal cancer via enhancing CCL20 production in mice. PLoS One. 201156:19495.
- 52. Karthaus N, Torensma R, Tel J. Deciphering the message broadcast by tumor influenting departitie cells. Am J. Pathol. 2012;191:723-42
- tumor-infiltrating dendritic cells. Am J Pathol. 2012;181:733–42.
  Chan CW, Housseau F. The 'kiss of death' by dendritic cells to cancer cells. Cell Death Differ. 2008;15:58–69.
- Gabrilovich DI, Corak J, Ciernik IF, Kavanaugh D, Carbone DP. Decreased antigen presentation by dendritic cells in patients with breast cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 1997;3:483–90.

# Submit your next manuscript to BioMed Central and take full advantage of:

- Convenient online submission
- Thorough peer review
- No space constraints or color figure charges
- Immediate publication on acceptance
- Inclusion in PubMed, CAS, Scopus and Google Scholar
- Research which is freely available for redistribution

Submit your manuscript at www.biomedcentral.com/submit BioMed Central

# Boyle, ST *et al.* The chemokine receptor CCR6 facilitates the onset of mammary neoplasia in the MMTV-PyMT mouse model via recruitment of tumor-promoting macrophages.

Additional File 1: Supplementary Figures S1-S5



## Figure S1: The role of CCR6 in normal mammary development

(a) Representative whole mount images of  $Ccr6^{WT}$  (n=6) and  $Ccr6^{-/-}$  (n=6) mice at 6 weeks of age showing development of mammary epithelium. LN=lymph node. (b-d) Quantitation of epithelial growth, by length of main duct (b), number of end structures (c) and branching (d).



#### Figure S2: Analysis of infiltrating macrophages in MMTV-PyMT mammary tumors

(a) Analysis of M1 anti-tumor and M2 pro-tumor macrophages within the total macrophage population (CD45<sup>+</sup>CD11c<sup>-</sup>CD11b<sup>+</sup>F4/80<sup>+</sup>), based on IL4-R expression and CD206 expression as indicated, where M1 macrophages are classed as IL4-R or CD206-negative and M2 are IL4-R or CD206-positive. Dotted line=FMO control. M1 and M2 cell proportions (bottom) are presented as percentage of the total macrophage population. (b) Representative flow cytometry plots of CCR6 expression within the total, M1 and M2 macrophage populations as based on IL4-R and CD206 (gated as in (a)). (a-b) Representative results from 3 independent experiments.



Dendritic Cells: CD45\*CD11b\*MHCII\*CD11c\*

Figure S3: Infiltrating dendritic cells in MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr6^{WT}$  and  $Ccr6^{-/-}$  mammary tumors as determined by flow cytometry

All cells were gated for CD45<sup>+</sup>. MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr6^{WT}$  dendritic cells were assessed for CCR6 expression (right), and proportions and numbers of dendritic cells compared between MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr6^{WT}$  and  $Ccr6^{-/-}$  (bottom). Dotted line=FMO control. n= 5-7 mice per genotype.



# Figure S4: Infiltrating B and T immune cells in MMTV-PyMT *Ccr6<sup>WT</sup>* and *Ccr6<sup>-/-</sup>* mammary tumors as determined by flow cytometry

All cells were gated for CD45<sup>+</sup>. (a) MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr6^{WT}$  B cells were assessed for CCR6 expression (right), and proportions and numbers of B cells compared between MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr6^{WT}$  and  $Ccr6^{-/-}$  (bottom). (b) MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr6^{WT}$  T cells were assessed for CCR6 expression (middle), and proportions and numbers of T cells compared between MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr6^{WT}$  and  $Ccr6^{-/-}$  (right). Dotted lines=FMO controls. n= 5-7 mice per genotype.



Figure S5: Infiltrating T cell subsets in MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr6^{WT}$  and  $Ccr6^{-/-}$  mammary tumors as determined by flow cytometry

All cells were gated for CD45<sup>+</sup>. (a) MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr6^{WT}$  helper T cells (Th) were assessed for CCR6 expression (right), and proportions and numbers of Th cells compared between MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr6^{WT}$  and  $Ccr6^{-/-}$  (bottom). (b) MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr6^{WT}$  cytotoxic T cells (Tc) and regulatory T cells (Treg) were assessed for CCR6 expression (right), and proportions and numbers of Tc/Treg cells compared between MMTV-PyMT  $Ccr6^{WT}$  and  $Ccr6^{WT}$  and  $Ccr6^{-/-}$  (bottom). (b) Dotted lines=FMO controls. n= 5-7 mice per genotype.

# REFERENCES

- 1. Maxmen, A., *The hard facts*. Nature, 2012. **485**(7400): p. S50-1.
- 2. Vargo-Gogola, T. and J.M. Rosen, *Modelling breast cancer: one size does not fit all.* Nat Rev Cancer, 2007. **7**(9): p. 659-72.
- 3. Spike, B.T., et al., *A mammary stem cell population identified and characterized in late embryogenesis reveals similarities to human breast cancer*. Cell Stem Cell, 2012. **10**(2): p. 183-97.
- 4. Pfefferle, A.D., et al., *Luminal progenitor and fetal mammary stem cell expression features predict breast tumor response to neoadjuvant chemotherapy*. Breast Cancer Res Treat, 2015. **149**(2): p. 425-37.
- 5. Richert, M.M., et al., *An atlas of mouse mammary gland development*. J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia, 2000. **5**(2): p. 227-41.
- 6. Parsa, S., et al., *Terminal end bud maintenance in mammary gland is dependent upon FGFR2b signaling.* Dev Biol, 2008. **317**(1): p. 121-31.
- 7. Silberstein, G.B., *Tumour-stromal interactions. Role of the stroma in mammary development.* Breast Cancer Res, 2001. **3**(4): p. 218-23.
- 8. Ingman, W.V. and S.A. Robertson, *Mammary gland development in transforming growth factor betal null mutant mice: systemic and epithelial effects.* Biol Reprod, 2008. **79**(4): p. 711-7.
- 9. Wiesen, J.F., et al., *Signaling through the stromal epidermal growth factor receptor is necessary for mammary ductal development*. Development, 1999. **126**(2): p. 335-44.
- Lu, P., M.D. Sternlicht, and Z. Werb, *Comparative mechanisms of branching* morphogenesis in diverse systems. J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia, 2006. 11(3-4): p. 213-28.
- 11. Stingl, J., et al., *Characterization of bipotent mammary epithelial progenitor cells in normal adult human breast tissue.* Breast Cancer Res Treat, 2001. **67**(2): p. 93-109.
- 12. Wiseman, B.S. and Z. Werb, *Stromal effects on mammary gland development and breast cancer*. Science, 2002. **296**(5570): p. 1046-9.
- 13. Howard, B.A. and P. Lu, *Stromal regulation of embryonic and postnatal mammary epithelial development and differentiation.* Semin Cell Dev Biol, 2014. **25-26**: p. 43-51.
- 14. Watson, C.J., *Involution: apoptosis and tissue remodelling that convert the mammary gland from milk factory to a quiescent organ.* Breast Cancer Res, 2006. **8**(2): p. 203.
- 15. Green, K.A. and L.R. Lund, *ECM degrading proteases and tissue remodelling in the mammary gland*. Bioessays, 2005. **27**(9): p. 894-903.
- 16. Mihm, M., S. Gangooly, and S. Muttukrishna, *The normal menstrual cycle in women*. Anim Reprod Sci, 2011. **124**(3-4): p. 229-36.
- 17. Colditz, G.A., K. Bohlke, and C.S. Berkey, *Breast cancer risk accumulation starts early: prevention must also.* Breast Cancer Res Treat, 2014. **145**(3): p. 567-79.
- 18. Arwert, E.N., E. Hoste, and F.M. Watt, *Epithelial stem cells, wound healing and cancer*. Nat Rev Cancer, 2012. **12**(3): p. 170-80.
- 19. Cancer Genome Atlas, N., *Comprehensive molecular portraits of human breast tumours*. Nature, 2012. **490**(7418): p. 61-70.
- 20. Medina-Ramirez, C.M., et al., *Apoptosis inhibitor ARC promotes breast tumorigenesis, metastasis, and chemoresistance.* Cancer Res, 2011. **71**(24): p. 7705-15.
- 21. Brennan, K.R. and A.M. Brown, *Wnt proteins in mammary development and cancer*. J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia, 2004. **9**(2): p. 119-31.
- 22. Moraes, R.C., et al., *Constitutive activation of smoothened (SMO) in mammary glands of transgenic mice leads to increased proliferation, altered differentiation and ductal dysplasia.* Development, 2007. **134**(6): p. 1231-42.
- 23. Ling, H., J.R. Sylvestre, and P. Jolicoeur, *Notch1-induced mammary tumor development is cyclin D1-dependent and correlates with expansion of pre-malignant multipotent duct-limited progenitors.* Oncogene, 2010. **29**(32): p. 4543-54.
- 24. Thorpe, L.M., H. Yuzugullu, and J.J. Zhao, *PI3K in cancer: divergent roles of isoforms, modes of activation and therapeutic targeting.* Nat Rev Cancer, 2015. **15**(1): p. 7-24.
- 25. Yu, H., et al., *Revisiting STAT3 signalling in cancer: new and unexpected biological functions.* Nat Rev Cancer, 2014. **14**(11): p. 736-46.
- 26. Shostak, K. and A. Chariot, *NF-kappaB, stem cells and breast cancer: the links get stronger*. Breast Cancer Res, 2011. **13**(4): p. 214.
- 27. Hanahan, D. and R.A. Weinberg, *Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation*. Cell, 2011. **144**(5): p. 646-74.
- Yarden, Y., *Biology of HER2 and its importance in breast cancer*. Oncology, 2001. 61
  Suppl 2: p. 1-13.
- 29. Prat, A., et al., *Phenotypic and molecular characterization of the claudin-low intrinsic subtype of breast cancer*. Breast Cancer Res, 2010. **12**(5): p. R68.
- 30. Weng, D., et al., *Metastasis is an early event in mouse mammary carcinomas and is associated with cells bearing stem cell markers.* Breast Cancer Res, 2012. **14**(1): p. R18.
- 31. Chu, J.E. and A.L. Allan, *The Role of Cancer Stem Cells in the Organ Tropism of Breast Cancer Metastasis: A Mechanistic Balance between the "Seed" and the "Soil"?* Int J Breast Cancer, 2012. **2012**: p. 209748.
- 32. Vecchi, M., et al., *Breast cancer metastases are molecularly distinct from their primary tumors*. Oncogene, 2008. **27**(15): p. 2148-58.
- 33. Faltas, B., *Cornering metastases: therapeutic targeting of circulating tumor cells and stem cells*. Front Oncol, 2012. **2**: p. 68.
- 34. Weigelt, B., J.L. Peterse, and L.J. van 't Veer, *Breast cancer metastasis: markers and models*. Nat Rev Cancer, 2005. **5**(8): p. 591-602.
- 35. Junttila, M.R. and F.J. de Sauvage, *Influence of tumour micro-environment heterogeneity on therapeutic response*. Nature, 2013. **501**(7467): p. 346-54.
- 36. Huang, M., et al., Breast cancer stromal fibroblasts promote the generation of CD44+CD24- cells through SDF-1/CXCR4 interaction. J Exp Clin Cancer Res, 2010.
  29: p. 80.
- 37. Tsuyada, A., et al., *CCL2 mediates cross-talk between cancer cells and stromal fibroblasts that regulates breast cancer stem cells.* Cancer Res, 2012. **72**(11): p. 2768-79.
- 38. Hanahan, D. and L.M. Coussens, *Accessories to the crime: functions of cells recruited to the tumor microenvironment*. Cancer Cell, 2012. **21**(3): p. 309-22.
- 39. Dang, T.T., A.M. Prechtl, and G.W. Pearson, *Breast cancer subtype specific interactions* with the microenvironment dictate mechanisms of invasion. Cancer Res, 2011.
- 40. Giordano, A., et al., *Clinical relevance of cancer stem cells in bone marrow of early breast cancer patients*. Ann Oncol, 2013. **24**(10): p. 2515-21.
- 41. Plaks, V., C.D. Koopman, and Z. Werb, *Cancer. Circulating tumor cells.* Science, 2013. **341**(6151): p. 1186-8.
- 42. Sceneay, J., M.J. Smyth, and A. Moller, *The pre-metastatic niche: finding common ground*. Cancer Metastasis Rev, 2013. **32**(3-4): p. 449-64.
- 43. Descot, A. and T. Oskarsson, *The molecular composition of the metastatic niche*. Exp Cell Res, 2013. **319**(11): p. 1679-86.
- 44. Zoccoli, A., et al., *Premetastatic niche: ready for new therapeutic interventions?* Expert Opin Ther Targets, 2012. **16 Suppl 2**: p. S119-29.
- 45. Bonnet, D. and J.E. Dick, *Human acute myeloid leukemia is organized as a hierarchy that originates from a primitive hematopoietic cell*. Nat Med, 1997. **3**(7): p. 730-7.
- 46. Visvader, J.E. and G.J. Lindeman, *Cancer stem cells in solid tumours: accumulating evidence and unresolved questions.* Nat Rev Cancer, 2008. **8**(10): p. 755-68.
- 47. Korkaya, H., S. Liu, and M.S. Wicha, *Breast cancer stem cells, cytokine networks, and the tumor microenvironment.* J Clin Invest, 2011. **121**(10): p. 3804-9.
- 48. Pardal, R., M.F. Clarke, and S.J. Morrison, *Applying the principles of stem-cell biology to cancer*. Nat Rev Cancer, 2003. **3**(12): p. 895-902.

- 49. Alison, M.R., G. Murphy, and S. Leedham, *Stem cells and cancer: a deadly mix.* Cell Tissue Res, 2008. **331**(1): p. 109-24.
- 50. Malanchi, I., et al., *Interactions between cancer stem cells and their niche govern metastatic colonization*. Nature, 2012. **481**(7379): p. 85-9.
- 51. Fisher, R., L. Pusztai, and C. Swanton, *Cancer heterogeneity: implications for targeted therapeutics.* Br J Cancer, 2013. **108**(3): p. 479-85.
- 52. Valent, P., et al., *Cancer stem cell definitions and terminology: the devil is in the details.* Nat Rev Cancer, 2012. **12**(11): p. 767-75.
- 53. Magee, J.A., E. Piskounova, and S.J. Morrison, *Cancer stem cells: impact, heterogeneity, and uncertainty*. Cancer Cell, 2012. **21**(3): p. 283-96.
- 54. Kordon, E.C. and G.H. Smith, *An entire functional mammary gland may comprise the progeny from a single cell.* Development, 1998. **125**(10): p. 1921-30.
- 55. Villadsen, R., et al., *Evidence for a stem cell hierarchy in the adult human breast.* J Cell Biol, 2007. **177**(1): p. 87-101.
- 56. Visvader, J.E., *Cells of origin in cancer*. Nature, 2011. **469**(7330): p. 314-22.
- 57. Heuser, M., et al., *Cell of Origin in AML: Susceptibility to MN1-Induced Transformation Is Regulated by the MEIS1/AbdB-like HOX Protein Complex.* Cancer Cell, 2011. **20**(1): p. 39-52.
- 58. Goldstein, A.S., et al., *Identification of a cell of origin for human prostate cancer*. Science, 2010. **329**(5991): p. 568-71.
- 59. Regan, J.L., et al., *c-Kit is required for growth and survival of the cells of origin of Brcal-mutation-associated breast cancer.* Oncogene, 2012. **31**(7): p. 869-83.
- 60. Visvader, J.E., *Keeping abreast of the mammary epithelial hierarchy and breast tumorigenesis.* Genes Dev, 2009. **23**(22): p. 2563-77.
- 61. Buss, E.C. and A.D. Ho, *Leukemia stem cells*. Int J Cancer, 2011. **129**(10): p. 2328-36.
- 62. Charafe-Jauffret, E., C. Ginestier, and D. Birnbaum, *Breast cancer stem cells: tools and models to rely on.* BMC Cancer, 2009. **9**: p. 202.
- 63. Hermann, P.C., et al., *Cancer stem cells in solid tumors*. Semin Cancer Biol, 2010. **20**(2): p. 77-84.
- 64. Al-Hajj, M., et al., *Prospective identification of tumorigenic breast cancer cells*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2003. **100**(7): p. 3983-8.
- 65. Shackleton, M., et al., *Generation of a functional mammary gland from a single stem cell.* Nature, 2006. **439**(7072): p. 84-8.
- 66. Eirew, P., et al., *A method for quantifying normal human mammary epithelial stem cells with in vivo regenerative ability.* Nat Med, 2008. **14**(12): p. 1384-9.
- 67. Prater, M.D., et al., *Mammary stem cells have myoepithelial cell properties*. Nat Cell Biol, 2014. **16**(10): p. 942-50, 1-7.
- 68. Stingl, J., *Detection and analysis of mammary gland stem cells*. J Pathol, 2009. **217**(2): p. 229-41.
- 69. Lo, P.K., et al., *CD49f and CD61 identify Her2/neu-induced mammary tumor-initiating cells that are potentially derived from luminal progenitors and maintained by the integrin-TGFbeta signaling.* Oncogene, 2012. **31**(21): p. 2614-26.
- 70. Asselin-Labat, M.L., et al., *Gata-3 is an essential regulator of mammary-gland morphogenesis and luminal-cell differentiation*. Nat Cell Biol, 2007. **9**(2): p. 201-9.
- 71. Pece, S., et al., *Biological and molecular heterogeneity of breast cancers correlates with their cancer stem cell content.* Cell, 2010. **140**(1): p. 62-73.
- 72. Patrawala, L., et al., *Side population is enriched in tumorigenic, stem-like cancer cells, whereas ABCG2+ and ABCG2- cancer cells are similarly tumorigenic.* Cancer Res, 2005. **65**(14): p. 6207-19.
- 73. Ginestier, C., et al., *ALDH1 is a marker of normal and malignant human mammary stem cells and a predictor of poor clinical outcome*. Cell Stem Cell, 2007. **1**(5): p. 555-67.

- 74. Shaw, F.L., et al., *A detailed mammosphere assay protocol for the quantification of breast stem cell activity.* J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia, 2012. **17**(2): p. 111-7.
- 75. Dontu, G., et al., *In vitro propagation and transcriptional profiling of human mammary stem/progenitor cells.* Genes Dev, 2003. **17**(10): p. 1253-70.
- 76. Reynolds, B.A. and R.L. Rietze, *Neural stem cells and neurospheres--re-evaluating the relationship.* Nat Methods, 2005. **2**(5): p. 333-6.
- 77. Dey, D., et al., *Phenotypic and functional characterization of human mammary stem/progenitor cells in long term culture*. PLoS One, 2009. **4**(4): p. e5329.
- 78. Stingl, J., et al., *Epithelial progenitors in the normal human mammary gland*. J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia, 2005. **10**(1): p. 49-59.
- 79. Lo, A.T., et al., *Constructing three-dimensional models to study mammary gland branching morphogenesis and functional differentiation*. J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia, 2012. **17**(2): p. 103-10.
- 80. Stingl, J., et al., *Purification and unique properties of mammary epithelial stem cells*. Nature, 2006. **439**(7079): p. 993-7.
- 81. Snippert, H.J. and H. Clevers, *Tracking adult stem cells*. EMBO Rep, 2011. **12**(2): p. 113-22.
- 82. Van Keymeulen, A., et al., *Distinct stem cells contribute to mammary gland development and maintenance*. Nature, 2011. **479**(7372): p. 189-93.
- 83. Rios, A.C., et al., *In situ identification of bipotent stem cells in the mammary gland.* Nature, 2014. **506**(7488): p. 322-7.
- 84. Zomer, A., et al., *Intravital imaging of cancer stem cell plasticity in mammary tumors*. Stem Cells, 2013. **31**(3): p. 602-6.
- 85. Dean, M., *ABC transporters, drug resistance, and cancer stem cells.* J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia, 2009. **14**(1): p. 3-9.
- 86. Zhao, L., et al., *Clinical implication of targeting of cancer stem cells*. Eur Surg Res, 2012. **49**(1): p. 8-15.
- 87. Gupta, P.B., et al., *Identification of selective inhibitors of cancer stem cells by high-throughput screening*. Cell, 2009. **138**(4): p. 645-59.
- 88. Germain, A.R., et al., *Identification of a selective small molecule inhibitor of breast cancer stem cells*. Bioorg Med Chem Lett, 2012. **22**(10): p. 3571-4.
- 89. Balkwill, F.R., *The chemokine system and cancer*. J Pathol, 2012. **226**(2): p. 148-57.
- 90. Egeblad, M., et al., Visualizing stromal cell dynamics in different tumor microenvironments by spinning disk confocal microscopy. Dis Model Mech, 2008. 1(2-3): p. 155-67; discussion 165.
- 91. Kitamura, T., B.Z. Qian, and J.W. Pollard, *Immune cell promotion of metastasis*. Nat Rev Immunol, 2015. **15**(2): p. 73-86.
- 92. Peguillet, I., et al., *High numbers of differentiated effector CD4 T cells are found in patients with cancer and correlate with clinical response after neoadjuvant therapy of breast cancer*. Cancer Res, 2014. **74**(8): p. 2204-16.
- 93. Liu, S., et al., *CD8+ lymphocyte infiltration is an independent favorable prognostic indicator in basal-like breast cancer*. Breast Cancer Res, 2012. **14**(2): p. R48.
- 94. Iwamoto, M., et al., *Prognostic value of tumor-infiltrating dendritic cells expressing CD83 in human breast carcinomas.* Int J Cancer, 2003. **104**(1): p. 92-7.
- 95. West, N.R., et al., *Tumour-infiltrating FOXP3(+) lymphocytes are associated with cytotoxic immune responses and good clinical outcome in oestrogen receptor-negative breast cancer.* Br J Cancer, 2013. **108**(1): p. 155-62.
- 96. Chen, D.S. and I. Mellman, *Oncology meets immunology: the cancer-immunity cycle*. Immunity, 2013. **39**(1): p. 1-10.
- 97. Milani, A., et al., *Recent advances in the development of breast cancer vaccines*. Breast Cancer (Dove Med Press), 2014. **6**: p. 159-68.

- 98. Aspord, C., et al., *Breast cancer instructs dendritic cells to prime interleukin 13-secreting CD4+ T cells that facilitate tumor development.* J Exp Med, 2007. **204**(5): p. 1037-47.
- 99. Faghih, Z., et al., *IL-17 and IL-4 producing CD8+ T cells in tumor draining lymph nodes of breast cancer patients: positive association with tumor progression.* Iran J Immunol, 2013. **10**(4): p. 193-204.
- 100. Sawant, A., et al., *Depletion of plasmacytoid dendritic cells inhibits tumor growth and prevents bone metastasis of breast cancer cells.* J Immunol, 2012. **189**(9): p. 4258-65.
- Benevides, L., et al., Enrichment of regulatory T cells in invasive breast tumor correlates with the upregulation of IL-17A expression and invasiveness of the tumor. Eur J Immunol, 2013. 43(6): p. 1518-28.
- 102. Tao, H., et al., Antitumor effector B cells directly kill tumor cells via the Fas/FasL pathway and are regulated by IL-10. Eur J Immunol, 2014.
- 103. Novinger, L.J., T. Ashikaga, and D.N. Krag, *Identification of tumor-binding scFv derived from clonally related B cells in tumor and lymph node of a patient with breast cancer*. Cancer Immunol Immunother, 2015. **64**(1): p. 29-39.
- 104. Mahmoud, S.M., et al., *The prognostic significance of B lymphocytes in invasive carcinoma of the breast*. Breast Cancer Res Treat, 2012. **132**(2): p. 545-53.
- 105. Olkhanud, P.B., et al., *Tumor-evoked regulatory B cells promote breast cancer metastasis by converting resting CD4(+) T cells to T-regulatory cells*. Cancer Res, 2011.
   **71**(10): p. 3505-15.
- 106. Bingle, L., N.J. Brown, and C.E. Lewis, *The role of tumour-associated macrophages in tumour progression: implications for new anticancer therapies.* J Pathol, 2002. **196**(3): p. 254-65.
- 107. Laoui, D., et al., *Tumor-associated macrophages in breast cancer: distinct subsets, distinct functions.* Int J Dev Biol, 2011. **55**(7-9): p. 861-7.
- 108. Murray, P.J. and T.A. Wynn, *Protective and pathogenic functions of macrophage subsets*. Nat Rev Immunol, 2011. **11**(11): p. 723-37.
- 109. Care, A.S., et al., *Macrophages regulate corpus luteum development during embryo implantation in mice*. J Clin Invest, 2013. **123**(8): p. 3472-87.
- Chua, A.C., et al., Dual roles for macrophages in ovarian cycle-associated development and remodelling of the mammary gland epithelium. Development, 2010. 137(24): p. 4229-38.
- 111. Ingman, W.V., et al., *Macrophages promote collagen fibrillogenesis around terminal end buds of the developing mammary gland*. Dev Dyn, 2006. **235**(12): p. 3222-9.
- 112. Mantovani, A. and A. Sica, *Macrophages, innate immunity and cancer: balance, tolerance, and diversity.* Curr Opin Immunol, 2010. **22**(2): p. 231-7.
- 113. Galdiero, M.R., et al., *Tumor associated macrophages and neutrophils in tumor progression*. J Cell Physiol, 2013. **228**(7): p. 1404-12.
- 114. Sharda, D.R., et al., *Regulation of macrophage arginase expression and tumor growth by the Ron receptor tyrosine kinase.* J Immunol, 2011. **187**(5): p. 2181-92.
- 115. Boyle, S.T. and M. Kochetkova, Breast cancer stem cells and the immune system: promotion, evasion and therapy. J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia, 2014. 19(2): p. 203-11.
- 116. Seo, A.N., et al., *Tumour-infiltrating CD8+ lymphocytes as an independent predictive factor for pathological complete response to primary systemic therapy in breast cancer*. Br J Cancer, 2013. **109**(10): p. 2705-13.
- 117. Lu, H., et al., *A breast cancer stem cell niche supported by juxtacrine signalling from monocytes and macrophages.* Nat Cell Biol, 2014. **16**(11): p. 1105-17.
- 118. Reim, F., et al., *Immunoselection of breast and ovarian cancer cells with trastuzumab and natural killer cells: selective escape of CD44high/CD24low/HER2low breast cancer stem cells.* Cancer Res, 2009. **69**(20): p. 8058-66.

- 119. Knutson, K.L., et al., *Immunoediting of cancers may lead to epithelial to mesenchymal transition*. J Immunol, 2006. **177**(3): p. 1526-33.
- 120. Kawasaki, B.T., et al., *Co-expression of the toleragenic glycoprotein, CD200, with markers for cancer stem cells.* Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 2007. **364**(4): p. 778-82.
- 121. Hoek, R.M., et al., *Down-regulation of the macrophage lineage through interaction with OX2 (CD200)*. Science, 2000. **290**(5497): p. 1768-71.
- 122. Balkwill, F., *Chemokine biology in cancer*. Semin Immunol, 2003. **15**(1): p. 49-55.
- 123. Zlotnik, A., A.M. Burkhardt, and B. Homey, *Homeostatic chemokine receptors and organ-specific metastasis*. Nat Rev Immunol, 2011. **11**(9): p. 597-606.
- 124. Andre, F., et al., *Expression of chemokine receptors predicts the site of metastatic relapse in patients with axillary node positive primary breast cancer*. Ann Oncol, 2006. **17**(6): p. 945-51.
- 125. Cabioglu, N., et al., *CCR7 and CXCR4 as novel biomarkers predicting axillary lymph node metastasis in T1 breast cancer*. Clin Cancer Res, 2005. **11**(16): p. 5686-93.
- 126. Ma, X., et al., *CXCR3 expression is associated with poor survival in breast cancer and promotes metastasis in a murine model.* Mol Cancer Ther, 2009. **8**(3): p. 490-8.
- 127. Qian, B.Z., et al., *CCL2 recruits inflammatory monocytes to facilitate breast-tumour metastasis*. Nature, 2011. **475**(7355): p. 222-5.
- 128. Luker, K.E. and G.D. Luker, *Functions of CXCL12 and CXCR4 in breast cancer*. Cancer Lett, 2006. **238**(1): p. 30-41.
- 129. Kodama, J., et al., *Association of CXCR4 and CCR7 chemokine receptor expression and lymph node metastasis in human cervical cancer*. Ann Oncol, 2007. **18**(1): p. 70-6.
- Kochetkova, M., S. Kumar, and S.R. McColl, *Chemokine receptors CXCR4 and CCR7 promote metastasis by preventing anoikis in cancer cells*. Cell Death Differ, 2009. 16(5): p. 664-73.
- 131. Lee, H.W., et al., *Recruitment of monocytes/macrophages in different tumor microenvironments*. Biochim Biophys Acta, 2013. **1835**(2): p. 170-9.
- 132. de Oliveira, C.E., et al., *CC chemokine receptor 5: the interface of host immunity and cancer.* Dis Markers, 2014. **2014**: p. 126954.
- 133. Mantovani, A., et al., *The chemokine system in cancer biology and therapy*. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev, 2010. **21**(1): p. 27-39.
- 134. Sharma, B. and R.K. Singh, *Emerging candidates in breast cancer stem cell maintenance, therapy resistance and relapse.* J Carcinog, 2011. **10**: p. 36.
- 135. Russo, R.C., et al., *The CXCL8/IL-8 chemokine family and its receptors in inflammatory diseases*. Expert Rev Clin Immunol, 2014. **10**(5): p. 593-619.
- 136. Charafe-Jauffret, E., et al., *Breast cancer cell lines contain functional cancer stem cells with metastatic capacity and a distinct molecular signature.* Cancer Res, 2009. **69**(4): p. 1302-13.
- 137. Ginestier, C., et al., *CXCR1 blockade selectively targets human breast cancer stem cells in vitro and in xenografts.* J Clin Invest, 2010. **120**(2): p. 485-97.
- 138. Acharyya, S., et al., *A CXCL1 paracrine network links cancer chemoresistance and metastasis.* Cell, 2012. **150**(1): p. 165-78.
- 139. Singh, S., et al., *Small-molecule antagonists for CXCR2 and CXCR1 inhibit human melanoma growth by decreasing tumor cell proliferation, survival, and angiogenesis.* Clin Cancer Res, 2009. **15**(7): p. 2380-6.
- 140. Korkaya, H., et al., *Activation of an IL6 inflammatory loop mediates trastuzumab resistance in HER2+ breast cancer by expanding the cancer stem cell population.* Mol Cell, 2012. **47**(4): p. 570-84.
- 141. Marotta, L.L., et al., *The JAK2/STAT3 signaling pathway is required for growth of CD44+CD24- stem cell-like breast cancer cells in human tumors.* J Clin Invest, 2011. 121(7).

- 142. Liu, S., et al., *Breast cancer stem cells are regulated by mesenchymal stem cells through cytokine networks*. Cancer Res, 2011. **71**(2): p. 614-24.
- 143. Chapman, R.W., et al., *CXCR2 antagonists for the treatment of pulmonary disease*. Pharmacol Ther, 2009. **121**(1): p. 55-68.
- 144. Dubrovska, A., et al., *CXCR4 activation maintains a stem cell population in tamoxifenresistant breast cancer cells through AhR signalling.* Br J Cancer, 2012. **107**(1): p. 43-52.
- 145. Sheridan, C., et al., *CD44+/CD24- breast cancer cells exhibit enhanced invasive properties: an early step necessary for metastasis.* Breast Cancer Res, 2006. **8**(5): p. R59.
- 146. Dittmar, T., et al., *Adhesion molecules and chemokines: the navigation system for circulating tumor (stem) cells to metastasize in an organ-specific manner.* Clin Exp Metastasis, 2008. **25**(1): p. 11-32.
- 147. Cronin, P.A., J.H. Wang, and H.P. Redmond, *Hypoxia increases the metastatic ability of breast cancer cells via upregulation of CXCR4*. BMC Cancer, 2010. **10**: p. 225.
- 148. Smith, M.C., et al., *CXCR4 regulates growth of both primary and metastatic breast cancer*. Cancer Res, 2004. **64**(23): p. 8604-12.
- 149. Ablett, M.P., et al., *A differential role for CXCR4 in the regulation of normal versus malignant breast stem cell activity*. Oncotarget, 2014. **5**(3): p. 599-612.
- Asiedu, M.K., et al., TGFbeta/TNF(alpha)-mediated epithelial-mesenchymal transition generates breast cancer stem cells with a claudin-low phenotype. Cancer Res, 2011.
   71(13): p. 4707-19.
- 151. Luker, K.E., et al., *Scavenging of CXCL12 by CXCR7 promotes tumor growth and metastasis of CXCR4-positive breast cancer cells.* Oncogene, 2012. **31**(45): p. 4750-8.
- 152. Yoshimura, T., et al., Monocyte chemoattractant protein-1/CCL2 produced by stromal cells promotes lung metastasis of 4T1 murine breast cancer cells. PLoS One, 2013. 8(3): p. e58791.
- 153. Velasco-Velazquez, M., et al., *CCR5 antagonist blocks metastasis of basal breast cancer cells*. Cancer Res, 2012. **72**(15): p. 3839-50.
- 154. Carr, M.W., et al., *Monocyte chemoattractant protein 1 acts as a T-lymphocyte chemoattractant.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1994. **91**(9): p. 3652-6.
- 155. Gobert, M., et al., *Regulatory T cells recruited through CCL22/CCR4 are selectively activated in lymphoid infiltrates surrounding primary breast tumors and lead to an adverse clinical outcome.* Cancer Res, 2009. **69**(5): p. 2000-9.
- 156. Forster, R., A.C. Davalos-Misslitz, and A. Rot, *CCR7 and its ligands: balancing immunity and tolerance*. Nat Rev Immunol, 2008. **8**(5): p. 362-71.
- 157. Riol-Blanco, L., et al., The chemokine receptor CCR7 activates in dendritic cells two signaling modules that independently regulate chemotaxis and migratory speed. J Immunol, 2005. 174(7): p. 4070-80.
- 158. Menning, A., et al., *Distinctive role of CCR7 in migration and functional activity of naive- and effector/memory-like Treg subsets.* Eur J Immunol, 2007. **37**(6): p. 1575-83.
- 159. Tanaka, T., et al., *Chemokines in tumor progression and metastasis*. Cancer Sci, 2005. **96**(6): p. 317-22.
- 160. Mantovani, A., et al., *Cancer-related inflammation*. Nature, 2008. **454**(7203): p. 436-44.
- 161. Muller, A., et al., *Involvement of chemokine receptors in breast cancer metastasis*. Nature, 2001. **410**(6824): p. 50-6.
- 162. Cunningham, H.D., et al., *Expression of the C-C chemokine receptor 7 mediates metastasis of breast cancer to the lymph nodes in mice*. Transl Oncol, 2010. 3(6): p. 354-61.
- 163. Cassier, P.A., et al., *Prognostic value of the expression of C-Chemokine Receptor 6 and 7 and their ligands in non-metastatic breast cancer*. BMC Cancer, 2011. **11**: p. 213.
- 164. Kleeff, J., et al., *Detection and localization of Mip-3alpha/LARC/Exodus, a macrophage proinflammatory chemokine, and its CCR6 receptor in human pancreatic cancer.* Int J Cancer, 1999. **81**(4): p. 650-7.

- 165. Cook, D.N., et al., *CCR6 mediates dendritic cell localization, lymphocyte homeostasis, and immune responses in mucosal tissue.* Immunity, 2000. **12**(5): p. 495-503.
- 166. Yamazaki, T., et al., *CCR6 regulates the migration of inflammatory and regulatory T cells.* J Immunol, 2008. **181**(12): p. 8391-401.
- 167. Roberti, M.P., et al., *Protein expression changes during human triple negative breast cancer cell line progression to lymph node metastasis in a xenografted model in nude mice.* Cancer Biol Ther, 2012. **13**(11): p. 1123-40.
- 168. Marsigliante, S., C. Vetrugno, and A. Muscella, *CCL20 induces migration and proliferation on breast epithelial cells.* J Cell Physiol, 2013. **228**(9): p. 1873-83.
- 169. Guy, C.T., R.D. Cardiff, and W.J. Muller, *Induction of mammary tumors by expression of polyomavirus middle T oncogene: a transgenic mouse model for metastatic disease.* Mol Cell Biol, 1992. **12**(3): p. 954-61.
- 170. Lin, E.Y., et al., *Progression to malignancy in the polyoma middle T oncoprotein mouse breast cancer model provides a reliable model for human diseases*. Am J Pathol, 2003. 163(5): p. 2113-26.
- 171. Boyle, S.T., et al., *The chemokine receptor CCR7 promotes mammary tumorigenesis through amplification of stem-like cells.* Oncogene, 2015.
- 172. Boyle, S.T., et al., *The chemokine receptor CCR6 facilitates the onset of mammary neoplasia in the MMTV-PyMT mouse model via recruitment of tumor-promoting macrophages.* Mol Cancer, 2015. **14**(1): p. 115.
- 173. Visvader, J.E. and G.J. Lindeman, *Cancer stem cells: current status and evolving complexities.* Cell Stem Cell, 2012. **10**(6): p. 717-28.
- 174. Lavergne, E., et al., *Intratumoral CC chemokine ligand 5 overexpression delays tumor* growth and increases tumor cell infiltration. J Immunol, 2004. **173**(6): p. 3755-62.
- 175. Weninger, W., et al., *Naive T cell recruitment to nonlymphoid tissues: a role for endothelium-expressed CC chemokine ligand 21 in autoimmune disease and lymphoid neogenesis.* J Immunol, 2003. **170**(9): p. 4638-48.
- 176. Medema, J.P., *Cancer stem cells: the challenges ahead.* Nat Cell Biol, 2013. **15**(4): p. 338-44.
- 177. Bouras, T., et al., *Notch signaling regulates mammary stem cell function and luminal cell-fate commitment.* Cell Stem Cell, 2008. **3**(4): p. 429-41.
- 178. Liu, S., et al., *Hedgehog signaling and Bmi-1 regulate self-renewal of normal and malignant human mammary stem cells.* Cancer Res, 2006. **66**(12): p. 6063-71.
- 179. van Amerongen, R., A.N. Bowman, and R. Nusse, *Developmental stage and time dictate the fate of Wnt/beta-catenin-responsive stem cells in the mammary gland*. Cell Stem Cell, 2012. **11**(3): p. 387-400.
- 180. Iwanaga, R., et al., Expression of Six1 in luminal breast cancers predicts poor prognosis and promotes increases in tumor initiating cells by activation of extracellular signalregulated kinase and transforming growth factor-beta signaling pathways. Breast Cancer Res, 2012. 14(4): p. R100.
- 181. Chin, A.R. and S.E. Wang, *Cytokines driving breast cancer stemness*. Mol Cell Endocrinol, 2014. **382**(1): p. 598-602.
- 182. Li, J., et al., *The CCL21/CCR7 pathway plays a key role in human colon cancer metastasis through regulation of matrix metalloproteinase-9.* Dig Liver Dis, 2011. **43**(1): p. 40-7.
- 183. Maglione, J.E., et al., *Transgenic Polyoma middle-T mice model premalignant mammary disease*. Cancer Res, 2001. **61**(22): p. 8298-305.
- 184. Schwab, L.P., et al., *Hypoxia-inducible factor 1alpha promotes primary tumor growth and tumor-initiating cell activity in breast cancer*. Breast Cancer Res, 2012. **14**(1): p. R6.
- 185. Ma, J., et al., *Characterization of mammary cancer stem cells in the MMTV-PyMT mouse model.* Tumour Biol, 2012. **33**(6): p. 1983-96.

- 186. Pastrana, E., V. Silva-Vargas, and F. Doetsch, *Eyes wide open: a critical review of sphere-formation as an assay for stem cells.* Cell Stem Cell, 2011. **8**(5): p. 486-98.
- 187. Biswas, S., et al., *CXCL13-CXCR5 co-expression regulates epithelial to mesenchymal transition of breast cancer cells during lymph node metastasis.* Breast Cancer Res Treat, 2014. **143**(2): p. 265-76.
- 188. Pilkington, K.R., I. Clark-Lewis, and S.R. McColl, *Inhibition of generation of cytotoxic T lymphocyte activity by a CCL19/macrophage inflammatory protein (MIP)-3beta antagonist.* J Biol Chem, 2004. **279**(39): p. 40276-82.
- 189. Hong, C.C., et al., *Pretreatment levels of circulating Th1 and Th2 cytokines, and their ratios, are associated with ER-negative and triple negative breast cancers.* Breast Cancer Res Treat, 2013. **139**(2): p. 477-88.
- 190. Pollard, J.W., *Tumour-educated macrophages promote tumour progression and metastasis*. Nat Rev Cancer, 2004. **4**(1): p. 71-8.
- 191. Iwasaki, A. and B.L. Kelsall, *Localization of distinct Peyer's patch dendritic cell subsets and their recruitment by chemokines macrophage inflammatory protein (MIP)-3alpha, MIP-3beta, and secondary lymphoid organ chemokine.* J Exp Med, 2000. **191**(8): p. 1381-94.
- 192. Greaves, D.R., et al., CCR6, a CC chemokine receptor that interacts with macrophage inflammatory protein 3alpha and is highly expressed in human dendritic cells. J Exp Med, 1997. **186**(6): p. 837-44.
- 193. Mony, J.T., R. Khorooshi, and T. Owens, *Chemokine receptor expression by inflammatory T cells in EAE.* Front Cell Neurosci, 2014. **8**: p. 187.
- 194. Schutyser, E., S. Struyf, and J. Van Damme, *The CC chemokine CCL20 and its receptor CCR6*. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev, 2003. **14**(5): p. 409-26.
- 195. Xuan, W., et al., *The chemotaxis of M1 and M2 macrophages is regulated by different chemokines*. J Leukoc Biol, 2014.
- 196. Du, D., et al., *The effects of the CCR6/CCL20 biological axis on the invasion and metastasis of hepatocellular carcinoma.* Int J Mol Sci, 2014. **15**(4): p. 6441-52.
- 197. Liu, F., et al., *CC chemokine receptor 6 expression predicts poor prognosis in hepatocellular carcinoma.* J Surg Oncol, 2014. **110**(2): p. 151-5.
- 198. Cheng, X.S., et al., *CCL20 and CXCL8 synergize to promote progression and poor survival outcome in patients with colorectal cancer by collaborative induction of the epithelial-mesenchymal transition.* Cancer Lett, 2014. **348**(1-2): p. 77-87.
- 199. Liu, J., et al., *CCR6 is a prognostic marker for overall survival in patients with colorectal cancer, and its overexpression enhances metastasis in vivo.* PLoS One, 2014. **9**(6): p. e101137.
- 200. Nandi, B., et al., *CCR6, the sole receptor for the chemokine CCL20, promotes spontaneous intestinal tumorigenesis.* PLoS One, 2014. **9**(5): p. e97566.
- 201. Wang, L., et al., Overexpression of CCL20 and its receptor CCR6 predicts poor clinical prognosis in human gliomas. Med Oncol, 2012. **29**(5): p. 3491-7.
- 202. Kirshberg, S., et al., *Involvement of CCR6/CCL20/IL-17 axis in NSCLC disease* progression. PLoS One, 2011. **6**(9): p. e24856.
- 203. Ito, M., et al., *MicroRNA-150 inhibits tumor invasion and metastasis by targeting the chemokine receptor CCR6, in advanced cutaneous T-cell lymphoma.* Blood, 2014. 123(10): p. 1499-511.
- Zeng, W., et al., CCL20/CCR6 promotes the invasion and migration of thyroid cancer cells via NF-kappa B signaling-induced MMP-3 production. Exp Mol Pathol, 2014.
   97(1): p. 184-90.
- 205. Visvader, J.E. and G.H. Smith, *Murine Mammary Epithelial Stem Cells: Discovery, Function, and Current Status.* Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol, 2010.
- 206. Zhang, M., et al., *Identification of tumor-initiating cells in a p53-null mouse model of breast cancer*. Cancer Res, 2008. **68**(12): p. 4674-82.

- 207. Gabrilovich, D.I., S. Ostrand-Rosenberg, and V. Bronte, *Coordinated regulation of myeloid cells by tumours*. Nat Rev Immunol, 2012. **12**(4): p. 253-68.
- 208. Laoui, D., et al., *Tumor hypoxia does not drive differentiation of tumor-associated macrophages but rather fine-tunes the M2-like macrophage population*. Cancer Res, 2014. **74**(1): p. 24-30.
- 209. Xiao, X., et al., *M2 macrophages promote beta-cell proliferation by up-regulation of SMAD7*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2014. **111**(13): p. E1211-20.
- 210. Ford, A.Q., et al., *Adoptive transfer of IL-4Ralpha+ macrophages is sufficient to enhance eosinophilic inflammation in a mouse model of allergic lung inflammation.* BMC Immunol, 2012. **13**: p. 6.
- 211. Strachan, D.C., et al., *CSF1R inhibition delays cervical and mammary tumor growth in murine models by attenuating the turnover of tumor-associated macrophages and enhancing infiltration by CD8 T cells.* Oncoimmunology, 2013. **2**(12): p. e26968.
- 212. Varona, R., et al., CCR6-deficient mice have impaired leukocyte homeostasis and altered contact hypersensitivity and delayed-type hypersensitivity responses. J Clin Invest, 2001. 107(6): p. R37-45.
- 213. Xu, L., et al., *Enrichment of CCR6+Foxp3+ regulatory T cells in the tumor mass correlates with impaired CD8+ T cell function and poor prognosis of breast cancer.* Clin Immunol, 2010. **135**(3): p. 466-75.
- 214. O'Brien, J., et al., *Macrophages are crucial for epithelial cell death and adipocyte repopulation during mammary gland involution*. Development, 2012. **139**(2): p. 269-75.
- 215. Forster, R., et al., *CCR7 coordinates the primary immune response by establishing functional microenvironments in secondary lymphoid organs.* Cell, 1999. **99**(1): p. 23-33.
- 216. Sharma, S., et al., Secondary lymphoid tissue chemokine mediates T cell-dependent antitumor responses in vivo. J Immunol, 2000. **164**(9): p. 4558-63.
- 217. Zou, Y.R., et al., Function of the chemokine receptor CXCR4 in haematopoiesis and in cerebellar development. Nature, 1998. **393**(6685): p. 595-9.
- 218. Luo, M. and J.L. Guan, *Focal adhesion kinase: a prominent determinant in breast cancer initiation, progression and metastasis.* Cancer Lett, 2010. **289**(2): p. 127-39.
- 219. Desgrosellier, J.S., et al., *Integrin alphavbeta3 drives slug activation and stemness in the pregnant and neoplastic mammary gland*. Dev Cell, 2014. **30**(3): p. 295-308.
- 220. Ojalvo, L.S., et al., *High-density gene expression analysis of tumor-associated macrophages from mouse mammary tumors.* Am J Pathol, 2009. **174**(3): p. 1048-64.
- 221. Chen, J., et al., *CCL18 from tumor-associated macrophages promotes breast cancer metastasis via PITPNM3*. Cancer Cell, 2011. **19**(4): p. 541-55.
- 222. Liu, J., et al., *Tumor-associated macrophages recruit CCR6+ regulatory T cells and promote the development of colorectal cancer via enhancing CCL20 production in mice.* PLoS One, 2011. **6**(4): p. e19495.
- 223. Karthaus, N., R. Torensma, and J. Tel, *Deciphering the message broadcast by tumor-infiltrating dendritic cells*. Am J Pathol, 2012. **181**(3): p. 733-42.
- 224. Chan, C.W. and F. Housseau, *The 'kiss of death' by dendritic cells to cancer cells*. Cell Death Differ, 2008. **15**(1): p. 58-69.
- 225. Gabrilovich, D.I., et al., *Decreased antigen presentation by dendritic cells in patients with breast cancer*. Clin Cancer Res, 1997. **3**(3): p. 483-90.
- 226. Lu, L., et al., *Cancer stem cell vaccine inhibits metastases of primary tumors and induces humoral immune responses against cancer stem cells.* Oncoimmunology, 2015. **4**(3): p. e990767.
- 227. Kitamura, T., et al., *CCL2-induced chemokine cascade promotes breast cancer metastasis by enhancing retention of metastasis-associated macrophages.* J Exp Med, 2015.